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With vision and the right strategy, we
pick the right spot, build a world-class
commercial facility, and deliver a new
growth source every year.
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Next to launch: Forum 66, Shenyang
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S &AL Charles Lui 542432 — 18 E %R (F75) Senior Manager - Project Development (Hong Kong)

Pf2E Vincent Sinn #£32 — 18 H %8 (F/8) Manager - Project Development (Hong Kong)
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BEEAEFBE  THHAFNBEESE EH#E
BENYXEERSEHH  FEER -

We value our relationships with customers
and are totally dedicated to understanding
their needs. By providing superlative
property management service and
business opportunities, we are creating a
win-win situation for everyone.




(7) (Left)
FHE Rosanna Wong =AM ES — M RWEEIR(FH) Senior Leasing Officer — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
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We are Hang Lung

RIGHT on

Hang Lung Group Limited

(stock code: 10) is one of the most established listed
companies in Hong Kong with 50 years of experience in the
property development market. Through its subsidiary - -
Hang Lung Properties Limited (stock code: 101) - - the Group
has built a leading reputation as a top tier property developer
in Hong Kong and on the Mainland, with a recognized
commitment to quality.

The Group's businesses in Hong Kong include property
development for sale and lease. Our substantial portfolio
includes well-planned large-scale commercial, office and
residential developments in prominent locations.

The Group made its first investment on the Mainland in

the early 1990s as the first step in our future business
expansion. The Group's strategy on the Mainland is

to develop prime sites in major cities. Our portfolio of
investment properties currently comprises two large-scale
developments in Shanghai, the commercial, office and
residential complex Grand Gateway 66; and the commercial
and office complex Plaza 66; together with the newly
opened shopping complexes, Palace 66 in Shenyang and
Parc 66 in Jinan. We are building on our successes to
develop similar properties in major cities including Shenyang,
Wuxi, Tianjin and Dalian.

We will continue not only to expand our presence on the
Mainland, but also to invest in our portfolio in Hong Kong, as
we aim to become the highest quality property developer in
both markets.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results
A EETTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
(&51)
(Restated)
] Turnover
YHEHE Property leasing
s Hong Kong 2,973 2,746
B A, Mainland China 2,738 2,323
M HE Property sales 3 7,511
EEAMT Total turnover 5,714 12,580
5% 5P 4y A K Net profit attributable to shareholders 3,529 13,139
V8= Dividends 1,025 1,017
BRER Per share data
B Earnings $2.62 $9.83
B Dividends
H & Interim $0.19 $0.19
REP Final $0.57 $0.57
#Et Total $0.76 $0.76
IR R Shareholders’ equity $43.7 $39.6
BEFE Net assets $89.2 $76.4
IRERAERE Shareholders’ equity 58,972 52,973
KSR Pay-out ratio 29% 8%
=T Gearing ratio "o 0% 0%
Underlying Results
LB B8 in HK$ million 2011 2010
IR R E (L B A gl "2 Underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders "°t¢2 1,733 3,695
SREF ﬂﬁzia Earnings per share Note3 $1.29 $2.76
R B b R Pay-out ratio o3 59% 28%
PR - Notes:

1. BEXRAFEEEREINFEELLE - jF& 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
BEIRTTER LB E AL AL - RIS IR bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
TR o IRAE R B IEAR R s 2 FE1E AR b 25 © Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

2. AMBHANERLELENER SWEAE 2. Tofacilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the
FEREMGRERAT B ERIE 4058 (RE underlying net profit attributable to shareholders is presented by excluding the
MEY 2 E  ZEBBEEREMENERES effect of adopting Hong Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property
WEYHENTE 2SR AR EER B & which requires changes in fair value of investment properties and investment
FEERIE RN R AL properties under development, net of related deferred tax and non-controlling

interests be accounted for in the income statement.

3. BEFTENRBRREGERGERE - 3. The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to
shareholders.

6 EEEBEERAR —T—T / ——F4R
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Sustainable Income and Profit Growth in Core Business

HEEX5 HERF BERARE
Rental Turnover Rental Profit Total Dividends per Share
HEANA=ZTALEE HEANA=ZTALEE HEANA=ZTALEE
For the years ended June 30 For the years ended June 30 For the years ended June 30
BEAET BERET bl
HK$ million HK$ million HK cents
BAREHER $5,711 EAFERER
6000 | H4H >+ million 50% 5,000 g% Ziﬁ i‘hﬁZﬁ 80 76 cents
Compound Compound
annual growth annual growth 70
5,000 o 0
of 14% 45% 4,000 | of 15%
60
4,000
40% 3,000 50
3,000 40
35% 2,000 30
2,000
. 20
1000 30% 1,000
10
0 25% 0 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M
® EEE Hong Kong leasing
© FEAHFHEE Mainland China leasing
o FREANMESHEEEEETEROL
% of Mainland China leasing of total leasing
turnover

= At

EHiEE ZiEEH

Strong Financial Capability to Capture Business Opportunities

BeRkEE aERME . Fﬂﬂ%ﬁﬂ%ﬂ%%ﬁh‘”ﬁz
Cash and Borrowings Gearing Ratio "' Interest Cover N2
WAB=1+H WANA=+A HEANA=ZTALEE
At June 30 At June 30 For the years ended June 30
BEEET Bkt &
HK$ million % times
$28,274 63
30,000 million 5 C times
25,000 $20,901 4 ®0
million -
20,000
€ 40
15,000
2 30
10,000
20
1
5,000 1
0%
0 o 0
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M
© 355 &R1777 5K Cash and bank deposits
® £ Borrowings

PR - Notes:

1. BEXAFEEEREMNEEEY LR o JFEE 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
BIRTERMBERLARE - IBRRS MRTTE bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
Ko PRAERI B IERR B A M SR AR bR 25 o Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests.

2. BAEFEEEIERTABREYE 2 AN FEESE) 2. Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of

Ko M B U A R 2 SR MIBR AR B E A E BT EFEF
B -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

investment properties and interest income divided by net interest expenses
before interest capitalization.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

BR R
EER
Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
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Results & Dividend

For the year ended June 30, 2011, turnover decreased by 54.6% to HK$5,714
million. Net profit attributable to shareholders fell by 73.1% to HK$3,529 million.
Earnings per share similarly decreased to HK$2.62, representing a drop of
73.3% from the previous year.

While our major subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties (HLP) did not sell any
apartments under the current market environment, property leasing recorded
a 12.7% increase in rental income to HK$5,711 million and a 11.7% growth in
operating profit to HK$4,574 million.

When excluding revaluation gain and its related deferred taxes and non-
controlling interests, underlying net profit went down by 53.1% to HK$1,733
million. Underlying earnings per share decreased similarly to HK$1.29.

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK57 cents per share. If approved by
shareholders, both the final and total dividends per share for the full year will be
the same as the year before.

Business Review

Because HLP did not sell any Hong Kong apartments in the past fiscal year,
property sales went from HK$75 billion a year ago to almost zero. This is the
first of two reasons for the fall in net profit. The other is that revaluation gain
decreased tremendously. That is a reflection of the overall property market and
is a non-cash item. Our finances remain healthy.

Hong Kong rents rose by 8% which was quite respectable. This was
considerably better than the year before when they only grew by 5%. Both
commercial and offices increased at 7% but residential and industrial buildings
went up 14%.

Although the Shanghai market is maturing, we still took in 11% more rent.
Continuing the trend of the past years, retail space did much better. It advanced

EEEBEERAR —T—T / ——F4R
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by 19% while office rent only grew marginally. The luxury shopping center of

Plaza 66 again outperformed at 28% as opposed to 13% for the mall at Grand
Gateway 66. In the latter property, the three residential blocks garnered 10%

more income.

The one-year-old Shenyang Palace 66 met budget in terms of turnover.
Significant contribution to profit will take some time which is expected of any
new building.

Rental income came 52% from Hong Kong and 48% from the Mainland. A year
ago the numbers were respectively 54% and 46%. With the addition of Jinan
Parc 66 next month, it is quite safe to assume that in this fiscal year, Mainland
rent will surpass that from our home market.

As a result of the placement of HLP shares last November, our shareholding
therein has dropped to slightly below 49%. In the past few months we

have taken advantage of market weakness and have purchased HLP shares.
Conditions permitting, we will continue to acquire. After all, price movements
of the past nine months showed that we had placed shares at the peak - - at
HK$37.48 per share.

A year ago | wrote to shareholders mainly about two issues: fundamental
problems in the Hong Kong residential market and why | was hopeful to buy
more land on the Mainland. | was correct on the former but erred on the latter.
Here is how | see the present situation and how it may impact our business.

Due to Hong Kong government'’s blunders in land policies over the past several
years, we are facing a conundrum today. The implications extend beyond pure
economics and have contributed to social disharmony. If not handled correctly
and skillfully, the ramifications will accelerate. As the supply of housing was not
adequately addressed, our leaders are now forced into meddling with demand.
The same problem exists on the Mainland except that the scale is much bigger
and much more complicated.

The Hong Kong problem can be fixed relatively easily. Announce the massive
release of land of the right kind, i.e. for mass residential housing, and follow
through. Prices will fall. The government must first and foremost care for the
society as a whole and not cater to the interests of industry players.

Consider the general ineffectiveness of controlling demand in the past twelve
months. The announcement of the levy of Special Stamp Duty (SSD) last
November did not stop price hikes. It could even be argued that the problem
was exacerbated because many owners resolved to renting their flats, thus
taking supply out of the market. This in turn pushed up rents.

After the Financial Secretary’s Budget Speech of February which promised
more land, people did not believe it and prices kept rising. That forced the
hand of government to take tougher measures. Banks were engaged to limit
mortgages, but only government'’s announcement to consider revitalizing the
Home Ownership Scheme (HOS) finally tamed market sentiments.

It is obvious that all these blunt actions do not engender a healthy development
of the housing market, nor do they address the root problem which is a serious
undersupply of land. | have been asked repeatedly about my views on the
resumption of the HOS. My answer is that | am neither for it nor against it.

| am not for it because our society should not need to be pushed to a position
where we have to face the question. Given the Asian Financial Crisis of 1997
to 2002 followed by SARS in 2003, housing prices fell precipitously. In those
years, our government rightly stopped selling land. Ironically that was a tragic
way to correct the artificially high prices of 1997 right before Hong Kong's return
to her Motherland. But being shell-shocked to such an extent that for some six
years to 2010 very little land was sold by the government, was inexcusable. At
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the latest by around 2005, much more land should have been released to meet
market demand. If that had been done, we would not face the HOS issue today.

Records show that in the past several years, the Real Estate Developers
Association repeatedly urged the government to sell land. Unfortunately our
leaders refused. Now in face of a severe shortage of supply and with society
once again clamoring for the return of the HOS, one could hardly object.

Even today, | hold out hope that if the government were to announce that say
within the next two years, massive amounts of mass residential land were to be
released, market expectation would soon bring home prices down. The policy
change as well as the anticipated response would both be rational. However,
the populace is more often than not emotional. And given the timidity of the
government, the cry for the return of the HOS is perhaps understandable.

Whatever the case, it is useful to examine history and in the process set the
record straight. High as housing prices may seem today, it is not as bad as in
1997 According to the Centa-City Leading Index (of home prices), a historic
peak took place on June 29 of that year, two days ahead of Hong Kong's return
to China. As of July 1 this year, only prices on Hong Kong Island have exceeded
such historical peak that while those in Kowloon were still 4% below, with New
Territories East 6% below and New Territories \West 22% below.

These numbers are in line with an intuitive understanding of the market.

Luxury homes such as many on Hong Kong Island have for many years seen
prices shoot up. They have long surpassed the pre-1997 level. But for mass
residential, it was only in the past year or two that prices approached those of
fourteen years ago. In some cases such as in the New Territories West, there is
still much catch up to be had.

It is also interesting to compare overall home prices, the consumer price index
(CPI) and average wages since July 1997 CPI has just caught up to the earlier
level. In other words, in the past fourteen years Hong Kong's economy basically
went nowhere. Overall housing value is still some 6% below that of its peak in
mid 1997 As to average wages, there has been a gain of approximately 10%.
Since luxury units rose the most, superficially home ownership today for most
Hong Kong citizens is more affordable than fourteen years ago. The problem is
that the rise in salary over the same period is by no means uniform - - increases
in pay of high value-added jobs such as in the financial services has been
phenomenal while the lower strata are left in a worse position than before. This is
at the root of much of our city's ills.

Given market conditions, HLP did not have a realistic chance in the past twelve
months to part with apartments en masse. Secondary market prices of The
HarbourSide and of The Long Beach were only slightly above the last time we
sold a few years ago. (One should not be misled by marketing gimmicks and
pronouncements of exorbitant transaction prices in the primary market by some
developers.) We just have to wait a little longer which is fine.

As to purchasing land on the Mainland, the situation is somewhat troubling.

| began the fiscal year holding out hope to buy but subsequent market evolution
has forced me to reconsider as evidenced in my letter to shareholders at
mid-year. | wrote, "Our efforts are further challenged by ever changing rules
and an evolving competitive landscape. Consequently, while insisting on
discipline in some areas, management must in other areas adjust periodically to
market realities.”

In the past six months, much has happened in the market which will change the
face of the industry. Premier WEN Jiabao announced in February the building

EEEBEERAR —T—T / ——F4R
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of 36 million apartments by the government in the coming five years. This year
alone, ten million of them must commence construction, 40% of which can be
for rent. This compares to a total of units sold last year by private developers of
9.3 million. Since the number of developers will unlikely decrease, the average
share of business per player has diminished. Such is the severity of policy
changes that can be had in Mainland China.

The consequences can be manifold. Some weaker developers may go
bankrupt. The outgoing companies and their property portfolio may be absorbed
by stronger players. Others will effectively turn themselves into contractors.
Instead of doing just construction, they will become like real estate consultants
and contractors rolled into one. After all they are former developers and are
supposed to have such expertise. On the other hand, there are always land
owners and businessmen who have made money in other industries, who
want to enter the property field but without experience. Such development
consultants cum contractors will provide the needed capabilities. Strictly
speaking, such hybrid firms have already lost as far as the development game is
concerned. The profit they will make will be commensurate with the risks they
will take - - both will be minimized.

Others will struggle along in a much diminished playground. Those who
specialize in luxury housing in major cities will be affected less. Their products
are more different from the subsidized kind built by the government. Those who
formerly boasted of tens of millions of square meters of land bank may be hurt
more. One cannot help but wonder what would happen if one or more of those
bigger companies are allowed to enter bankruptcy.

Some stronger players will invade the commercial real estate sector which

is already happening. Since it is by nature very different from home building,

a number of these will eventually fail. The more fortunate ones may end

up holding many substandard and low yielding assets. Those who manage

to sell their products and churn their capital will survive, but an unintended
consequence is to fill China’s cities with “visual pollution” i.e. ridiculously - -
pardon the honesty - - designed and built complexes. Those who are not nimble
enough to sell at the right time may get caught in a market down cycle and find
themselves in a financial bind. As such, those who escaped Waterloo in the
residential market may find their downfall in the commercial sector.

None of us should be surprised by such developments. No real estate industry
anywhere in the world does not go through the same cycle. It is in fact odd that
in a developing economy like China where the industry is teeming, we have not
seen major bankruptcies yet. We would have had many in late 2008 and early
2009 but the government saved them all. But moving forward, such blowups
seem inevitable. In fact they will help mature the industry and so are normal
and healthy. For China, that day will come.

But for us long time participants in commercial real estate, we are faced with a
difficult decision. The proliferation of new players - - including those from Hong
Kong who have in recent years turned active - - will inevitably drive up land value.
The question is whether we should chase prices.

The first thing to bear in mind is that rising land prices are a secular trend in
China. Developers like us who have been successful in buying cheap land in
the past should not allow today’s much larger numbers trouble us. Let the
past be the past. One should only look forward in deciding what to do today
and for tomorrow. If not, we may miss the opportunities. That was a message
embedded in my words at mid-year. We were then considering how to tackle
the new environment.

Six months have passed and our thinking has evolved further. Two observations
convince us that it may be unwise to chase prices now. First, it is still quite
possible to find well located plots of land in dynamic cities which are yet to

be noticed. The country and its retail markets are simply too gigantic and
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the number of commercial developers of size, while increasing, is still very
limited. Fewer yet are those who can play in our league, financially speaking
and otherwise.

On the other hand, a number of wealthy cities are recognizing that merely
bringing in money - - or bearing the promise to bring in money - - is not sufficient.
Some are later found to be not financially solid. Equally unpleasant is their lack
of knowhow. Frankly who among the local developers has a track record of
building aesthetically and functionally world class complexes? As municipal
leaders become more sophisticated - - and they are becoming so by the day - -
such issues become increasingly important to them. This development is very
favorable to us, for we are among the strongest financially and an unquestioned
leader in terms of expertise.

What all this means is that we must cast the net much broader in our effort

to acquire land. To thoughtful city leaders, Hang Lung can be the best story in
town and we need to broadcast it more widely. Supported by some evidence,

| believe that good opportunities should exist; we just need to find them. This is
not a time to try harder i.e. pay more, but smarter, i.e. exploit inefficiencies in the
system and find those lost pearls.

Whereas the above signals that we do not need to chase prices, the following
set of observations seems to indicate that perhaps it is not wise to chase prices
now. First we are increasingly concerned over certain social developments.
When we are not sure what may happen, it is safer to be cautious and maintain
liquidity. Buying now may diminish our ability to buy better tomorrow. The
economic conditions of the country and indeed of the world also do not breed
confidence. With China now so integrated into the global economy, untoward
developments in the U.S. and Europe will inevitably affect China. Consider the
recent event: soon after Bear Stearns failed in March 2008, China's electricity
consumption as well as exports fell precipitously within a short period of time.

So together with changes in the commercial real estate sector described earlier,
we have come to the conclusion that this is not the time to be overly aggressive.

At Hang Lung, two critical departments are project development and
construction, and (property) leasing and management. (These are of course
strongly supported by the likes of finance, human resources, IT, etc.) Their
activities are very different in nature. Construction and property management
are like farming - - one has to persist in it day in and day out. Project
development, particularly land acquisition, on the other hand is like hunting.
One labors for months or even years and there are apparently no tangible
results. Like a farmer, a hunter must also persist, but gratification comes only
sporadically. Moreover, there seem to be seasons even for hunting. When the
time comes, one may get double kills in a short period of time. That was indeed
our experience in December 2006 and again May 2009.

While hard work is always required, a hunter may not get the best result by
constantly running at full speed. That is to always pay the highest price for land.
One day he may run out of strength i.e. financial resources. Rather a hunter
must act wisely at all times. Trying smarter will often bring more gratification
than merely trying harder. At times he must be patient and do nothing except
to wait. Observe, calculate, prepare and conserve and the big kill will sooner
or later arrive. That was exactly what we did in the past two decades to great
profit. | trust that these experiences will again serve us well today.
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Prospects

Given the economic size differential, Hong Kong can only survive if we can
prove our worth to our much bigger neighbor. On the other hand, if we succeed
in doing that, then we will thrive beyond measure. Consider this: seven

million Hong Kong people serving 1.35 billion Mainlanders. VWhat economic
opportunities that represents! Looking at it from the other direction; Hong Kong
can find itself in a position where 1.35 billion people need us, say our services.
For example, much of Hong Kong's financial service industry cannot so far be
duplicated by the Mainland. Since they urgently need us, we thrive. For the
past few years, our annual IPO volume was bigger than that of either New York
or London. A decade ago, most people could not imagine that.

But not all industries in Hong Kong will benefit, and real estate is an odd case.

If Mainlanders were allowed to freely purchase homes in Hong Kong, we would
be overwhelmed. If that ever materializes, then regulations may have to be
introduced to protect our local citizens so they too can buy at reasonable prices.
After all, size matters a lot.

The converse has a very different effect. Even if every Hong Kong family were
to buy a home on the Mainland in the coming years, it will not make much

of a difference. There are only approximately 1.2 million households in Hong
Kong who own their residence. Last year alone, 9.3 million new homes on the
Mainland changed hands.

Likewise, it is not easy for Hong Kong developers to make a mark on the
Mainland. Arguably Hang Lung is so far the only one. It is useful to understand
why Hong Kong players have failed to win big up north. Only so will we have

a chance to remedy that situation. And since our target market for the past
decade has been over there, the issue is of critical significance to us.

Twenty years ago, there were hardly any developer to speak of on the Mainland.
Many Hong Kong companies on the other hand were already large and strong.
Some were even among the biggest in the world. Since there was to us hardly
any barrier to entry - - in fact local governments then welcomed us with open
arms - - we could have taken over a sizable chunk of the market. But none

of us did that. To my knowledge, only one Hong Kong young man straight

out of university who had little possibility of making it big in the mature Hong
Kong market, ventured north and greatly succeeded. Last year his firm ranked
number ten of all Mainland developers in total assets, sales volume and size of
land bank.

What has happened to the established Hong Kong players including ourselves?
Some soul searching should serve us well. We must first know what we

did wrong. | believe that there are at least seven areas; more | am sure can

be identified.

First, even today many Hong Kong developers lack commitment; the Mainland
market is secondary to them. It does not matter to them if they win; if

they do, it is just icing on the cake. In fact because unit price is so low up
north, they may even look down upon that market and their players. That is
foolishness indeed!

Secondly, whereas some Hong Kong businessmen are well connected with
national and provincial leaders, they are probably less familiar with officials below
the vice mayor level. Yet with real estate being the ultimate local business,
relationships with the “underlings” can be critical.

Thirdly, it is true that by operating for long years in a well regulated society, Hong
Kong businessmen are relatively more ethical. (Nevertheless, much remains

to be desired in terms of good governance among our real estate firms.) In
China especially in the 1990's, almost anything went. Hong Kong people were

13
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definitely put in a disadvantaged position for being more honest. Fortunately
the Mainland has been changing in the right direction although much more
needs to be done.

Fourthly, there is no denying that while all are ethnic Chinese, there are
differences in culture. At the very least, most major Hong Kong developers
do not speak Mandarin adequately. Others may even foolishly harbor

an unfounded superiority. Such can hardly understand the political and
corporate cultures of the Mainland.

Next, the political, social and economic systems on the Mainland are all very
different from ours. Only the humble have a chance to learn. But even if
we do, we will be forever outsiders. It is not easy to fully embed ourselves
in another system. This is true everywhere but especially in a big country
like China.

Sixthly, having already amassed wealth in Hong Kong, our major developers
are no longer willing to be entrepreneurial. Yet it is critical in a developing
and so less regulated market like Mainland China. To Hong Kong people, it is
a lot of hard work and a lot of travel. The older generation who founded their
firms decades ago was once upon a time extraordinarily entrepreneurial.
Neither they nor their children want to be like that anymore.

Finally, unlike our Motherland, Hong Kong is a very small place. Although
our unit property price is among the highest in the world, quantity has never
been our thing. But in the rest of China, it is a different story. So far it is all
about quantity there, and Hong Kong people think too small.

So today on the Mainland, the smallest of the top ten property companies

in terms of total assets stands at about HK$90 billion. The biggest is over
2.5 times that. On last year’s turnover, the smallest of the top twenty was
over HK$15 billion. The largest, which is also number one in the world, sold
over HK$130 billion of homes. Towards the end of 2010, the land bank of the
least of the top twenty was 12.5 million sg.m. and the most aggressive had
about 72.4 million sg.m. All these impressive numbers were achieved when
Hong Kong developers were hardly watching.

In face of these seven areas, how does Hang Lung fare and how do we
survive and hopefully thrive? Of all the major Hong Kong players, we were
probably the first - - and so far still the only - - to publicly declare that our
future was on the Mainland. We have not purchased land in Hong Kong for
almost eleven years. This was a deliberate effort on our part, although we
were also encouraged by the disadvantaged position we were in throughout
the 1990's following two decades of lethargy. We knew that it would be
difficult to excel in our home market due to the lack of a cheap land bank.

For that reason, our commitment to the Mainland market was perhaps made
somewhat easier.

On relationships with government officials, we unlike many others never
proactively develop them unless we are required to. VWe never like to

get too close to the powers that be because there may be undesirable
consequences. We only knock on their doors when there is a clear
necessity. Fortunately our relatively large size and successful track record in
commercial real estate helps to open doors when we need to.

On business ethics, | dare say that we are among the best of Hong Kong

property firms. We are culturally sensitive if not savvy when dealing with
the Mainland. We respect their system and try as much as possible to
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understand and work with it without compromising ethical standards.

We believe that it can be done. We are entrepreneurial but stay within the
bounds of our strategy. If you will, we are entrepreneurial and disciplined at
the same time.

Success in varying degrees in the above six points notwithstanding, the
determining factor is | believe the seventh. We refuse to play the game
purely for the sake of quantity. \We are deeply aware that the only way we
can win on the Mainland is to compete on quality. Find a niche where local
players big or small do not have the knowhow or means, hence our strategy
to build world class commercial complexes for long term hold. We have
been doing it for longer than anyone up north has. Experiences gained over
long years are invaluable and long years are required to acquire them. After
all, the only way to learn in this business is through mistakes - - especially
one's own mistakes. Given the long time to complete a project, one to

two decades at a minimum are necessary to learn somewhat adequately,

if one learns at all. That should give us the time to build up a market lead
which would be difficult if not impossible for others to catch up with. We
also constantly strive to improve so as to keep a healthy distance between
ourselves and our competitors.

Next month Jinan Parc 66 will open. All 171,000 sg.m. of shops have

been fully leased since February. Accomplishing this six months ahead of
completion is hardly heard of on the Mainland. Contracted rents are rather
pleasing and so the initial yield of the project will be quite good. It should
outdo by a healthy margin all our existing facilities in Shanghai and Shenyang
when they first opened.

Unlike Shenyang Palace 66, construction at Parc 66 was much more smooth.
The competitive landscape in Jinan is also more favorable - - we are the

first major mall in the city. Our top location, large size and excellent design
should help ensure continued success. There is simply nothing like it in this
provincial capital. Once opened, | expect it to quickly become an attraction
to citizens near and far.

Barring unforeseen circumstances, increase in the Group's rental income
should continue for many years to come as we will on average add
100,000 sg.m. to 200,000 sg.m. to the portfolio annually. Top line growth
should be especially strong around 2014 and 2015, when the first office
towers of Wuxi Center 66 and Shenyang Forum 66 as well as the shopping
centers at Tianjin Riverside 66 and Dalian Olympic 66 are all slated to open.
Indeed the golden era of Hang Lung is ahead of us.

Rental turnover this fiscal year should perform acceptably. It will be due
partly to organic growth everywhere and partly to the addition of Parc 66.
Even in the absence of property sales, an overall increase in both the top and
the bottom lines can be expected.

Last September 13, we celebrated our jubilee. Whereas no one can foresee
what will happen in the next fifty years, | am confident that as long as the
global and the Chinese economies hold up reasonably well, our next decade
or two should be exciting. We are in a market sweet spot that is the envy
of many - - we are as well positioned as anyone to take advantage of the
rise of the world's fastest growing economy which may soon become the
biggest as well. All we have to do is to build out the land we already own
and properly manage the resulting malls and offices. Beyond that, we will
cautiously expand our portfolio by buying more land.

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, July 29, 2011
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In August this year, we celebrated the grand opening
of Parc 66 in Jinan, another world-class shopping mall
joining our signature malls and commercial complexes
in Shanghai and Shenyang.

Located in the heart of Jinan, this superlative seven-
story 171,000 square-meter leisure and entertainment
center has not only become the city’s largest shopping
mall, but has also set new lifestyle standards with its
trend-setting facilities and premium services.

Fully leased upon its opening with many leading
international brand names, some never seen in the city
before, Parc 66 will become a key nexus for the Jinan
community, bringing vibrancy and new levels of luxury
to the city’s increasingly affluent community.
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Choosing the Right Location

Shandong province is developing so rapidly that it
is said to hold the number two position in China’s
GDP rankings in the first half of 2011. Parc 66,
strategically positioned in the province's capital city,
Jinan, is set to benefit from this fast developing
prosperity.

Situated on Quancheng Lu, the city's “Golden
Avenue” which has been Jinan's political, cultural
and commercial hub for the past three hundred
years, Parc 66 benefits from its proximity to historic
and tourist attractions in the vicinity. Also boosting
pedestrian flows to the mall is a footbridge directly
connected to Quancheng Square, Jinan's major
leisure spot in the city center.
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Creating the Right Design

Reflecting the region’s natural beauty with its many
lakes and springs, Parc 66 takes its design from the
surrounding environment - - its undulating roofs, green
spaces and curved facades echo the water theme

and blend agreeably into the nearby parkland. The two
inverted triangularshaped shopping malls are connected
by a gracefully undulating bridge, “The Dragon’ which
provides dynamic spaces and convenient access to the
different mall areas. Enhancing this feeling of flow and
fluidity, over 2,600 different-sized glass units were used to
build “The Dragon’ More than 100 escalators link shops
and restaurants day and night, providing a pleasant and
convenient shopping experience for visitors.

L

L
il

—
| t -
=zE2z=
n T
caangnid o
it 1 .
: = r= Ay £=
- am '
|
A i.'l ’1_ i
' LR
it
i
. . St e o
LS ,.‘- :‘-J'I-?' ;_".\.-‘ .
|4i= = i, l:| o :..
SRS Ly T



.

]

R
1}
L]

v/

Ny

L

HEAEER] RENA S8
e JERAR - SERTREAR
A ERERE AR 8
FEREHER 52 R(RENR)
#55 (The Architectural Review) 8%
[2009 4 MIPIM Architectural
Review RKRIER K& — TEKIH
BRI RGFE U REEEREYE
NI BB S K42 /B R
B 2009 KB EMERE —
BEKXME(RE) RS -

BERRER
RBITRERFHAGE - LHERYD
ENBERR RMMEHIRRY
RARREN - AEBZERRR
i o RAGEEES - BEMNERRE
BR_FTNFEIBGEREER
SR [RERMIRIRRA R R —
2l RO | & BV FERE o

Bearing all the hallmarks of Hang
Lung’s “66" brand with its top-
quality materials, cutting edge
technology and timeless design,
Parc 66 has won a number of
international design awards,
including Le Marché International
des Professionnels de I'lmmobilier
and The Architectural Review's
“MIPIM Architectural Review
Future Project Awards 2009 - -
Retail & Leisure” Commended
Certificate as well as the International Property Awards’ “Asia Pacific
Commercial Property Awards 2009 - - The Architecture Award (Five Star)”

Doing the RightThing

Ensuring our own sustainability as well as the future of our environment,
all our new developments are built with environmentally-friendly materials
and features. Attesting to our commitment in this field, Parc 66 has already
gained its Gold Level - - Precertification under Leadership in Energy and
Environmental Design (LEED) - - Core and Shell Development, issued by
the U.S. Green Building Council in 2009.
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EXTENDING OUR REACH ON THE MAINLAND
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4. [BEREH — KE Olympia 66 -- Dalian

7SEERES — £/8  Grand Gateway 66 - - Shanghai
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= With more projects on the Mainland
- to come on stream in the next few
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\. as wox \ a nationwide company with a broad
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£ % Kwok Wing Put Bl {EEXE — MK RWEEE(EFH) Assistant Maintenance Supervisor — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
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BT Vera Wu &I — B R YEEE( LEERES) Manager — Leasing and Management (Plaza 66, Shanghai)

EHEIE Yuki Wong S EFFREBE — BB RYWEETE(ES) Senior Guest Services Assistant — Leasing and Management (Hong Kong)
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Rental Revenue
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For the years ended June 30
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Hong Kong/Mainland China Rental Income Split
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For the years ended June 30
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The financial year 2010/11 was a positive year for the Hang

Lung Group on a number of fronts - - the Group enjoyed a solid
performance, achieving satisfactory growth throughout our core
businesses. The booming economy both in Hong Kong and on the
Mainland fueled strong growth in our property leasing business in
particular, driving encouraging profit growth. Profit generated by our
Mainland properties thus rose 12% during the year while the Hong
Kong portfolio achieved a profit increase of 11%.

Net profit attributable to shareholders for the year ended June 30,
2011 dropped 73% to HK$3,529 million.

During the year, we also celebrated our 50th birthday. This major
milestone not only commemorated 50 years of business success, but
also highlighted that over the years, the Hang Lung Group has made
the right business choices, delivering on our farsighted vision as well
as our disciplined strategies to establish the solid track record and
illustrious reputation we enjoy today. The anniversary also marked

EEEBEERAR —T—T / ——F4R
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The Area of Investment Properties by
Business Segment
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Investment Properties by
Geographical Location
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1,613,000 sq.m.
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a whole new “golden era” in our activities, as we enter the next 50
years of operations and as we cement the expansion of our “66"
brand with the opening of a number of new Hang Lung “66" malls
across the Mainland.

In November 2010, by a top-up placement of 293.9 million new Hang
Lung Properties Limited shares to institutional investors at a price of
HK$37.48 per share expanded our capital base, with net proceeds of
HK$10,896 million. This has boosted the Group’s net cash position to
HK$7,373 million as at the reporting date.

Property Leasing

The economy since the global financial crisis has continued to
improve in the past few years and boosted our property leasing
business, enabling the delivery of both income and profit growth from
this core business segment. Total rental income and profits grew
13% and 12% respectively.

25
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Hong Kong

In view of the strong demand, occupancy rates for our commercial
properties and office properties remained at a high 97% and 93%
respectively. Together with the positive rental reversions achieved
across our Hong Kong portfolio, the rental income in this market
saw a rise of 8% to HK$2,973 million, while profits grew 11% to
HK$2,438 million.

Mainland China

The Mainland saw even more substantial growth. With our two
iconic properties in Shanghai, Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway (now
rebranded as Grand Gateway 66), virtually fully let during the year,

as well as the contribution made by Palace 66 in Shenyang, which
opened in June 2010, the overall rental turnover for our operations on
the Mainland grew 18% while profits rose 12%.

As at the end of June 2011, our portfolio in mainland China accounted
for 48% of the Group's total rental turnover.

During the year, Plaza 66 in Shanghai cemented a decade of
successful and high performance operations with the celebration

of its 10th birthday as well as a 14% growth in its rental turnover.
The office towers at Plaza 66 also performed positively, maintaining
their occupancy rate at 99%, well above the market average. Grand
Gateway 66 also saw a rise in turnover of 9%.

B IR B2 ISR i 5
ARAIFES, - HhBhERE
ARG o

A prime location above
the intersection of
metro lines brings large
customer flows and
pedestrian traffic to
Grand Gateway 66.

EEEBEERAR — T/ ——F4R
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Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai

Though only launched in June 2010, Palace 66, our new shopping mall
in Shenyang, was fully let and generating a rental turnover of HK$149
million in its first year of operation, in line with our expectation. We
do however expect to see the mall's performance climbing further,
settling within the top end of the market, as we continue to enhance
and refine the tenant mix and increase our marketing and promotional
activities at the development.

Property Development

The opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang last year heralded a new phase
of expansion in our operations. As the first of our properties under
development to reach fruition and be launched on the Mainland outside
Shanghai, it marks the start of a new “golden era” as we expand our
horizons and as more and more of our development properties come
on stream in up-and-coming cities across the country.

LgEEES
Plaza 66, Shanghai
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Parc 66 will open in Jinan in August 2011.
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This period of rich harvest will gain further momentum with the
opening of Parc 66 in Jinan in August 2011. Similar to Palace 66, Parc
66 is fully leased prior to its official opening with an array of leading
global brands, ranging from UNIQLO and Muji to Zara and Coach.
Among the many new names represented, some have never been
seen in Jinan before. Living up to our Hang Lung “66" mall promise,
this seven-story world-class shopping mall and leisure facility wvill
create a new entertainment hub for the city.

In addition to Palace 66 and Parc 66, five more properties on the
Mainland - - Forum 66 in Shenyang, Phases 1 & 2 of Center 66 in
Wuxi, Riverside 66 in Tianjin and Olympia 66 in Dalian, are under
construction and are progressing well. \We expect these properties to
come on stream over the next few years. Our most recent project,
Olympia 66, not only saw its ground-breaking ceremony in September
2010, but also won the “Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards

2011 - - Best Retail Architecture in Asia-Pacific” for its innovative and
unique design.

Finance
The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position.

Together with committed undrawn banking facilities of HK$11,944
million and a US$2 billion Medium Term Note Program, the Group has
ample capacity to finance both potential and developing projects.

EEEBEERAR — T/ ——F4R
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Outlook

In the past 50 years, we have established a strong track record,
building a reputation as one of the leading property companies both in
Hong Kong and mainland China. Together with our abundant reserves
as well as our team of dedicated, professional and talented staff, we
are ideally positioned not only to deliver on our current development
projects but also to seize new opportunities as they arise on the
Mainland to ensure our future growth.

In Hong Kong, we continue to keep a close eye on the residential market,
following developments to make sure we catch the right moment to
release further residential units for sale. In our commercial and retail
properties, we maintain our focus on the upgrading of our facilities

while also refining the tenant mix, uniguely positioning them to meet
the needs of different target groups. These activities in turn will be
supported by marketing and promotional activities to increase pedestrian
traffic and thus our rental turnover. We are also making increasing use
of the new social media and online platforms to engage with and involve
our stakeholders and customers. They not only appeal to a younger
audience, but also provide direct communication with a large number of
potential customers at a relatively low cost.

On the Mainland, the strong track record of our two landmark projects
in Shanghai will act as the benchmark and business model for our
newly launched Palace 66 and Parc 66 projects as well as our five
upcoming properties in the pipeline. As these projects come on
stream over the next few years, the Mainland will provide the main
engine to drive our continued success and sustainability into the
future, bringing more rental income and enhanced growth.

BRI

1. 3£0108.27
- 17 [= .

RNiEEEESHTER -
Ground-breaking
ceremony for Olympia 66
in Dalian.
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Customer
Partnerships
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The Peak Galleria and Café Deco celebrate 17 years of partnership, ever since the mall’'s opening in 1994.
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Building the Right Partnerships

Our property leasing activities in Hong Kong enjoyed a record

year thanks to the strong economy both in Hong Kong and on the
Mainland. A robust market has driven strong demand for both office
space and residential rental facilities in Hong Kong, as overseas
companies set up new businesses or branch offices in the city. The
booming retail market coupled with high levels of inbound travel

also fueled high local consumption. Prime retail locations were thus
rapidly snapped up by international fashion brands. As a result, Hang
Lung Centre, Fashion Walk and Amoy Plaza all reported record high
rentals for the year. Serviced apartments The Bay Bridge and Kornhill
Apartments also benefited. The Hang Lung Group therefore saw
total rental income in Hong Kong growing 8% over 2009/10 to reach
a new high of HK$2,973 million for the year. Profits grew 11% to
HK$2,438 million.

Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

R=Z——F,;xA=+H At June 30, 2011

EEEE (FEHXK)
Gross Floor Area™ ('000 sg. m.)
2011 2010
BB Hong Kong Island
PIREkEE Central and Admiralty 58 58
) 7 e NG T Causeway Bay and Wanchai 112 112
BRI & 808 Kornhill and Quarry Bay 165 165
TR K 1L & The Peak and Mid-Levels 47 47
BEEE Hong Kong South 12 12
NEE Kowloon
it/ Mongkok 140 140
EQULEYSTiEpN: Tsimshatsui and West Kowloon 89 89
3R RBE Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 98 03
RDOERZE Cheung Sha Wan and Kwai Chung 166 166
5t Total 887 387
* BEFEESZEREE

Including gross floor area of car parks
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Commercial and Retail Activities

Thanks to the prime location of the great majority of our retail sites
--in the heart of Causeway Bay and Mongkok, Hong Kong's two
busiest shopping districts - - as well as stimulation from the booming
retail market and our focused marketing and leasing activities, we
have seen positive growth in rental income in our commercial and
retail properties. Rental income rose 7% to HK$1,472 million, with
occupancy levels standing at 97%.

In addition to local demand, the influx of tourists from mainland China
continued to make a strong impact on the retail sector. Cosmetics,
jewelry and gold ornaments, luxury watches and specialist skin care
products all saw significant sales growth, according to our retail
tenants. The increasing number of restaurants, together with the
refining of the tenant mix in Food Street, Hang Lung Centre and
Amoy Plaza, also resulted in significant growth in the total turnover of
the food and beverage business segment and thus in rental turnover.

Themed Leasing Strategies

This positive picture was further brightened by our use of “Themed
Leasing’ a key strategy in the refining of our tenant mix and in
enhancing the shopping experience for customers.

Love Hong Kong Style at The Peak Galleria - - Building on the Peak’s
location as a major tourist spot, The Peak Galleria focuses on Hong
Kong as its theme, creating a hub for Hong Kong's culture and lifestyle

YRGS [$10,000F B AHE | /EB)R
SIRETMRSME - BEXREHED -

Amoy Plaza’s “HK$10,000 Spending Lucky
Draw” event is warmly received by public
and tenants.
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for locals and visitors alike. While almost half our tenants here carry
Hong Kong brands, the mall also stages cultural exhibitions and
special events that communicate Hong Kong's style and heritage.
These activities have increased the number of leasing enquiries,
raised traffic flows, and brought positive feedback from tenants.

Kornhill Learnscape at Kornhill Plaza - - The Learning Zone at Kornhill
Plaza has been rebranded as Kornhill Learnscape. With around
120,000 square feet of space at the heart of Hong Kong East’s
middle-class residential area, Kornhill Learnscape provides one of the
largest learning hubs in Hong Kong together with a full suite of extra-
curricular activities and learning programs for the younger generation.

Japanese Food Avenue in Gala Place - - Riding on the growing interest
in Japanese food, this venue was established in the basement of
Gala Place in the heart of Mongkok. Consisting of six restaurants,

the Avenue offers a variety of Japanese food ranging from wagyu
beef, ramen noodles and dumplings to specialist Japanese coffee and
frozen yogurt.

REBEBEGACETE  HREAV LB LN EFEAEIPUERILTARS [ S8R 0FEs -
New “Love Hong Kong Style” tenant at The Peak Galleria - - Sindart, a more than 50-year-old specialty store
renowned for embroidered Chinese slippers.
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Kornhill Learnscape

Grand opening of Japanese Food Avenue at Gala Place
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Kornhill Learnscape at Kornhill
Plaza is one of the largest
learning hubs in Hong Kong.

[REE e ARB]HBERR

We also continue to perfect our tenant mix both in the retail as well
as the food and beverage sector. This led to the opening for the first
time in Hong Kong of international brands Burberry Blue & Black Label
and No Signboard Seafood Restaurant at Fashion Walk. Renovations
at Amoy Plaza and The Peak Galleria will also add value to our mall
tenants, as they will provide a fresh look and an enhanced shopping
experience for customers.

Customer and Marketing Incentives

Despite this sunny picture, there have been a few passing clouds on
the horizon in the year. The earthquake, tsunami and the resulting
nuclear crisis in Japan have created short-term challenges for
Japanese restaurants in Hong Kong. Accelerating inflation, growing
costs of food materials and the new minimum wage policy have
affected some of these tenants’ profit margins and hence their
rental affordability.

To help tenants meet these challenges, a number of promotional

initiatives were held to bring additional traffic into our malls. The
highlight was an online marketing campaign launched in conjunction

EEEBEERAR — T/ ——F4R
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with Groupon Hong Kong; six of our shopping malls - -The Peak
Galleria, Fashion Walk, Hang Lung Centre, Gala Place, One Grand
Tower and Amoy Plaza, as well as 30 restaurants in these malls.

The initiative offered dining vouchers worth a million dollars to end-
customers for use in these restaurants. The response was immediate
with 15,000 coupons being snapped up in just 10 hours on the three
days of the sale, leading to a boost in business for tenants.

Innovation with the RightTools

BMBORAGEREXN AN RZHF
& BEPMARELBHBER - FKM
FAASRITOEREBEERITHEL
BB BULTERS - BIET - AKES
AN 2k 45 35 359 3% 3 48 v« Facebook B B
MFRMBER IBRITT —RIT
BOREREEY RESHSE
& 22t 1) B F & Facebook /& &) « 8 K
74 % Facebook #2 & + LA K 7 B 7 35 i
i® Groupon Ky uBuyiBuy F & 1 1 & £
BE -

In building partnerships with both our tenants and the general public,
we place a strong focus on using the appropriate and most cost-
effective tools. A recent innovation is the use of interactive online
campaigns as well as the new social media. The Peak Galleria,
Fashion Walk, Amoy Plaza and Gala Place have thus all carried out

a range of online promotions through their websites, Facebook and
Sina Weibo, which have proven to be highly popular. These included
a joint-mall Mother’s Day Facebook campaign, Facebook games for
Amoy Plaza, as well as our highly successful, sixmall discount dining
campaign launched in conjunction with Groupon's uBuyiBuy platform.
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Looking forward, we expect to see a less steep growth curve than

in the past five years, as the market enters a period of consolidation.
We remain optimistic about the positive performance of this business
sector, as the local economy remains strong and the inflow of
tourists continues to be vigorous. Yet we do see slight moderation

in the steep growth curve than seen in the past five years, as the
commercial and retail businesses enter a period of consolidation.

Office and Industrial/Office

The strong economy also benefited our office and industrial/office
activities. The high demand for office space in Hong Kong's Central
business district, coupled with low vacancy rates, boosted strong
interest in our Grade A properties in the area. As a result, occupancy
levels in this sector of our portfolio stood at 93%. The high rents
and space shortage in Central also drove many businesses into

the secondary business areas, creating positive opportunities for
our office portfolio in Wanchai and Island East. Our industrial office
portfolio in Kowloon West also improved in terms of both occupancy
rate and unit rental, as the abundant supply of new office space in
Kowloon East was increasingly absorbed by the market. This sector
achieved an overall rental income of HK$1,028 million for the year,
translating into growth of 7%.

BEE RENRITTR R P IR B BT SRR ©

Value-added IT support services are provided for tenants at Printing House.
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Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

BEERE(TFIR) HERACE¥BEST) HEE(AEDLL)
Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
(‘000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)

201 2010 201 2010 201 2010
TR Commercial and Retail 287 287 1,472 1,379 97 97
BFERTE BF#E Office and Industrial/Office 291 291 1,028 962 93 93
FERBAT Residential and Apartments 99 99 356 295 75 73
(=57 Car Parks 210 210 117 110 N/A N/A
5T Total 887 887 2,973 2,746 91 91
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Our flagship property in Central is the Standard Chartered Bank
Building on Des Voeux Road where our headquarters are located.
Additional properties consist of the “Duddell Street Trio” - - 1 Duddell
Street, Printing House and Baskerville House - - uniquely positioned in
the heart of Central, yet within a relatively quiet, green and leafy area.
They have proven to be highly popular among professional firms,
commercial chambers, audio-visual and other specialist retailers, as
well as foreign companies. Meeting the needs of this clientele during
the year, extensive renovation was carried out and special tenant
facilities, such as free IT support, were provided. With the recent
completion of the renovation, these new features and facilities gained
a highly positive response from tenants.

Maintaining this impetus into the future, we will continue to diversify
the tenant and trade mix at our office properties, seeking to cement
our leadership in the semi-retail and service business trades.
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Residential and Serviced Apartments

Riding on the momentum that commenced in the second half of
2009/10, the serviced apartments sector was the star performer in
our Hong Kong rental portfolio, recording yearto-date growth of 21%
over the previous year. Thanks to our effective marketing strategies
and the surge in corporate demand, driven by the steady stream of
expatriate businessmen in the financial and professional services
sector seeking quality residential and serviced accommodation, The
Bay Bridge, Kornhill Apartments and The Wesley in all registered
strong income growth of over 34%, while Kornhill Apartments
enjoyed a spectacular increase of 31%. The rising demand also
increased room rates, which contributed to this satisfactory
performance. While these impressive advances will continue in the
coming year, we do expect to see some market consolidation with a
more balanced rate of growth.
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On the residential front, the need for quality accommodation drove
a rise of 8% to HK$164 million in rental income from our residential
portfolio, which consists of The Summit, with its panoramic views of
the racecourse in Happy Valley, and Burnside Villa, with its 45 family-
style garden homes. The outlook for this sector remains positive as
the local economy continues to flourish and as more financial and
professional service firms establish offices in Hong Kong. Sounding
a note of caution for the future, however, as more and more
multinational financial institutions move their offices to Kowloon to
avoid high rents, we do expect to see a larger number of their staff
choosing to live in Kowloon.

STRE
The Bay Bridge
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HONG KONG PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND SALES
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Our business strategy in the development of residential properties

in Hong Kong is to build top quality residential complexes in prime
locations and with strong upside potential. Hand-in-hand with this
prudent and farseeing strategy, we take a disciplined sales approach,
optimizing value for shareholders and end-users by obtaining the best
possible returns on these investments.

Key current developments include:

The Long Beach, our high-end residential complex in \West Kowloon,
consists of 1,829 units in eight towers. With its sweeping harbor
views, best-of-class clubhouse and recreational facilities, it is seen as a
prime development offering a luxury home environment.

(1]
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The Long Beach, equipped with best-of-class clubhouse and recreational facilities, provides comfortable family homes.
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Magnificent Victoria Harbor view from The HarbourSide
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New residential project on Blue Pool Road in Happy Valley

The HarbourSide towers majestically above West Kowloon.
Overlooking Victoria Harbor, this top-of-the-line residential complex
provides 1,122 luxury units in three towers. Residents enjoy
magnificent harbor views combined with convenient transport and
contemporary lifestyle facilities.

A New Project is also taking shape on Blue Pool Road in Happy
Valley. This luxury residential project will consist of around 8,000
square meters of total floor area. Construction is progressing well
and this complex is expected to see completion towards the end
of 2012. It became the first project in the world to be registered
under the Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED)
for Homes' International Pilot program launched by the U.S. Green
Building Council in the fourth quarter of 2010.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11




BB R AR
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of growth with
Hang Lung

UGG B EIBREEE - ER—BRENES — LENEEERBESHRNE -
UGG opens another shop on the Mainland with Hang Lung - - this time at Grand Gateway 66, Shanghai.
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As China grows in prosperity and its economy expands, we continue
to reap the benefits of our strategies and the decisions made when
we entered the market more than 18 years ago. Together with the
new era in our business expansion, which took off with the opening
of Palace 66 in Shenyang in 2010, rental income in this sector grew a
positive 18% to HK$2,738 million. Echoing this trend, operating profit
rose 12% to HK$2,136 million. These activities now account for 48%
of the Group’s total rental turnover.

In 2011, we consolidated the new growth chapter in our Mainland
operations with the launch of Parc 66 in Jinan this August. Its opening
will add 171,000 square meters of world-class shopping space to

our retail portfolio. We expect Parc 66, Jinan's largest shopping mall,
to make a solid contribution to our overall rental income in the year

to come as, following in the footsteps of Palace 66, this new facility
commenced operations fully leased.

Our evolution into a multi-city operation across the Mainland is
building increasing value for our unique Hang Lung “66" brand, which
commenced so successfully with Plaza 66 in Shanghai ten years ago.
Capitalizing on the strength and power of the brand, we are unifying
all the marketing and promotion as well as sales and operation of

our shopping malls and commercial developments on the Mainland
under this premium image. As a result, in March this year, The Grand
Gateway saw its rebranding to Grand Gateway 66 to better reflect its
position in our unigue and successful Hang Lung model.

Plaza 66

One of Shanghai's most luxurious developments, this iconic shopping
mall celebrated its 10th anniversary in 2011. The first premium mall
to open in Shanghai, Plaza 66 is renowned for its successful tenant
configuration, world-class mall management and sophisticated
shopping environment. Results are such that the development is
probably the highest productivity shopping mall on the Mainland

in terms of total sales on a per square meter basis. Enjoying an
occupancy rate of over 97% in 2010/11, rental turnover for the
shopping mall grew to HK$657 million, an increase of 28% over
2009/10.
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ERESHEAETASTNELHMEE - 1%  Plaza 66 not only boasts some of the most well-known names in

Z= 52 (Chanel) + & $7 3 (Prada) * #1 B  the world - - from Chanel, Prada, Dior and Louis Vuitton to Tiffany,
(Dior) ~ # 5 & & (Louis Vuitton) « & N, Cartier, Boucheron and Girard Perregaux - - but it has also carved a

fE (Tiffany) * & #th 35 (Cartier) ~ Z 358  niche for itself in the high-end market and emerged as the benchmark
(Boucheron) X 2 #4 (Girard Perregaux)  luxury mall market leader. Over the decade, it has benefited from

Z o IS TMERE S TISE Y T BN the growing demand for luxury brands both in Shanghai and the

il » B A ESFERBNBEHRE - 3@  surrounding Jiangsu and Zhejiang provinces.

ETF - ©XER DEMAGEDTE - T

MEHEZREE R EANEERRK -

PLIBEH RIB R E IR TETINSREE(E - 2 This top-of-class complex also makes continuous efforts to refine its
BRE WMESERBEFASE k¥  hardware, floor configuration, property management and tenant mix
—SPRABYER  RWEHEF,PFE - in order to enhance the shopping experience, meet tenants' needs
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and maintain its edge in the market. Attesting to its success in this
direction, leading tenants such as Louis Vuitton and Hermeés not only
commenced refurbishment of their stores in Plaza 66 during the vear,
but they are also expanding their shop spaces. When refurbishment
work is completed in the first quarter of 2012, Plaza 66 will house
probably the largest number of top luxury brand flagship stores, as
well as their biggest “maison” stores, on the Mainland.

Heightening Plaza 66's quality lifestyle experience with improved
dining facilities, the mall saw the opening of a number of highly rated
restaurants during the year. They included Tim'’s Kitchen, which is so
well-known and loved in Hong Kong where it has been awarded two
Michelin stars.

‘|louls vurton i ¥ |

Pleased with our ongoing improvements in Plaza 66, Louis Vuitton
is expanding its store in the mall, making it both its flagship as well
as its largest store in mainland China. The brand also held a
“Century Retrospective Expo” at Plaza 66 in 2010, showcasing
antique handbags which were shipped from France, and exhibited
outside that country for the first time. The group's regional offices
are also located in Plaza 66's Office Tower.
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Despite the flourishing retail environment, office rentals in Shanghai
experienced greater challenges as abundant supplies of office
premises entered the market during the year, and will continue to

do so for the next 12 months or so. With our positive image, prime
location, close partnerships with tenants as well as our excellent client
services, however, we were able to maintain occupancy rates at well
over 99% during the year. Testifying to the quality of our services and
the strength of our customer partnerships, we can proudly boast that
more than half of Plaza 66°s office tenants have stayed throughout the
past 10 years, moving in when it opened in 2001.

Grand Gateway 66

Grand Gateway 66 saw a rental turnover of HK$822 million for its
shopping mall, an increase of 13% from the year before, with an
almost full occupancy in 2010/11.

The highlight for this centrally-located development in Shanghai during
the year was its renaming under our premium “66" brand to become
Grand Gateway 66. This repositioning defines the development's
strengthening image together with its enhanced tenant mix.
Leveraging on the Hang Lung “66" brand, Grand Gateway 66 has
actively enhanced its tenant mix, adding more luxury names during
the year. Income from office rentals dropped 4% to HK$235 million
while income from the residential towers and serviced apartments
increased by 10% to HK$160 million.
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International top brands newly opened at Grand Gateway 66 during
the year include Dior, UGG, Spige, Dunhill, Escada, EMPORIO
ARMAN!I, Chloé, Loewe and Vivienne Westwood. There were also
new international and mainland food and beverage chain outlets such
as VERSACE CAFE, Gloria Jean's Coffees, South Beauty Restaurant,
Itacho Sushi, Din Tai Fung, and King Mang Shanghai’'s Restaurant.

With its continued efforts to upgrade the mall’s software and
hardware, Grand Gateway 66 catered to the demand for a high quality
shopping and leisure experience in the Shanghai market and brought
in increased sales turnover. Sales of luxury products continued to rise
in the year, and food and beverage outlets also performed well. In
particular, Olé Supermarket, the cosmopolitan lifestyle supermarket
opened in 2010, attracted large crowds seeking luxury goods. The
World Expo held in Shanghai in 2010 also created greater consumer
demand at Grand Gateway 66 in the first half of the financial year.

Meanwhile, there were also renovations to further improve facilities
for shoppers and to add new extensions in the mall, creating larger
shop areas, enhanced customer spaces and additional sources of
rental income.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 47



BB S A R

-%q BE 2w ko MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MAINLAND CHINA PROPERTY LEASING

D BB AHA - TAER L
1 R 7 2 A 3 1 6 S
M s EEE - BT SEEE %
BRARSOXTESRS - ETRNERE
sl —RETEEESER -

BEMSHFARAN  ARBZ(ER
URABUAXMETS  ZRRER
VMBS E EBTH LK BEER
B RER RO EEREE - RINREH
SEKRED VWESHNES K
FEH KB R E R AR R/ -

T API 7R HA )8 O 1B f JR 45 1 ] A 2R AT AT
RIFEMHFHEXBIER

Grand Gateway 66's prime location above Shanghai's largest and
busiest metro station in the Xujiahui commercial district also stands
it in good stead. Not only is Grand Gateway 66 located at the
intersection of Lines 1 and 9, the soon-to-open Line 11 will also bring
even larger customer flows and pedestrian traffic to the mall.

Despite more intense market competition, as seen in increasing
numbers of residential developers turning to the commercial
property market and more luxury shopping facilities coming on line
in Shanghai’s city center, Grand Gateway 66's effective business
strategies, well-rounded and sustainable property management
approach, and prime location advantage have enabled this popular
commercial complex to tackle different challenges and created
sustainable long-term growth prospects.

For the foreseeable future, we expect to maintain double-digit turnover
growth for this thriving retail and commercial complex.
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Mr Iwasaki, a resident in Grand Gateway 66's serviced apartments,
suffered a heart attack some time ago. Fortunately he is now fine,
thanks to the immediate medical attention he received.

Upon hearing the news of the attack, Grand Gateway 66's serviced
apartment staff rushed to the hospital with flowers and gifts for him,
knowing that Mr lwasaki was on his own in a foreign country - - his
wife had been unable to stay on in Shanghai due to visa restrictions.

Mr Iwasaki was very touched by the attention. He said he never
felt lonely when he was ill because of all the care and attention he
received from our Grand Gateway 66 staff.

Mr Iwasaki has been a resident in Grand Gateway 66's serviced
apartments for nearly nine years. The only break in his stay was when
he had to move out for a year because the apartments were under
renovation. Once the renovations were completed, he returned.

Grand Gateway 66's serviced apartments are Mr lwasaki's home
away from home.
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Mainland China Rental Revenue

HEANA=THLEFE

For the years ended June 30

Palace 66

The opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang
in 2010 heralded a new stage of
growth in Hang Lung’s operations on
the Mainland, as we expanded our
horizons into up-and-coming cities
throughout the country. This new
lifestyle and upscale leisure center
was fully leased with a mix of some
300 local and international tenants
during the year, achieving a rental
income of HK$149 million.

Parc 66

This seven-story world-class shopping mall in the heart of Jinan on
Quancheng Lu, the city's "Golden Avenue’ will open in August 2011
to become the city’s largest shopping and leisure center. Fully leased
even before its opening, Parc 66 will not only bring a whole new
dimension in entertainment to the city, it is set to become a leading
shopping landmark and lifestyle icon.

TEAtESRAZEESE
Mainland China Rental Revenue
by Business Segment
BE-_T——FA=THLFE

For the year ended June 30, 2011

BEEET

HK$ million
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0

07 08

50

$2,738 million
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Segmental Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties

HEEEE(FEAK) HEBA (B¥EETL) M= (AHL)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m.) (HK$ million) (%)
201 2010 201 2010 201 2010
R GE Commercial and Retalil 283 283 1,628 1,240 97 100
=i=al: Office 227 227 M 906 99 95
FENER Residential and Apartments 83 83 160 146 97 95
ZEIE Car Parks 133 176 39 31 N/A N/A
st Total 726 769 2,738 2,323 98 98
* BIEME KK 2 EEEE

FREAMRENERERTRENE 2R D

Including gross floor area above and below ground

Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties and Investment Properties Under Development
RZT——F7XA=+1H At June 30, 2011

EEERE (FFEHK)
Total Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m.)

REYE Investment Properties

L& Shanghai

RER Xuhui District 315
R Jing'an District 273
b Shenyang

& [ (P AT ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 138
BREPREYE Investment Properties Under Development

g Jinan 171
b Shenyang

B (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie) 855
F:3 7 Wuxi

SLE(ARPE) Chong'an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 264
S () Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113
KZE Tianjin 153
k& Dalian 222
wast Total 2,504

* BIEHDE JOR 2 I E R

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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© Forum 66, Shenyang

Following the opening of Palace 66 in Shenyang last year and Parc
66 in Jinan this year, Forum 66, also in Shenyang, will be coming on
stream sometime next year to cement the growth momentum of
our Mainland operations. The largest of our current projects under
construction by phases, this prime 855,100 square-meter landmark
complex will consist of premium shopping facilities, offices, hotels
and serviced apartments, with two office towers rising 350 meters,
making them the tallest office complexes in northeastern China.

Located on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor” that runs
through the city center, Forum 66 is situated in the very midst of
some of Shenyang'’s most well-known landmarks - - the Liaoning
Grand Theater, the Museum of Liaoning Province, the Municipal
Government Building, as well as City Plaza. A new metro line, which
is being built along the "“Golden Corridor’ will also provide direct
internal access from the station to our development. Completion is
expected in phases from 2012 onwards with the premium shopping
facilities being completed first.

Forum 66 received its "“Precertification under Leadership in Energy

and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development
Gold Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building Council in 2008.
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@ Center 66 - - Phase 1, Wuxi

In line with all Hang Lung’s Mainland projects, the site for Center

66 was chosen for its prime location in the very heart of the central
business district in Wuxi. In addition to being situated right on Renmin
Zhong Lu in Chong'an District with its heavy pedestrian flows, Center
66 will also benefit from the busy traffic that the future Number 1

and 2 metro lines will bring. Center 66 Phase 1 consists of 263,800
square meters of premium shopping space and Grade A office towers
and is expected to be completed in 2013.

Center 66's shopping mall and Phase 1 office facilities obtained
"Precertification under Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development Gold Level” from the
U.S. Green Building Council in July 2009.

© Center 66 - - Phase 2, Wuxi

This commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartment development
at the intersection of Jiankang Lu and Houxi Xi is immediately

to the south of Renmin Zhong Lu where Center 66, Phase 1, is
located. When completed, the total gross floor area of Center 66
Phases 1 & 2 will reach 376,800 square meters, creating the largest
commercial development and the latest landmark in Wuxi's central
business district.
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O Riverside 66, Tianjin

As with all our new properties under development, Riverside 66 in
Tianjin is located on a prime site in Heping Lu, one of the 10 Most
Famous Commercial Streets in China”. In addition to its 152,800
square meters of prime commercial and retail space, Riverside 66's
design is unique - - becoming one of the longest shopping malls

in China and with a glass shell design providing an external view

of the shops and activities within the mall. Riverside 66 won the
prestigious “2010 AIA New York Chapter’s Design Awards, Unbuilt
Category”, from the American Institute of Architects (AlA) New
York Chapter for its outstanding design. We are probably the first
Hong Kong developer operating on the Mainland to receive this well-
known award. Riverside 66 also received the “MIPIM Architectural
Review Future Project Awards 2007 - - Retail and Leisure”. Project
completion is due in 2014.

The project was also awarded the ”Precertification under Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell
Development Gold Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building Council
in September 2009.

EEEEERAT -2/ ——FFK



O REMIEEES

KB B EIHLTERAREN RO %
Bz -8RI - BABEMIC R ES -
HERERK - T BT LA FIRE
By KRIMBERRG - RENES K
BEIA R AT mE DR R EZERE - K
mAEIET I — K o thAIF B
VERET - STRBRENBBEREHMEX
R-T——FEN[2XE — &ETE
EEER IR FEERMERARETER
SRR KK - HACREFNARTH
TEX  EEHR T -MEEEX -

KB EEFEIH R AR ERT LAR
REFE  UWRERSEXEGERERS
BB [BER SRR RBE — %D
KONBA R ] £ 8RRRE -

O Olympia 66, Dalian

Centrally located at Wusi Lu, one of the most prominent commercial
avenues in Dalian and adjacent to Olympic Plaza, Olympia 66 will offer
221,900 square meters of shopping, dining and entertainment space.
An indoor plaza will connect the complex’s vibrant atrium spaces,
bringing them together under a crystalline skylight. This innovative and
sophisticated design won Olympia 66 the “Best Retail Architecture in
the Asia-Pacific” and the “Five-star Best Retail Architecture in China”
titles under the renowned International Property Awards 2011. A
ground-breaking ceremony for the project took place in September
last year, and completion is expected towards the end of 2014.

Olympia 66 includes a range of sustainability design and eco-friendly
features, aiming to achieve the “Certification under Leadership
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) for Core and Shell
Development Gold Level” issued by the U.S. Green Building Council.
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Major Properties Under Development

RZZT——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

- BIEE 2w kot MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RIEEEE SEEGER TERTERK
AR (FEFAK) (Bok) HH
(EAK) Total Gross Group's Tt TP EX Expected
Site Area FERE Floor Area Attributable Stage of  Completion
I 2h Location (sg. m.) Main Usage (sg. m.) Interest (%) Completion Date
&t HONG KONG
EEIEOE Blue Pool Road, 7.850 R 8,005 491 HETE 2012
NHBER 5747 5% IL 5747 Foundation
B JINAN
18f&E% - Parc 66, 52,569 C 171,000 49.1 A FE 2011
SRR Quancheng Lu, Superstructure
& Lixia District
&S SHENYANG
TR ES Forum 66, 92,065 C/H/O/S 855,100 49.1 A FE 2012
FERE - Qingnian Da Jie, Superstructure #8
Y= = Shenhe District onwards
SR WUXI
18f&E% (—Hf) - Center 66 (Phase 1), 37324 C/O 263,800 49.1 HE T2 2013
AERHE - Renmin Zhong Lu, Foundation pic)
=@ Chong'an District onwards
1E8f£ &% (—8)) - Center 66 (Phase 2), 16,767 C/H/O/S 113,000 49.1 &I+ TEA
fRERRE - Jiankang Lu, Planning N/A
=@ Chong'an District
X3 TIANJIN
18R ES - Riverside 66, 42,697 C 152,800 49.1 HE T2 2014
FNFEE Heping Lu, Foundation
FF @ Heping District
XiE DALIAN
18R ES - Olympia 66, 63,400 C 221,900 49.1 HE T2 2014
FPOE - Wusi Lu, Foundation
i)l Xigang District
C: i Commercial
H: JB/E Hotel
0: BFE Office
R: &= Residential
S : MRENEFT Serviced Apartments
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Properties Completed for Sale
RZT——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

RIEAEE SEEGES REH REH
(FFK) (Batk) (EEBMHE B EHE
Total Gross Group’s  No. of Unsold No. of Unsold
TER® Floor Area Attributable Residential Carparking
25 Location Main Usage (sg. m.) Interest (%) Units Spaces
&E HONG KONG
BEERT - The HarbourSide, R 37487 491 284 270
@Bt 1 Austin Road West,
FLBEAIHEER 1108057 KIL 11080
SR The Long Beach, R 100,224 491 1,234 -
JSIEESY 8 Hoi Fai Road,
TLBEAIHEER 1115255 KIL 11152
BINE AquaMarine, R 1,939 491 21 =
IRERER 85 - 8 Sham Shing Road,
T LRERHDER 633855 NKIL 6338
Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill, R 286 49.1 2 17
DO - 9 Carmel Village Street,
FNBEAIHIER 1112258 KIL 11122

F= Residential
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HEEEEY R
MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

TEREUE
Major Investment Properties
RZT——F/XA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BE@EE (FHK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
RFER .
I¥ =78 FEREF BAEE
Sk Office and Residential No. of
R EmEE  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
FiE HONG KONG
FRESE CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
EDEI\H—} ) Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 - -
A 65% - 6 Duddell Street,
A ER 339 5% IL 339
HEFE 15 1 Duddell Street, 2848 2,340 6,616 - -
AHBEL 7310 5% IL 7310
LERRTT Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 = =
ERA 225 22 Ice House Street,
A ER 644 55 IL 644
BITIRITAE Standard Chartered 2854 48147 23,730 " - 16
R E T 4-4A5R Bank Building,
B EHER 103 5% 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AE KR BE Sections A&B of ML 103
SER Queensway Plaza, 2012 7303 - - -
B 935 93 Queensway
ShSRE & BT CAUSEWAY BAY AND WANCHAI
BEHL - Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,777 22,131 = 126
A=A 2-205% - 2-20 Paterson Street,
AHER 524 5% R 7495% 1L 524 & IL 749
ZIED Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 - 7935 -
BfEEE - B34 - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
AR % fT - Great George Street,
REUB4A - &£ +4T8 ¢ Cleveland Street, Kingston
B EHER 231 5% Street, Gloucester Road,
K 5257 ML 231 & ML 52,
AHBER 46957 K 4705% 1L 469 & IL 470
BRE Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 - - 250
HEE 15 1 King's Road,
A ER 8560 57 IL 8560
IRy Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
15 2812 - 15/F-28/F,
B8 6-8 5% 6-8 Harbour Road,
AHIEL 8633 57 IL 8633
B RARE KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
FIaES - Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
BRILE 1-25% 1-2 Kornhill Road,
A E% 8566 57 IL 8566
EREE - Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * = = 35,275 =
FRILE 255 2 Kornhill Road,
A ES 8566 57 IL 8566
LR - Stanhope House, 2082 1,424 26,411 = 70
BB 73457 734 King's Road,
A ER 3507 57 IL 3507
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)

R=ZZT——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

EEEE (FAK)
Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)
BPEE
T¥ /35 (EFERBF  EMAHE
s NEiE Office and Residential No. of
. WEEmFE  Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
Hh 2 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
EHE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
TR - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,446 - = 493
LITBZE 11855 - 118 Peak Road, RBL 3
T XBHEER 3 5%
ERZ Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 — = 558 25
2-35R55 —FE - Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
EILTHEBAGE IL 896 & IL 2850
A ER 896 5% & 2850 57
(rilk-= The Summit, 2047 - = 15,225 54
RIFEGE41CH8R - 41C Stubbs Road,
AI3ER 8870 5% IL 8870
BEEE HONG KONG SOUTH
EBEE - BEEoYE . Burnside Villa, 2072 - - 9,212 89
T XBHEEE 994 5% 9 South Bay Road, RBL 994
REA MONGKOK
EE@EP/D%—,HH , Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 114 - — _
TAHE 688557 6388 Nathan Road,
BEAHEER 1262 5% KIL 1262
FERR L —H One Grand Tower, 2060 19,276 22,637 - 40
BB 627-641A%% ©  627-641A Nathan Road,
BEMHBER 102465%  KIL 10246
Fjﬁﬁ;ﬁﬂh/b:,ﬁﬂ , Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 - -
BB 62557 625 Nathan Road,
BEAHEER 10234 57 KIL 10234
BEAE Hang Tung Building, 2045 * = = - 1,000
FEHE 1112-11205% ©  1112-1120 Canton Road,
JLBEAHEER 9708 5% KIL 9708
TS E LY Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 7,454 30,205 = 478
REkLy - Gala Place,
BT L7565 56 Dundas Street,
FUBEMIHEER95905% KIL 9590
EEEIEE Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,139 17,941 - _
TEEG105% 610 Nathan Road,
NBEMHER110245%  KIL 11024
Bl - Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 - - 11
MBI - 9 Carmel Village Street,
NEEAMER111225%  KIL 11122
RHERFENEE TSIMSHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
B L Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7,198 - -
HERLES 8 Humphreys Avenue,
NBEERMERT725% K% KIL 7725 &
80265k KIL 8026
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

TEREWFE )
Major Investment Properties (Continued)

RZZ——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

- BIREE 2w kot MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEmE (FK)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)

JETER
IT¥ /=518 FERSEH  BAHE
i Bk Office and Residential No. of
' It 3 i o o 2R Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
HEE) HONG KONG (Continued)
RPERFEIE (Z) TSIMSHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON (Continued)
ERERRIEE - Hanford Fashion, 2037 1,444 4,891 - -
B E221B-E5% - 221B-E Nathan Road,
JBEAIHEER106195% & KIL 10619 &
813257 KIL 8132
REBE The Long Beach, 2050 20,174 = = 390
TSIEES 8 Hoi Fai Road,
NBEEAHIER 1115255  KIL 11152
BEEX AquaMarine, 2050 22,350 = = 516
REEFESSR 8 Sham Shing Road,
T BE R EL63385%  NKIL 6338
SEAREE NGAUTAU KOK AND KWUNTONG
5%2(??515‘—1 , Amoy Plaza, 2047 49,006 - - 620
FHEABTTH 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
T UBEAMERS35E « NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
148255  266055% & NKIL 2660 &
39475k NKIL 3947
BAIERD - Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 - 8,589 - -
LEER BT 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
FNBERHER 174457 NKIL 1744
B - Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,162 = - 165
KRB - Cha Kwo Ling Road,
HLBEALBEE60555% NKIL 6055
A% - HFEKRE®E CHEUNG SHAWAN, KWAI CHUNG ANDTSUEN WAN
BEREPL Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 - =
B ILIEAT65 - 476 Castle Peak Road,
FNBEAMEL176157  NKIL 1761
#1% A3E8225 822 Lai Chi Kok Road, 2047 = 9,004 = 73
FLBE R ER 55685k NKIL 5568
K FEATOSE - 9 Wing Hong Street, 2047 - 35,223 - 95
HFLBEAMIEL62295%  NKIL 6229
BEIEE Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 - - 172
#2I3E1A1 - 1A2 ~ Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A - BAKGBIREI4H ©  BA, 6A & 6B,
BIZE X455 Lai King Hill Road,
1 EZ 333655 Lot 3336 of SD 4
ATAR D Star Centre, 2047 - 28,5612 - 27
#H1L1:8443-451%% +  443-451 Castle Peak Road,
LEXHA44551EE  Section A of Lot 690
6905RAE in DD 445
TEE The Bay Bridge, 2047 = = 20,096 179
SRS LA 123 Castle Peak Road,
1235% - £2EMHE  Yau KomTau,
35657 WTL 356
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Major Investment Properties (Continued)
MZZ——FXA=+H AtJune 30, 2011

BEmE (FK)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m.)

_BFER
I /=518 FERBH  BAHAE
Sk Office and Residential No. of
022 e i A A Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
Hh 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
HEE) HONG KONG (Continued)
EXE - ZHREE () CHEUNG SHAWAN, KWAI CHUNG ANDTSUEN WAN (Continued)
IR Bayview Garden, 2047 4,959 - - 52
2#%511386335% -+ 633 Castle Peak Road,
ST ER 32057 Tsuen Wan, TWTL 329
HP TUEN MUN
AEEE - Tai Hing Gardens, 2047 10,970 - - 387
EPIERER119 & 11 Tsun Wen Road and
JAELAT10557A 10A Ho Hing Circuit,
WP ER 31255 Tuen Mun, TMTL 312
BtERL Luen Cheong Can Centre, 2047 - 7856 - 37
o P 2ERT PR 855 8 Yip Wong Road,

LEHD 13157
116957

Tuen Mun,
Lot 1169 in DD 131

BRI TR

With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

ESERAEAM_E-T B2 FHKSTEZASNA - HRBEZYBEXEN -2 ——FXEEM. , ,
The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entittement in the remaining area will revert to the Group in 2012.

egmEE (FAK)

Gross Floor Area® (sg. m.)

JBFEE
I¥/ B85 FEKZFR  EuHE
bk Office and Residential No. of
Hh 32 i i 4 HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
I 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
L5 SHANGHAI
BEMLESE—HX%  Grand Gateway 66 Gardens 2063 - = 64,900 =
F=H 1&2,
#2118 5% - 2118 Hua Shan Lu,
wiE= Xuhui District
BIEEREES Grand Gateway 66, 2043 120,000 67200 18,300 835
ITARBRE 1 5% - 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
IRIER Xuhui District
82 ES - Plaza 66, 2044 53,600 159,700 - 804
R PAEK 1266 5% 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
Eed o] Jing'an District
] SHENYANG
SEWIEREES Palace 66 2057 109,300 - - 871
FRATRS 128 5% 128 Zhongiie Lu,
&= Shenhe District

# BIEHE RME 2 EEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

EXH R ARENEZAFESHNEXER
Turnover Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
BEAA=TARILEE of Investment Properties

For the years ended June 30 HEANA=tHILEE

For the years ended June 30

B HET B EET
HK$ million HKS$ million
14,000 9,000
8,000
12,000
7,000
10,000
6,000
8,000 5,000 $4,338
$5,714 million
6.000 million 4,000
3,000
4,000
o EEMFME 2,000 ® ERMERE
Hong Kong leasing Hong Kong leasing
2,000 o REAMMERE . ° Bl YEEE
Mainland China leasing ' Mainland China leasing
o MEHE o o
Property sales 0 Property sales

—E-—FMKEERE Review of 2011 Financial Results

NEFZZLER  WNEABRTEAM  Property leasing in Hong Kong and mainland China, our core business,
CNETREER  MAFEEBKERE®  delivered robust results again this year. Underlying profit, being profit
SHELE - xHp 2 AR - BITEHE  after taxation without taking into account the net revaluation gain,
FWFHRFBE2FHEERN  EABSD 2=  derived from this segment rose 24% to HK$1,732 million.
THEAE+HE=FT-BET °

STHAE SRS REEYWEM  Fueled by strong leasing activities, rental turnover and operating
E7HEBARKEE SN RIERES  profit for property leasing increased by 13% and 12% in the year to
ZT=RBHpzT= 2R+ EE  HK$5,711 million and HK$4,574 million, respectively.
—F-BETRAEEOTRELCTEA

HIT °

EBIRBYERMEE 2 HS WA RKL L% Rental income and operating profit generated from Hong Kong
MopEEES 2 N \ KB Z2+— &%  investment properties grew 8% and 11% to HK$2,973 million and
B-_t+hEtTZg&8 B8 =+  HK$2,438 million, respectively.

E=FNB&T-
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REMEZAFEEM MEWARZH
Change in Fair Value of Investment Properties Interest Income and Expenses

BEANA=THILFE

For the years ended June 30

BENA=THLEFE

For the years ended June 30

BEEETT BEEETT
HK$ million HK$ million
25,000 500
450
20,000 400
350
15,000 300
$226
22y million
10,000 200
$139
150 million
5,000 $3,504 100
million
o FISMA
50 Interest income
® FSH
0 0 Interest expenses

07 08 09 10 M

TEANEYEFERSRALE He
WAREEHENDRIERED 2T\ K
BoZTZ =B _t++EE=TNA
Brhkg® =T 88"

AEENEHEHEAR  ARAKE
ERRNMEEZTHRET  RER
BHEXTTZ2A®E - B - #ABERYE
HEARBEERKA L EER AR
T EREBZARERBEREN G T
DADBTRESZATARAD 2R
T= EBEBATEE-THAETK
BETHE=F=A8T

Mainland China properties continued to record pleasing growth as
rental income and operating profit increased by 18% and 12% to
HK$2,738 million and HK$2,136 million, respectively.

Property sales were insignificant this year since we decided to retain

the completed flats under the current uncertain market conditions.
As a result, while direct costs and operating expenses decreased
substantially due to the insignificant property sales, total turnover
and underlying profit of Hang Lung Group fell by 55% and 53% to
HK$5,714 million and HK$1,733 million, respectively.
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- BIEE 2w kot MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The increase in fair value of investment properties recorded for this
year amounted to HK$3,504 million which was lower than HK$21,626
million last year. The reduction was primarily due to recognition

of a one-off cumulative revaluation gain of HK$7,365 million from
properties under development pursuant to a new accounting standard
in 2009/10. In addition, an extraordinary revaluation rebound in
2009/10 was observed following the financial turmoil experienced

in 2008.

With the issue of 293.9 million new shares in November 2010 by
Hang Lung Properties pursuant to placing and top-up arrangement,
the Group held significant cash balances including Renminbi deposits
to meet construction expenditure in mainland China. A net interest
income of HK$87 million was recorded for the year against a net
interest expense of HK$80 million last year.

Taxation charges decreased by 78% this year to HK$1,117 million due
to the decrease in profit.

Consequently, the net profit attributable to shareholders of Hang Lung
Group fell 73% to HK$3,529 million. The underlying earnings per
share decreased from HK$2.76 to HK$1.29 this year. The Board has
proposed a final dividend of HK57 cents per share, the same as 2010.
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FERA BREERE

Profit for the Year Net Assets per Share
BHEASA=THIEFE WARA=+H
For the years ended June 30 At June 30
(ke milion i
million
30,000 90 $89.2
80
25,000
70
20,000 60
50
15,000
40
10,000 $6,876 © HAEF 30
million Underlying profit
P B AW HREETIE 20
PEZAG Eopd- 7
5,000 Effects of revaluation, net
of deferred tax and non- 10
controlling interests
I I . I . ® JEIEC R
0 Non-controlling interests 0
07 08 09 10 1 07 08 09 10 1

—E-—FHKEEDE Review of 2011 Financial Position

NEFAEREME IR HEREFR The Group continued to manage its financial affairs tactically by

W BBEERMEEEIINEASEHIRSE  maintaining sufficient financial resources and liquidity with appropriate
MEUR I HREITSER currency mix to meet all obligations as they fall due.

NRZTE—TF+—F  KEBZHEZA  In November 2010, the Group's subsidiary Hang Lung Properties
RIERMEAR AR BBIRENR B Limited expanded its capital base by a top-up placement of 293.9
=ttxmAa Lz BRAEEREE  milion shares to institutional investors at a price of HK$37.48 per
NEREBFNLTHREE _EBALT=8 share. Netproceeds of HK$10,896 million were collected. Hence,
BRI - AYEREARER - 1H)XE  our financial position was further strengthened with net assets
EHESBE-—BFZEZNENLTNEE increased by 17% to HK$120,197 million.

7T o Bk - AREE 2 ARG AE—

whnsk - FEEBMBES 2 T 2B

—FZBE—EBATEEET
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Investment properties rose by 6% to HK$94,003 million partly due to
the revaluation gains on existing portfolio.

In line with scheduled construction progress together with a
revaluation gain of HK$41 million, properties under development
increased from HK$15,326 million to HK$21,524 million.

At June 30, 2011, the Group had capital commitments amounting

to HK$35,477 million which are predominantly related to the

property development projects in mainland China. Out of these
commitments, approximately HK$20,000 million are for projects to
be completed in the next four years while the rest is for projects to be
completed thereafter.

The Group continued to position itself with a prudent level of liquid
funds and banking facilities to meet future commitments. As at
June 30, 2011, the Group had cash and bank deposits of HK$28,274
million in order to meet the stipulated equity injection requirements
of various projects on the Mainland and their construction payment
schedules in addition to other working capital requirements. After
netting off total borrowings, all unsecured, of HK$20,901 million, the
Group had net cash of HK$7,373 million as at June 30, 2011.

To diversify our sources of funding, we established a Medium Term
Note ("MTN") Program to the extent of US$2 billion during the year
as an alternate source of debt financing. With the establishment

of this Program, the amount of un-drawn banking facilities was
correspondingly reduced to HK$11,944 million from HK$17,191 million
in the previous year.
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REME BEPREVERSGENE MBEERRERAEE
Investment Properties, Investment Properties Financing Resources and
Under Development and Properties for sale Capital Commitment
R<A=+AH WANA=+A
At June 30 At June 30
BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
140,000 60,000 $55,818
$121,521 million
million
120,000 9600
100,000
40,000
80,000
30,000
60,000
20,000 o HMARIEE RFHE
40,000 BT
o REME Undrawn credit facilities
Investment properties and MTN issuing
o ENRAYE 10,000 capactty
20,000 Investment properties o B&RIBITHER
under development Cash and Bank deposits
o HFEME - EAENE
0 Properties for sale 0 Capital commitment
07 08 09 10 M 07 08 09 10 M

BEASERYZREGELRENNEE  With our strong cash generation capability and ample financial
CEHBER  BRIBsE NEEEMESI  resources, we are well-positioned to deal with unexpected market
2SS FILBETABRMILRFERE  dislocation or to capture attractive investment opportunities that fit our
BRI N2 IREKS - growth strategy.
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development
Right Choice, Right Place, Right Pace

The Group's long-term expansion plans underpin our strategy to
build up our land bank. Each development project or land acquisition
requires Board approval after thorough evaluation of its various
aspects including the related risk and return. Other factors for
consideration and assessment include relevant government policies,
level of local government support, various economic data and the
adequacy of the infrastructure development in the surrounding

area. Our investment projects in Mainland China are for long-

term commercial usage. Thus short-term market fluctuations and
government policies will have minimal impact on our long-term
development plans.

Each project is managed by a designated professional team with
the relevant skills and experience. Projects are actively supervised
by senior management with regular progressive reviews so that
decisions can be made promptly. A steering committee is also

set up to monitor the progress of each project and to consider and
approve any major changes to the design and construction status.
The construction team is required to report regularly to the steering
committee and the Board.

Internal Control Environment

RightTone

A good control environment sets the tone for good internal controls.
Our simple but effective control mechanisms incorporate fundamental
elements such as close and regular management reviews, the
segregation of duties, budgetary controls, clear, well defined and
specific limits for the various authority levels, whistle blowing
mechanisms, codes of conduct for all staff and trading partners, as
well as the provision of appropriate training for staff development.

Treasury Risk

Right Controls

The Group's activities expose us to a variety of treasury risks. The
risks as stated below are managed in accordance with the Group's
treasury policy approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most of the
borrowings are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are closely
monitored and the Group may adopt relevant measures in managing
the risks including but not limited to the issuance of fixed interest
bonds, if appropriate. Maturities of monetary assets and liabilities are
carefully planned and managed to minimize mismatch and repricing
risks. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group's investments on
the Mainland are managed to the highest possible extent to protect
ourselves under the existing currency regime on the Mainland.
Given that Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United States dollars,
exchange rate risks relating to United States dollar deposits are not
considered significant.
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(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's cash is pooled and centrally managed to achieve
economies of scale. All funding requirements are controlled and
arranged at the corporate level in order to optimize borrowing terms
and facilitate financial risk management. The objective is to ensure
that sufficient funds and banking facilities are always in place to meet
obligations ahead of time. Bank facility maturity dates are properly
distributed to minimize repayment or refinancing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from rents receivable,
installments receivable relating to property sales and deposits placed
with banks. Credit risk on rents receivable is managed through credit
assessment of prospective tenants, payment of rental deposits and
close monitoring of outstanding rentals. Receivables arising from
property sales are protected with collateral on the relevant properties.
Surplus funds will only be deposited with reputable banks that

have sound credit ratings with assigned exposure limits to mitigate
concentration risk.

(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

Right Moves

Market trends and business environments are closely monitored

to ensure that our properties continue to maintain their competitive
edge. Regular maintenance, renovation and upgrading of facilities

are carried out to uphold the safety and quality of our properties.
Adequate insurance covers are in place to protect our properties against
accidental losses and other perils. \We have established internal control
systems to safeguard our assets and protect the Group from possible
malpractices, if any. We also continue to upgrade our environmental
conservation measures to stay ahead of market expectations. An
independent internal audit team carries out frequent reviews and tests
to ensure that internal control systems and policies are adequate, cost
effective and complied with. Proper back-up procedures have been
established to safeguard against potential loss of computer data. A
separate back-up site for our computer system is in place as part of the
Group's business continuity plan.

People Risk

Right Talents

The Group’s remuneration packages are constantly monitored against
market salary trends. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
also ensures that the level of remuneration for directors and senior
management will be competitive. We also encourage staff to take
up training programs to improve their knowledge and skills with the
provision of appropriate financial support for recognized programs.
We also maintain channels for grievance reporting for staff of all
levels. Additionally, exit interviews are conducted to gather relevant
information for future improvement.
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We are committed to promoting sustainability in our environment,
our people and our community.
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Hang Lung’s Environmental Project Team set

up small farms at The Peak Galleria and Burnside Villa to grow fruits and
vegetables, with a mission to create a greener environment and provide
healthy food for staff and guests.
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The viability and success of any organization depends on the
sustainability of its operations - - economically, environmentally and
socially. Our sustainability program thus not only seeks to care for
our environment, but also encompasses building and managing
properties in eco-friendly ways, encouraging community investment
and staff volunteer service, and working to build trust and value for
our various stakeholders.

Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index Series

With our continuous commitment to promoting sustainability in terms
of corporate governance, environmental, social and work contexts,
we were selected to be in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Index and the Hang Seng (Mainland and Hong Kong) Corporate
Sustainability Index, when they were launched in July 2010. These
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indexes provide key benchmarks for the investment community to
assess the corporate sustainability and social responsibility of an
organization or business that it is thinking of investing in.

Caring Company Scheme

We are named a “Caring Company” by the Hong Kong Council

of Social Service, a reaffirmation of our commmitment to corporate
social responsibility and related achievements in this area. The
recognition scheme raises public awareness of good corporate
citizenship as demonstrated by the business sector. Awarded
companies have demonstrated inspiring corporate social responsibility
initiatives through caring for the community, their employees and

the environment.

Business Sustainability

Hang Lung is committed to delivering long-term value and growth
potential to our stakeholders with the highest level of business
management and assurance. The concept of sustainability is
deeply ingrained in our business operations. We therefore adhere
to the highest standards of corporate governance, ensuring

total accountability and transparency throughout our operations.
This commitment is demonstrated at the Board level with our
Chairman, Directors and senior management actively involved in the
development and implementation of our sustainability policies and
practices. More details on our corporate governance measures can
be found in the Corporate Governance section.

Risk Vigilance and Business Continuity
Another important parameter in our business sustainability strategy is
our emphasis on ensuring business continuity and risk vigilance.

In the financial year, we enhanced our crisis management plan with
updated measures that aim at protecting staff, tenants and customers
while maintaining business continuity and minimizing any damage or
loss to our business in the event of any crisis or emergency.

Special drills and emergency exercises, both in Hong Kong and on
the Mainland, are carried out to raise general awareness and staff
preparedness.
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Corporate Values and Code of Conduct

\We place strong emphasis on reinforcing our core values - - Simplicity,
Authority, Integrity and Loyalty (SAIL) - - within the Hang Lung family.
Through various communications platforms, we have been promoting
our culture while driving both integrity and a sense of belonging to the
Hang Lung group.

BB ETR - BEAMTEA
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These values are in turn supported by our enhanced Code of Conduct,
which provides clear guidelines and regulations on the professional
and ethical behavior expected of our people both in Hong Kong and
mainland China. A Secondment Policy was launched in April 2011 to
clearly establish policies and procedures for staff to be seconded to
different locations within the Company.

R OMEE - ME NS
Our SAIL Values - Doing the Right Thing

" EE Simpligity Jk 5 A 1 FEHR Authority
o FLTIERRERF > BETHEEER . BETET o T{EEEBELMN

_I_:T’E%ntuﬁ\ﬁ‘ o EMNBRERTE
o EEERE > EZIMNERER e Staff empowerment = work

REEEENE THERER
Simple work procedures = lean
corporate structure and efficient
work practices

Simple and clear communication
- enhanced transparency and
two-way communication between
management and staff

B H Loyalty
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HER > BB REREE
RARFR&EENR

Sense of belonging = teamwork
and shared goals to work in the
best interests of the Group

ownership together with
necessary and effective
decisions

e BIXL > BaEENGEER
NEXBERE

e Staff culture = highest standards
in corporate governance and
professional ethics
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Company-wideTraining

We adopt appropriate staff training and engagement activities to
reinforce these corporate values within the Company. For example,

in an attempt to promote the integrity value, we share integrity-related
news and good practices via our e-learning platform “Learning Zone"
and internal newsletter “ Connections”

In collaboration with the Independent Commission Against Corruption,
a series of seminars was conducted in Hong Kong that aims to
educate our staff about the highest standards of professional ethics
and enhance their understanding of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance.

Likewise, we have developed yearround anti-corruption training
sessions for our Mainland offices with standardized training materials.

Sustainability in the Workplace

The success of our business relies on our people. We have therefore
built a professional, committed and talented team who will ensure
our sustainable development and future success. Looking for the
best people, we offer a competitive package of benefits. Employee
remuneration is offered along “pay for performance” principles with
outstanding employees receiving additional bonuses on top of their
regular package while directors and executives also receive share
options as incentives and rewards. At the end of June 2011, there
were a total of 2,702 employees, of which 1,068 are in Hong Kong
and 1,634 are on the Mainland. Total remuneration for the year
amounted to HK$773 million.

Developing our Human Capital

Making sure we retain our people, we seek to provide careers rather
than jobs. To this end, we provide extensive and continuous learning
opportunities for staff that cover both personal development and
professional training.
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In 2010/11,
e each Hang Lung staff member received an average of

3 training days

e total company training hours reached an impressive

66,000 hours

\We encourage continuous learning through:
« Structured learning programs
- Talks and seminars on specific topics
« Corporate sponsorship for
external training

« Hang Lung’s unique electronic learning
platform “Learning Zone”
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A Case of Continuous Learning
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Ricky Lee, currently a Property Officer in the Leasing
and Management Division, has been with the Company
for 10 years. Motivated by our external sponsorship program, he began a part-time study program

on property management. With the completion of the course and his commitment to the job, Ricky was
promoted to an administrative staff position, which saw his responsibilities and job exposure expand from
operations to administration. But Ricky is not complacent. He is studying for his Bachelor of Science in Facilities
Management with the continuous support of his team manager and under the Company’s sponsorship.
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Promoting Sharing of Best Practices

As a top-tier property developer that
manages a diverse portfolio of properties

in Hong Kong and on the Mainland, Hang
Lung sees the importance of sharing

best practices and knowledge across its
network, and engaging staff through regular
communication platforms and exchange

=

-
<

BTHER programs.
EEIEINESTE Management Trainee Program

ZAEN —ETHEHE - §AFEL  Launched in 2005 and with an objective to nurture bright youngsters
BIRENFEFT AERERBARESEM - to be Hang Lung's future leaders, this program recruits outstanding
RPBEESHABRELS - AR  university graduates and provides them with development, leadership
MR BELETEHFEHE - WIE  and management training together with job rotation opportunities to
Himmke  EFMMREATHEARATN  give them a thorough understanding of the Company and our culture.
BIERUE ©

—EZ2/——FEFRN BME—FE In2010/11, the program was further enhanced with the addition of
{bstEl - Ml ANBREEAZ] B8 our Human Resources Pilot program, under which an “HR Pilot” acts
[ADERERD | B EMEE - &  as a trainer and mentor, providing career development and coaching
HUEERMEEAAREERIEE - guidance to individual trainees.
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) E B Property Assistant Program

RIEEBZYEESEES  HMFAHE  Seeking to develop a pool of talented property management
HEEE BEEEBNEYWEEIE professionals, this program was launched during the year to recruit
RABEEL . WLHMPIEEREET  university graduates interested in developing a career in property
RSB FTEBETRIGIIE - UESE  management, especially in becoming a frontline management

B ASERRIHAEEEAS - member in our commercial, retail, office and car parking complexes.
F—ERELZARREZIR First Security Training Award

In recognition of our ongoing commitment to
professionalism and continuous learning, we won
the gold award in the First Security Training Award
(Type | Security License, for 500 and under security
personnel) presented by the Vocational Training
Council’'s Security Training Board and the Hong Kong
Police Force.

HAIRFF B R RS S AT
FENES - EBEIR
BRhERBERRA M
[ —EREZ AR &ERE
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BB T LB Rk TEEE 45 Driving Employee Care and a Healthy Work-Life Balance
RFBHAERAREEZE—XBEMEAEE Inourefforts to build a healthy and energetic team for the Company,
DEER - R A— X5 FEE TH  we seek to foster the well-being of our people with a range of quality
TYEEAREREERTE] - B8 T%FE - and balanced work-life programs.
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Social gatherings such as the Christmas party, staff birthday party and
sports events are organized regularly to build team spirit, encourage
the sharing of joyful moments and foster a harmonious working
environment. During the year, activities such as movie appreciation,
local tours, art jamming, yoga and cake-making classes were held to
strengthen the bonding among staff and with their family.

The highlight of the year was our Annual Dinner 2011. As well as
bringing staff together for an enjoyable and entertaining social
evening, this year’'s event provided further cause for celebration. Held
under the theme "“Our Precious 50 Years'’ the event marked both the
successes of our first 50 years as well as our transition into a new
“golden era” in our operations.

To foster quality family life and recognize the important role that
fathers play when there is a new birth in the family, we introduced
paid paternity leave for male employees.

Commitment to the Environment
Hang Lung Properties has been a pioneer in the planning and building
of sustainable properties.

In addition to preserving the environment and conserving world
resources, sustainable building development makes eminent
business sense as it helps to maintain the value of our properties
while also reducing energy and other operational costs.

Hence we support worthwhile causes by relevant organizations on
multiple fronts:

e
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Building for Sustainability
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Associate BXERFRIIFMEERRIFAE ©
Leasing and Management'’s Bonnie Yip (right)
and Management Trainee Christine Choy

have recently been qualified as LEED Green
Associates, named by the U.S. Green Building
Council. Bonnie and Christine are the first

\We benchmark our environmental performance with the highest
standard, namely the gold level of the Leadership in Energy and
Environment Design (LEED) Core and Shell certification issued by the
U.S. Green Building Council. Palace 66 in Shenyang which opened

in 2010 was the first shopping mall receiving such a gold standing on
the Mainland.

All our upcoming projects on the Mainland
have all been, or are being, planned, designed,
constructed and operated with this LEED
gold rating as a major target.

Exceeding these international building
requirements in many instances, all our new
developments on the Mainland include high
performance building envelopes which save
cooling and heating load, and hence the
amount of energy used; renewable energy
facilities such as solar panels and geothermal
heat pumps; as well as extensive recycling
and reuse of waste materials.

Non-Project Development staff in Hang Lung to
attain such a credential.
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Parc 66

Parc 66, our latest world-class shopping complex in Jinan, showcases
the benefits of an active sustainability program. It gained its
“Precertification under the Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design (LEED) for Core and Shell Development Gold Level” in
January 2009 and expects to receive its official gold level certification
at the end of 2011.
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Sustainability building features at Parc 66 include:

¢ Saving Energy

Renewable Energy - - Photovoltaic (PV) panels, total

area equivalent to 11 standard basketball courts,
generate 363,000 kWh of electricity a year, enough to
light an over 4,150-square-meter car park with
650 spaces.

Energy-efficient Lighting - - Lighting control systems are
installed with preset time-management devices, in addition
to energy efficient LED lighting and T8/T5 fluorescent tubes.

High Performance Building Envelopes - - Double deck and
low emissivity glazing facades, efficient solar reflecting roofs
and 4,000 square meters of “greening” roofs
create shielding from extreme heat and cold, thus reducing
demand for airconditioning and heating.

Variable-frequency Coolers and Chiller Systems - - Three
watercooled systems work towards saving a significant
amount of electricity (saving around 400,000 kWh of
electricity per year).

Heat Recovery Systems - - Heat recovered from airside
systems is used to pre-cool or pre-heat fresh air entering
through the mall’s airconditioning systems.

Automatic Fresh Air Systems - - Carbon dioxide monitors
adjust fresh air flow based on the actual volume of people
in the mall, maintaining a pleasant environment while also
saving energy.

¢ Saving Water

Water Saving Features - - Include dual-flushing toilet
cisterns, low discharge faucets and showers, automatic
faucet sensors, etc.

Centralized WaterTreatment Systems - - Collect and treat
36 cubic meters of recycled water every day
for irrigation and non-drinking purposes, sufficient to flush
6,000 pedestal toilets.
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For other commercial projects on the Mainland, we have also set high environmental saving targets:

&S

i)

RE

S RE
SREERES B RES A ES BEES 1B ES 1B RS
Palace 66 Parc 66 Forum 66 Center 66 Riverside 66 Olympia 66
Shenyang Jinan Shenyang Wouxi Tianjin Dalian
BB WA o |BEE o |[EBRetl):  |EHRetwi):  |WEE . [HEE
A (o] . @ || son s N . (o] R (<]
Energy Saving over Saving over AR 219, | AR 149, | Saving over Saving over
Saving over Saving over
BT Office): | BF1& (Office):
PEB g5, |BER 49,
Saving over Saving over
Vi dﬁké@ 40% /}EXé 48% \Pé.‘jf;?-i‘(Retail): fpﬁ\f%(Retail): /ﬁé@ 20% ﬂé@ 20%
Water Saving over Saving VER=Fil 30% VER=Feil 409 | Saving over Saving over
Saving over Saving over
BT Office): | BF1& (Office):
BER g, | AEE a9,
Saving over Saving over
FESEREYIDUL il 5 i . il 5 il 5 i s il 5
Construction Waste | Over 80% Over 80% Over /5% Over 5% Over 75% Over /5%
Recycling
LEED Bix T o Ea T o Ea
Target Gold Gold Gold Gold Gold Gold
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Blue Pool Road, Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, our new residential development on Blue Pool Road
broke new ground, becoming the first project in the world to be
registered under LEED’s Homes International Pilot scheme, which
was launched by the U.S. Green Building Council at the end of
2010. Further enhancing the sustainability of our developments

in Hong Kong, we are also working to gain BEAM Plus (Building
Environmental Assessment Method) certification, which seeks to
improve the life cycle performance of buildings through building
assessment, performance improvement, certification and labeling.

Managing for Sustainability

Environmental ProjectTeam

In addition to sustainable design initiatives, we have set up an
Environmental Project Team (EPT) consisting of representatives from
36 cross-departments in Hong Kong and on the Mainland with the

aim of promoting green messages at all levels across the Company.
Furthermore, 17 Environmental Ambassadors, who have completed
an environmental training course conducted by the Environmental
Protection Department of the Hong Kong SAR Government, have the
task of maximizing participation in these efforts at the operational level.

Eco Galleria atThe Peak

The Peak Galleria in Hong Kong, with its impressive array of
sustainable features, actively plays a public education role to promote
earth-friendly messages to sightseers and students with its
Eco-Discovery Tour.

In the past six years, The Peak Galleria has saved approximately four
million kWh of electricity, which translates into a reduction of around
3,000 metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions, or equivalent to the
amount offset by 125,000 trees.

In recognition of its efforts to conserve energy over the years, The
Peak Galleria won the Energywi$e Label “Class of Excellence” award
presented by the Hong Kong Awards for Environmental Excellence in
2011.
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Eco-Discovery Tour at The Peak Galleria

1. BEEBRS Automatic irrigation system

2. MKEERR Rainwater collection system

3 KEBaER R BEHE  Solar panel and wind-turbine system

4. FrRERs Wish tree

5. BYtRREFENM Sunlight sensor canvas

6. BEEEREI Battery charging station for electric vehicles
84

015
Energywi$e
Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence
3t wmm o,
BARREHEE
Excellence £l

membership no. EW

EREMERAT —T—T/ ——F5%



HEEESRERBE
P LO—B2MT
EEMERTE]F
g HEEESESR
REMFEENEH
WERERRMH @ KRB
- A NI Y
B EEERAEL
REYHEH ©

Wit A IHER R LITE

BAR EENMELIRER — BE
BEESNEREY - FREBHETA
SEEE  E-FRATBAEMN - BE
BEESTKT TNRMETRR BF
AffEhAETREREN - ZBE KA
RS ZERARRN LR _IRREGER
—RREF BFHERE—B=1T8
TRREN  YRFARZRARSN

FEMEFRLEDRA - 18 —8 —+—
BETRREN BEEENFERER

ARBRFFRIESEENEER] L&
BEARE—BART _BILHEREERE
T UHEBESHRESER

tENEEESANR_ZETN\FELE
MERREARTE /U ERET [ /B M ETRER IR
EHEREEAR K - HTT —RIDRE
REANEHRFNEEER ER-F
—EEFREETMNRERFENTARE =
Bt STk Eie  BESF
LRSI EPRE B E - W FIBTH U8
[ LBMETRERBUR S H 5 | FEIR

Promoting Food Recycling

One Grand Tower joined Yan QiTong's “Qil for
Charity” green initiative. Under this social
enterprise program, Yan Qi Tong arranged to
collect waste oil from participating tenants at
a specified time each week. The collected ol
is converted into biodiesel through a filtration,
processing, heating and quality control
process.

Pioneering Sustainability on the Mainland

Our two Hang Lung signature properties in Shanghai, Grand Gateway
66 and Plaza 66, enhanced their leading reputations for committed
sustainability management during the year. Well-known for its
energy-saving successes, Grand Gateway 66 completed 16 energy-
saving initiatives, which aim to save five million kWh of electricity
every year. Recently the development switched its secondary water
cooled airconditioning system to become its primary system, saving
an impressive 1.3 million kWh of electricity annually in the process.
Improved lighting and the better use of LED lighting systems

saved 1.11 million kWh of electricity during the year. Named as a
“Model Enterprise in Energy Saving” by the Xuhui District People’s
Government for the fourth year running, the development received an
incentive award of RMB1.62 million from the authorities to further its
environmental initiatives.

Plaza 66 has implemented a series of energy-saving measures to

its lighting and airconditioning systems since it signed the Shanghai
Energy Saving Improvement Measures Management Agreement with
the Shanghai Energy Saving Services Center in 2008. In 2010, Plaza
66 received an RMB2.12 million incentive award from the municipal
and district governments and was recognized as a “green model”

for Jing'an District and the “Model Project in Shanghai on Energy
Savings” in 2010 by the Shanghai government.
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Hang Lung’s Continued Effort in Energy and Water Savings in Shanghai

‘ 3 RIRADFE B 1R
%EE@E% Future Target Reduction
Grand Gateway 66 07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 2011/12
p
SRS (FRE) Adaenal
Energy 48,350,900 9.73%
Consumption e-.... 46,010,500
wwh | @ O ®--..... 43,234,900 39,024,900
..... ...
)
Carbon Emission 36,300
Equivalent (tons) ®-....... 34,500
........ L _ZTTPSss B 52490 29,300
000 ‘ ................
f TRHEE (KRB0
R
Carbon Offset 108"800 103,500
(number of trees) Treeeeead..., :
@, 91300 87800
FXE (SZ5K) Ad?;t;i}inal
Water 12.5%
Consumption 234,300 259,800 266,000 233,000
(cubic meters) " ST PPPPTTTSY  TTTTTTTTE 00000000 .‘
18 [& &35
Plaza 66
p
ERAE (TRE) Adtﬁtignal
Energy 41,004,800 5%
Consumption e..... 40,576,100
Comumption | @, | 400 e 39243500 | 37,280,300
@ eeeeiiiden.... ®
O s s o)
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.............. .
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Carbon Offset 153:300 152 200
number of trees 2
( ) @, 147200 139800
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Consumption @®........ 333,100
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86 EREBERAT —T— %/ ——FF®H



HERE
Community Investment

ER—RAEHERABETOHRE &
PIZ N BRF AR - WIEHER ©

FA - BAIAEENABBTEE—T
NBET TREHGHEDNSZSREEH
BAaRBEGSEYE B THELER -

Lt SUEERBEREE M ENZEH O
PR IFEIEMT - WIRRER
AL IR ER B EREHERTTH O ©

[ESREER AT
BMESE BT S RS
eRMREAREE]

caringcompany =
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As a responsible and caring organization, we seek to make a
contribution to the communities that we serve.

During the year, we donated HK$18 million to non-profit organizations
and helped raise a total of HK$1.24 million through venue
sponsorships for charitable causes.

Hang Lung Center for Real Estate, Tsinghua University, Beijing
Committed to supporting real estate research, we made a donation
for setting up the Hang Lung Center for Real Estate at Tsinghua
University in Beijing.

A Caring Company

We are named a “Caring Company” by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service, a reaffirmation of
our commitment to corporate social responsibility
and the caring efforts we have made for the
community, our employees and the environment.

NA] > ERBMERIRE
B BIMREFE=T7HEHN
RIDMPR ©

EREAE

BPZBET2REETREEELS -
R EHIHEEEREENTET -
B TAKEE TR E KRB

Reaching Out to Our Community

\We encourage staff to take part in giving back to the society through
volunteer work. Many of these activities are coordinated and
organized by the Staff Volunteer Team, under the auspices of the
Hang Lung Social Club.
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Staff support for these events has always
been generous and the year 2010/11 proved
to be no exception. For example, 30 staff
volunteers took part in the Pink \Walk Against
Breast Cancer 2010 event, helping to raise
funds for the Hong Kong Breast Cancer
Foundation and generating awareness

on how to avert the risks of developing
breast cancer.
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In 2010/11, staff contributed a total of 1,300 hours of volunteer
service to the community, earning us a “Gold Award for Volunteer
Service” from the Social Welfare Department of Hong Kong SAR
Government. During the year, two of our staff received the “Gold
Award for Volunteer Service” in appreciation of their contribution of
200 service hours each to the community.

Nurturing Young People

As the future of our world rests in the hands of our young people, we
place a particularly strong focus on education and education-related
programs.

2010 Hang Lung Mathematics Awards

Started in 2004 by our Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, and the
well-known mathematician and 1982 Fields Medalist, Professor
Shing-tung Yau of Harvard University, this event seeks to nurture
world-class mathematicians in Hong Kong with critical and creative
thinking abilities.

A special ceremony was

held in conjunction with The
Institute of Mathematical
Sciences and the Department
of Mathematics of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in
December 2010 to announce
the winners of the 2010 Hang
Lung Mathematics Awards.
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BEAEXE=E HEBAZESHE/EE  Atended by Guest of Honor Mr Michael MY Suen, GBS JP Secretary

I8 - AT RMOMBEERMAM [E4i1Z  for Education in Hong Kong, a total of eight awards were presented.

B BEEHSBRMKRARIESR - The winning teams and projects were selected by the Scientific
Committee, which consists of top international mathematicians from
around the world.

EEEERX T [BEEE# K A% Discussing the rationale behind this unigue event, our Chairman

BEEEHEFZLIN - B IR said that in addition to discovering Hong Kong's top mathematical

BEHBRY - AEBNEMBERIFE  talent, he hopes that it will help individual contestants discover the

EXBTEA o joys of scientific research, propelling them into possibly pursuing an
academic career in applied research.

[MEZEEEABAIAX ] Knowledge Builds a Better Tomorrow

SEETIBER _ZZNFaIPEHET  Starting in 2009 to assist underprivileged children with their studies,
2 AP FRERENRHENMEBEZ  members of our volunteer team run tutorials, helping the children with
B oORETERIEREHEE  REMR|  their homework and sharing useful knowledge on subjects such as
EEE - FREHL [BBEEIESHZ  health care, environmental care and climate change. A “360-degree
=R UONERE A HES)TE) - E=88E,  Outdoor Learning Series” was introduced during the year, adding
BRI SIF360BE T AU A8  outdoor activities to the program. A highlight in this new series is an
EIR o ecological field trip to the Ngong Ping 360 experience on Lantau.

B

]
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Engaging with Stakeholders

\We seek to build trust and win-win partnerships with our stakeholders
through regular, comprehensive and interactive engagement

programs.
FnEBBTE
Our Stakeholder Engagement Program
HE BREE HEEEE
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
W& E R BRI - By PEHRFEEERM - o HITBMME  REESHREINGE -

Investors and
Shareholders

WEEBERBAE RE -

BEMETE -

FHRRAPEARE ©

Information releases, notices, interim and
annual results announcements.

Investor Relations mailbox and news.
Up-to-date electronic information.

Annual and interim reports.

DHTE RIEEIRE EGHNRIE o
RERBERE ©

Analyst briefings, investor meetings,
overseas roadshows.

Analyst and institutional conferences and
forums.

Annual general meeting.

BT o  MEBFEAEEEIER - o HIMT - B RAPRBUTEBRISHEMGEE o
Government o FRAEEHMERLPMETNTE  MullWERERN | ¢ Regular communication and meetings with
WER - local, provincial and national government
¢ Information notices to relevant government bodies.
bodies.
e Presenting property developers’
perspectives as a Real Estate Developers’
Association of Hong Kong (REDA) member.
[HES25 o ERIRREEHAWRE] NEPA  HFRER

Business Partners

NEEAREMENE -
ERBAMERINENGE @ HERMMESR
REANER -

As a CCBF patron, working closely with the
business community to share information
on environmental issues.

As a REDA member, helping to represent
the interests of property developers.

BRI EH
Management meeting
with shareholders

90

BT R SEIE B 125 R
Government officials visit construction site of our
projects
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Excellent service recognized by serviced
apartment tenants

REEREREL RS
Well-trained staff and high customer
service standard

B0 E EREE EHEER
Stakeholder General Communication Face-to-face Communication
BEE kP o [MHPBLARLEHFE - o TERIEVEZRBETPRBES -
Customers and o WRVEBRNMEEERARZEED - o EERABHBESEHMREG o
Tenants e Online “Tenants Log-on” platform. o RIPHEITRTERELEE -
e Ensuring effective communication between | ¢ Customer desks at individual
property buyers and property management developments.
company. o Regular meetings between management
and tenants.
e Special recreational events for residents.
At [ A FEBT 48 4% o RUIERMRET - MITHMATZ - B SFt@EAM | o AREIGE -
The Community BB o e Corporate Volunteer Program.
and NGOs e Close communication with community and

community organizations about the design,
execution and evaluation of projects.

AERE - ER K

s BMEBEXBMEBREEFR  BHEBNMASERE

o HEEMNMABHERRITEEEH

HrEr B &R E - o HMHERRIFEEHE o
Contractors, o ZERBEEMRE G BRBBELFE - o HEMBEMFNERITEES -
Consultants and | o 2SR EFMNFABRE BAERE - o Regular progress meetings with
Suppliers e Proactive supplier and contractor program consultants and contractors.
on our operational and environmental e Close contact with vendors.
practices. o Relevant seminars and industry events.
e Preparing contracts clearly to avoid
possible confusion or dispute.
e Forging partnerships with competent
vendors and providers.
&8 o FBIEMEREEH M HIEE TREHE - o ANEAERTRIFIRMA B TR ERBEEENK
Employees o (EBEE)RNHAT - ERENEEAS -
o WEBTHIFIIRENER - e All employees are entitled to direct access
o Staff well-being programs formulated to their supervisor or higher levels of
by the Social Club Committee through a management, under our internal Code of
“bottom-up” approach. Conduct.
e Internal monthly newsletter
“Connections”.
e Feedback on training from staff.
H5 o FEBEENR - BE AHLEMSTER - FEE | o REBENMETLHMBEMEREHME o
Media EIERIEEE o o THEHREELTHERSMARE -

e Proactive media program with provision of
press releases, notices, announcements
and other relevant information.

e Briefings and media interviews, e.g. on
results announcements, etc.

e Regular meetings, briefings and interviews
with media.
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1 HJAN
NEREIEE

Interim Results announced

—E——F—-A=+XH
January 26, 2011

2 HFeB

RE PR R
Interim Dividend paid

—E-—fF-A=+MWMA
February 24, 2011

7HuuL

NRFEE —E——%tA=-+hH
Annual Results announced July 29, 2011
10Hoct

HLLHER GBS —E——%+A+=H

(REERRBFAERANELREMS)
Latest time to lodge transfers (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

EERERNBFER
(BHEERRBAFAERASLREMS)
Share Register closed (for attending and
voting at Annual General Meeting)

REBFERE
(B FESHRFRM E2RRBFASES)
Annual General Meeting

(Details are set out in the Notice of Annual General

Meeting accompanying this Annual Report)
BLHEROBE (MARBKREMS)

Latest time to lodge transfers (for final dividend)

EEnERMBFER (RRPREMS)
Share Register closed (for final dividend)

THFEE=+2
4:30 p.m. on October 13, 2011

—E——5+A+HmHEZE+N\H
(BEEMXEREEA)

October 14 to 18, 2011

(both days inclusive)

—E2——%+HA+/\H
FFET+-KIE

R R EE

11:00 a.m. on October 18, 2011
at Registered Office

—F-——F+A=+-8
THEOE=+52
4:30 p.m. on October 21, 2011

—E-——F+A=+mWmA
October 24, 2011
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Proposed Final Dividend payable

—F——%t—-A=H
November 3, 2011
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Exceeding Compliance Requirements
As good corporate citizens, we comply fully with, and in many

cases exceed, the Code Provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as stated in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"“Stock Exchange”).

Our Strong Belief in Governance
Hang Lung firmly believes that strong governance is the foundation

to delivering the corporate objective of maximizing return on a
sustainable basis to its stakeholders over the long term. The core
of the governance structure is an effective and qualified Board of
Directors (the “Board"”) which is committed to maintain the highest
standard of corporate governance, sound internal control and
effective risk management to enhance transparency, accountability,
integrity and honesty, in order to earn the confidence from our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

BREEEMIFDE
Shareholders and Other Stakeholders

L4

ERE
A&t
2MEh
BHE

Transparency
Accountability
Integrity

Honesty

EER

Board of
Directors

T

¢

NS A2 B ED

External Auditors

¢

NEIME
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¢

HiTZEE

Company Secretary Executive Committee

¢

o & &

REALKTHEER = N ED 2 EHAM
Nomination and Audit Committee Internal Auditor
Remuneration
Committee
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A Sound Corporate Culture
As good governance is essential to corporate success, we

instill the core principle of good corporate governance into our
corporate culture through leadership by example, training and
effective internal controls. A sound governance culture starts
from the root. Hang Lung maintains an unparalleled Code of
Conduct which every staff and supplier would be made aware
of and required to adhere to.

Professional and Responsible Management

The Board comprises professionals from different facets of
society who brought in a wide range of business and financial
experience and expertise to the Board. The Board includes

a balanced composition of Executive and Non-Executive
Directors so that there is a strong independent element on the
Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment.
To improve on the function of the Board, three committees,
namely the Executive Committee, Audit Committee and
Nomination and Remuneration Committee had been set up to
take up different responsibilities.

Prudent Risk Management
The Group recognizes the various risk factors it will face in

the operation, and properly deals with them in a manageable
manner by setting a good internal control environment.
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WTARERMHTLEERTHBY EMAA]  The following are the major aspects in which our corporate

Méx+rmEasTRIFTE 2 SFRMESC K. governance practice exceeds the Code Provisions and

BRxETHNEIEHE - Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code under Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules.

i) Exceeds

v HBROTHEESHABYIERTE A strong independent element is maintained on the Board as almost
£ EEZRBEARANBURE - half of the Board is represented by Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

v/ RERFMWESSMARENSAB.  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises only
EHTES - URETETAEHTESE  Independent Non-Executive Directors to ensure no Executive Director
SR EIEASLRXMEEHESZHMNSF  or senior management is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration
B3l o package.

vV BREEeN—_Z—ZT —FEEAR  The Audit Committee met the external auditors three times in 2010/11
BHTESHESN T - EINSRZEET  without the presence of the Executive Board members.
BITTZRE% °

v RAIRERNEETES - ZEFIEZARA  Ourinternal audit department is independent of our operation and
ANElZ AEEERS TG - accounting functions.

v OIMNERZEENEEREREASAE ([BF A External auditors attend annual general meetings (the "AGM") to
g ]) BEREMNRM - answer questions from shareholders.

v RATEFRAMNALE - e T EREEHE  The Company revamped its corporate website as a means of
EIRMEE ML EE S EMNR%¥  communication with stakeholders. Principal corporate governance
EREBRARTIY  HARBE - structures and newsletters are publicly available.
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() The Board
1. Composition and Functions
The Board currently comprises nine persons:

. four Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan,
Mr Philip N.L. Chen, Mr William PY. Ko and Mr H.C. Ho;

. one Non-Executive Director, Mr Gerald L. Chan; and

. four Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S.
Yin, Dr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Simon S.O.
Ip. They possess appropriate academic and professional
qualifications or related financial management expertise
and have brought a wide range of business and financial
experience to the Board.

During the year 2010/11, Mr Philip N.L. Chen and Mr H.C. Ho
were appointed Executive Directors of the Company on July
15, 2010 and September 29, 2010 respectively, and retired and
were re-elected at the 2010 AGM of the Company. Mr Nelson
W.L. Yuen retired as Executive Director of the Company on
July 14, 2010 whereas MrTerry S. Ng resigned as Executive
Director of the Company with effect from July 21, 2010. Dr York
Liao resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company on January 1, 2011.

An updated list of Board members together with their
biographical details is maintained on our website.

The Board is responsible for:

. ensuring continuity of leadership;

. development of sound business strategies;

. availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

. adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and

conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.
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To ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and full awareness of his/her responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, other
regulatory requirements, and especially the governance policies
of the Company, every newly appointed Director will meet with
other fellow Directors and members of senior management,
and will receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment. All Directors are
required to disclose to the Company their offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments.

During the year 2010/11, six regular Board Meetings were held,
including two Board Meetings held outside Hong Kong during
two offsite Board trips. The Board visited Abu Dhabi and Dubai
for studying quality properties, and mainland China for evaluating
the Company’s investment there.

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2010/11 are set out

AIEEREEBT ¢ below:
HE/BTER
Meetings Attended/Held
BER
FWZES
E#%ZEE  Nomination & —E-EF
EZR Audit  Remuneration BEXE
Bz Directors Board Committee Committee 2010 AGM
BUYEHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
B E S.S.Yin 6/6 TEAN/A TEAN/A 11
&% H.K. Cheng 6/6 3/3 1/1 1/1
B4 s Laura L.Y. Chen 6/6 2/3 11 11
Z2H% Simon S.0. Ip 6/6 3/3 1/1 11
B #) 5 * York Liao* 2/3 Al AEFEN/A 0/1
FHTES Non-Executive Director
R 4t == Gerald L. Chan 5/6 NE FAN/A TEEN/A 1/1
HITES Executive Directors*
BRRUR Ronnie C. Chan 6/6 THEREN/A TEAN/A 1/1
BRE% Philip N.L. Chen 6/6 TEAN/A TEFBAN/A 1/
=RE William PY. Ko 6/6 NE FAN/A TEFEAN/A 11
Eg" H.C.Ho" 4/4 TEAN/A TEAN/A 11
MIEE - Remarks:

PR EBIR R —F - A HEBEBUFRTE
= TBHEERERRGRRALFHEZRGZKE -

RERFEN T -TFLATHARERNTES

ERETAER -_Z-ZTFLA -+ ABERTE
F-AT-TELA-HEERFRKFHERIL

VERITERRE °

T OAEEAER_E-TFAATNAARZERRTE

Eo
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*  DrYork Liao resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director on January 1, 2011
and hence ceased to be a member of both Audit Committee and Nomination and

Remuneration Committee.

# Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as Executive Director on July 14, 2010 and MrTerry S. Ng
resigned as Executive Director on July 21, 2010. No Board Meetings were held from

July 1, 2010 up to their retirement/resignation.

*  MrH.C. Ho was appointed as Executive Director on September 29, 2010.
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All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board Meetings. Full Board or Committee papers will be sent
to all Directors or Committee members at least three days
before the intended date of a Board Meeting or Committee
Meeting respectively. Management also supplies the Board and
its Committees with adequate information and explanations
so as to enable them to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before the Board and its
Committees for approval. Management is also invited to join
Board Meetings where appropriate.

All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely
information in relation to our business and make further
enquiries where necessary, and they can have separate and
independent access to senior management. In addition,

all Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible to the Board for
ensuring that procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary
is also a source of advice to the Chairman and to the Board

on corporate governance and the implementation of the CG
Code. Procedures have also been agreed by the Board to
enable Directors to seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense.

Under the Company's Articles of Association, a Director shall
not vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract
or arrangement in which he/she or any of his/her associates
is/fare materially interested.

We have also arranged appropriate insurance cover on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against our Directors and senior management arising from
corporate activities.

2. Chairman and Managing Director

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Managing Director to ensure a balance of power
and authority.

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the
Board. He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive
adequate information, which must be complete and reliable, in
a timely manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

. the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities;
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. all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner;

. good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

. appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with shareholders and that views of
shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole.

He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent
Non-Executive Directors without the Executive Directors
being present. He is primarily responsible for drawing up and
approving the agenda for each Board Meeting, taking into
account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the
other Directors for inclusion in the agenda, or delegates such
responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure
that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. He
facilitates the effective contributions of Non-Executive Directors
and ensures constructive relations between Executive Directors
and Non-Executive Directors.

Managing Director
The Managing Director, Mr Philip N.L. Chen, is a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company and is responsible for:

. operating the business of the Company and implementing
policies and strategies adopted by the Board,

. the Company’s day-to-day management in accordance with
the instructions issued by the Board;

. developing strategic operating plans that reflect the
objectives and priorities established by the Board and
maintaining operational performance; and

. ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control
systems and the conduct of business in conformity with
applicable laws and regulations.

The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
Company'’s various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
Board's approval, the management organization and internal
rules of the Company and recommends the appointment and
dismissal of senior executives.
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3. Independence of Non-Executive Directors

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we
consider the Independent Non-Executive Directors are

still independent.

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board
for more than 9 years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice

of the AGM the reason why we consider the Independent
Non-Executive Director continues to be independent and our
recommendation to shareholders to vote in favor of the
re-election of such Independent Non-Executive Director.

4. Appointment, Re-election and Removal

In accordance with our Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-
election by shareholders at an AGM. In addition, every Director is
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years,
and new appointments to the Board are subject to re-election
by shareholders at the upcoming general meeting. Names of
such Directors eligible for re-election being accompanied by
detailed biographies will be stated in the notice of the

general meeting.

Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors are appointed for specific terms, which coincide with
their expected dates of retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

(Il) Delegation by the Board

The Executive Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
and Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999 and
2003 respectively.

1.  Executive Committee

The Executive Committee of the Board of the Company was
formed in 1989. Its members are all the Executive Directors
of the Company, who meet regularly to establish the strategic
direction of the Company, and to monitor the performance of
management. Clear terms of reference have been adopted by
the Board, and guidelines were also set up for certain issues
requiring Board approval. Each of the Committee members
has full understanding on determining which issues require a
decision of the full Board and which are delegated by the Board
to the Committee or management.
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2. Audit Committee

An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999,
which now comprises three Independent Non-Executive
Directors with appropriate academic and professional
qualifications or related financial management expertise,
namely, Mr Simon S.O. Ip (Chairman of the Committee),

Dr H.K. Cheng and Ms Laura L.Y. Chen. Meetings are held at
least two times a year for the purpose of discussing the nature
and scope of internal audit work and assessing the Group's
internal controls. Separate meetings will also be held with the
external auditors (in the absence of management) as and when
required. The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2010/11.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our
website, have included the duties stipulated in the Listing
Rules.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any
activity within its terms of reference; to seek any information it
requires from any employee and all employees are directed to
co-operate with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain
outside legal or other independent professional advice; and to
secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience
and expertise to their meetings if necessary. Sufficient resources
are provided to the Committee to discharge its duty.

During the year, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia,
the following:

o reviewed and obtained explanation from management and
the external auditors on the interim (unaudited) and annual
results, including causes of changes from the previous
period, effects on the application of new accounting
policies, compliance with the Listing Rules and relevant
legislation, and any audit issues, before recommending
their adoption by the Board;

e  considered and proposed to the Board the re-appointment

of KPMG as the Company's external auditors;

e  considered and approved the procedures and guidelines
in employing the external auditors to perform non-audit
assignments for the Company;

° received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the
Internal Auditor;

° held meetings with the external auditors in the absence of
management to discuss any audit issues;
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3.

held meetings with the Internal Auditor in private to
discuss internal audit issues;

approved the internal audit program for 2010/11; and

carried out an annual review of the internal control system
of the Company including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programs and budget.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003,
now constitutes three Independent Non-Executive Directors,
namely Dr H.K. Cheng (Chairman of the Committee), Ms Laura
L.Y. Chen and Mr Simon S.O. Ip. Regular meetings were held to
review human resources issues, including significant changes
in the salary structure of the Group and terms and conditions
affecting Directors and senior management. The Committee met
once in 2010/11 to review, inter alia, the composition of Board
members and Directors’ remuneration.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our
website, have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as
stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the year
included the following:

reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management;

determined the specific remuneration packages of all
Executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-Executive Director and Independent Non-Executive
Directors.

EEEEERAT — -/ ——FF%



EENEREREABZHFMFE(BRER
FEFCAL R AR HARE) - THER A TR -

AARIR

. FREEM AN -

. BAREEEKZ2HEE
. ERZEBRR &

. REE 2 RBRBF)

ZESYEREEAR  BREAHLEEZ
NNz ¥E EFMRAZFER K
AEZBE - REEMBA ' AR
AR BRI N 2 Bl 2o BE = S AT AR o

ZE SRR RINREUSIERRE - AT
HEENSREEAEHFIH 2 BEB@TISB
ZREFKF - ZEGEREHEHERA
BITERE - ZES#AAEERNES
REEREHEMATESTMNZER -
YAIEBARZREHEXER -

4. BSREEAE
EREEAERREPEESTRSAL
B REERSHTEFEETREAEE
ZHEEERTHRER -EXEREHATE
BEBWES - AR EWLRRBLE
EZRHE - TAIKEARRBMELIRE -
EZREBEEEIFHARAEZEEE
B MITEFERIRE 2 RBEMITE - KE
B EBEE  ERVBHRRLEERE
= URESTEAZARMRA - RAF]
EHEHLSZH BREBEAARRZ
AT °

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on
the following criteria:

. individual performance;

. skill and knowledge;

. involvement in the Group's affairs;

. achievement of business targets; and

. performance and profitability of the Group.

The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal

and external sources for evaluation of market trends and the
competitive levels of remuneration being offered to Directors
and senior management. Sufficient resources are provided

to the Committee to discharge its duty. The Committee may
consult the Chairman and the Managing Director about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other Executive
Directors and have access to professional advice if considered
necessary.

4. Senior Management

Senior management, comprising assistant directors and senior
managers, is responsible for the day-to-day operations and
administration function of the Group under the leadership of
the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear directions to
management as to the matters that must be approved by the
Board before decisions are made on behalf of the Company. The
types of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management
include implementation of the strategy and direction determined
by the Board, operation of the Group’s businesses, preparation
of financial statements and operating budgets, and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. These arrangements will be
reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to
our needs.
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(lll) Directors’ Securities Transactions and Share

Interests
1. Compliance with Model Code

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions
by Directors under “transactions in the Company’s shares”

in our Code of Conduct, which are on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”). The
Company has made specific enquiries to all Directors and
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the Code of Conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions.

2. Share Interests of Directors

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and our
listed subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited (“HLP"), as at
June 30, 2011 are as follows:

KAH 1Bk E
The Company HLP
RIEHRE RIEBHRE
AR 2 R EIE dE
B2 E No. of Shares 42 E No. of Shares
EBEHE Name of Directors No. of Shares under Option No. of Shares under Option
BRRCR Ronnie C. Chan - 11,790,000 - 36,570,000
BRHE S.S.Yin - - - -
PR B Philip N.L. Chen - - - 14,500,000
PREER Gerald L. Chan = = = =
e H.K. Cheng - - - =
BREals Laura L.Y. Chen - - - -
EHR Simon S.0. Ip - - _ _
=iRE William PY. Ko 30,000 994,000 - 25,730,000
BE2= H.C. Ho - - - 5,600,000
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(IV) Accountability and Audit

1. Financial Reporting

Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary. The Company’s
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance and also the accounting principles
and practices generally accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. A
statement by the external auditors, KPMG, about their reporting
responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor's Report
on the Company's financial statements.

The Directors endeavor to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

2. Internal Control

We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
The Code of Conduct details the Group'’s philosophy in running
its business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to
monitor the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its
assets against loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable
assurance against fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in
failing to achieve the Group's objectives.

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing
activities of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives
and senior staff. Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital
and revenue items are prepared and approved by senior
management before being adopted. We monitor the business
activities closely and review monthly financial results of
operations against budgets. We also review and update the
internal controls to meet upcoming challenges.

We take extreme precautionary measures in handling price-

sensitive information. Such information is restricted to a need-
to-know basis.
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We maintain an internal audit department which is independent
of our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal
Auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit
program based on risk assessment methodology was designed
which has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual
basis. On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his
internal audit reviews and findings with the management and
obtains management’s responses on various issues. Internal
audit reports are prepared for the Audit Committee every
quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the
Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal
audit issues. During Audit Committee Meetings, the Audit
Committee also enquires on financial and internal control
matters with the external auditors. The Audit Committee has the
authority to have direct discussion with external auditors in the
absence of management if deemed necessary, and they meet
at least once annually for this purpose. One Executive Director is
present at the Audit Committee Meetings to answer enquiries
from the Audit Committee and to report to the Board on
matters arising.

The Directors acknowledged that it is their responsibility

to maintain effective risk management and internal control
systems and to review them twice a year. The Directors manage
risks by strategic planning, appointing appropriately qualified
and experienced personnel at senior management positions,
monitoring the Group's performance regularly, maintaining
effective control over capital expenditure and investments, and
setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all Directors and
employees to follow.

The Directors had conducted a review covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the financial year ended June 30, 2011, and
were satisfied that an effective and adequate internal control
system had been in operation. Considerations are also given
to the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
the staff of the Company's accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programs and budget. The Directors
came to such a conclusion based on the Company’s clearly set
company policies and procedures, specific limits of authority,
budgetary controls, regular monitoring of performance and the
reports from both the external auditors and the Internal Auditor.
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We identify the risk in land acquisition for future expansion,
the development into world-class outstanding properties that
will let us stay ahead of competitors, maintaining adequate
financial resources for the projects, constantly upgrading the
functions and appearance of our properties to capture the
changes in market and trend, using a centralized treasury
function and limiting the exposure to currency and credit risk,
safeguarding our assets, maintaining adequate insurance
coverage, formulating an appropriate disaster plan including a
separate computer back-up site, providing appropriate training
and competitive remuneration packages to retain quality staff.

The Directors confirm that there have been no major changes
in the nature and extent of significant risks faced by us from
the previous financial year, and the Company has the ability to
respond to any such changes in our business and the external
environment. Furthermore, there were no significant internal
control problems encountered during the year. We closely
monitor our system of internal control, and received further
assurance from the Audit Committee that the internal audit
function has been functioning effectively. We have complied
with the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code in respect of
maintaining an effective internal control system.

3. Code of Conduct
We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994
which is updated from time to time.

The Code of Conduct clearly spells out the Company’s
stance, the legal requirements, conflicts of interest, handling
of confidential information and company property, use of
information and communication systems, avenue for whistle
blowing, fair trading with suppliers and contractors, payment
procedures, responsibilities to shareholders and the financial
community, relationship with customers and consumers,
employment practices, and responsibilities to the community.
In essence, it details the Group's philosophy in running its
business and acts as a benchmark for all staff and suppliers to
follow.

In order to monitor and enforce compliance to the Code of
Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards
and requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result
in the employee being disciplined, including termination of
employment. Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality
will be reported to the Independent Commission Against
Corruption or appropriate authorities. The Executive Directors
will also answer directly to any Board member for impartial and
efficient handling of complaints received from all shareholders
and potential shareholders; customers and consumers;
suppliers and contractors and our employees.
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Also, all employees who are above a designated level are
required to complete and sign a declaration form annually
declaring their interests, directly or indirectly, with the Company
and our subsidiaries and associated companies, so as to make
sure that all operations are managed in accordance with the
highest standards of practice and corporate governance.

4. Auditors’ Remuneration

KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditors by
shareholders at the 2010 AGM until the conclusion of the 2011
AGM. They are primarily responsible for providing audit services
in connection with the annual consolidated financial statements.

FRN A FINERREEIRAE 2 484 a0 During the year, the total remuneration in respect of services
N provided by the external auditors is as follows:

—B——fF —FFF
Year 2011 Year 2010
BYEEET BB
HK$M HK$M
TR ENZE RS Statutory audit services 10 9
75 K H A pR S Tax and other services 3 1
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(V) Communication with Stakeholders

1. Shareholders

Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication
between the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the
Board and of the Committees are normally present to answer
queries raised by shareholders. External auditors also attend
the AGM every year. Notice of the AGM and related papers
are sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days before
the meeting. Each separate issue is proposed by a separate
resolution by the Chairman. The meeting enjoys strong
participation from shareholders.

On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than

5% of our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the
requisition carrying the right of voting at our general meetings,
our Directors shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary
general meeting.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be

sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our
registered address or by e-mail to our Company.
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Our last AGM was held on October 20, 2010 at our registered
office. The meeting was attended by 164 shareholders present
in person or by proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had
demanded a poll on each of the resolutions submitted for
voting, and the shareholders were provided with detailed
procedures for conducting a poll. All resolutions tabled at the
2010 AGM, inter alia, adoption of the financial statements, re-
election of Directors, re-appointment of auditors and renewal of
general mandates were voted on by poll, and the results of poll
voting were posted on the websites of our Company and of the
Stock Exchange in the evening on the same day.
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Number of participating shareholders

The Board proposed to make changes to the Articles of
Association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM to be
held on October 18, 2011. Details are set out in the circular to
shareholders to be sent together with this annual report. The
important shareholders’ dates for the coming financial year,
which include the Board Meetings for the declaration of interim
and final dividends for the year ending June 30, 2012 and the
AGM, are expected to be held at around late January 2012, late
July 2012 and in October 2012 respectively.
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2. Investors

Details of holders of shares by domicile as at June 30, 2011 are

as follows:

R BERE
Shareholders Shareholdings

A8 B BRHEHE EBatk
B ith Domicile No. % No. of Shares %
B8 Hong Kong 2,213 97.83 972,924,357 72.16
R B A i, Mainland China 7 0.31 130,625 0.01
JBRPY Macau 4 0.18 116,075 0.01
=y Taiwan 1 0.04 1,874 0.00
SN N TP B Australia & New Zealand 5 0.22 28,200 0.00
nEXKkER Canada & USA 17 0.75 120,525 0.01
R South East Asia 2 0.09 34,000 0.00
B United Kingdom 6 0.27 22,758 0.00
Hih Others 7 0.31 374,939,828 27.81
st TOTAL 2,262 100.00 1,348,318,242 100.00

R-E——FRXA=tTHZREFKREE
RIFFBIT

Details of holders of shares by holding range as at June 30,

2011 are as follows:

R B BERE*
Shareholders* Shareholdings*

A" B RHOEE Bok
HARE4AE B Holding Range No. % No. of Shares %
1—1,0000% 1-1,000 shares 416 18.39 247121 0.02
1,001 —5,000/% 1,001 — 5,000 shares 778 34.39 2,392,005 0.18
5,001 —10,0008% 5,001 — 10,000 shares 404 17.86 3,377,615 0.25
10,001 —100,000/% 10,001 — 100,000 shares 608 26.88 16,931,910 1.25
100,0000% A £ Over 100,000 shares 56 2.48 1,325,369,591 98.30
st TOTAL 2,262 100.00 1,348,318,242 100.00

* BR AR TN \R2EAREFTRIKFR
MANLT WEEMBZFHREARNNA
NERBPREEREABRAFLEEERT
FARRLtELT N \BLT=8—TZ
=R
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*

incorporating, in their respective shareholdings range, 258

participants of Central Clearing and Settlement System holding
a total of 778,731,030 shares registered in the name of HKSCC

Nominees Limited
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We are committed to disclose relevant information on our
activities to our shareholders and investors through regular
analysts' briefings, press conferences and press releases,
e-mails and our website, apart from our annual and interim
reports. All enquiries and proposals received from shareholders,
investors, media or the public are responded to by Executive
Directors, Company Secretary or appropriate members of senior
management.

The Company'’s information, including the terms of reference

of Audit Committee and Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, is also accessible to all via our website. Hard copies
of the terms of reference of the above-mentioned Committees
are also available on request. Besides providing traditional
financial data, our website also contains the most current
information including properties available for sale and leasing,
latest issued capital, updated substantial shareholders’ interests
in shares, newsletters, major corporate events and frequently
asked questions.
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Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan

Chairman

Aged 61, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972, becoming Chairman
in 1991. He also serves as Chairman of Hang Lung Properties
Limited, the Group’s major publicly listed subsidiary. Mr Chan

is Vice-President of The Real Estate Developers Association

of Hong Kong, Co-Chair of the Asia Society and Chairman of

its Hong Kong Center. He also acts as an advisor to the China
Development Research Foundation of the State Council of the
People's Republic of China. Mr Chan sits on the governing or
advisory bodies of several think-tanks and universities, including
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, the
University of Southern California, USA, where he received his
MBA, and Tsinghua University in Beijing. Mr Chan is the brother
of Mr Gerald Chan, a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

Mr Shang Shing Yin

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 80, MrYin joined the Group in 1970. Holding various
positions on the Board, including Managing Director between
1986 and 1992, he has been Vice Chairman since 1992. He has
over 20 years of experience in the fields of property investment
and development, and is a qualified banker with a Banking
Diploma from The Chartered Institute of Bankers in London, UK.
MrYin also serves as Vice Chairman of Hang Lung Properties
Limited.

Mr Philip Nan Lok Chen

Managing Director

Aged 55, Mr Chen joined the Company and its major listed
subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited, as Managing Director
in July 2010. Mr Chen has more than 30 years of management
experience, mostly in the aviation industry, acquiring a wealth of
experience in Hong Kong, mainland China and beyond. Mr Chen
graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1977 with a
Bachelor of Arts degree and holds a Master's degree in Business
Administration from the same university.
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Mr Gerald Lokchung Chan

Non-Executive Director

Aged 60, Mr Chan has been a Director of the Company since
1986. As co-founder of Morningside, Mr Chan has been active in
venture capital and private equity investments since 1987 He also
serves on the advisory boards of numerous universities including
the University of California, Los Angeles, Harvard University and
Fudan University. Mr Chan received his undergraduate training

in engineering at the University of California, Los Angeles, and
his Doctor of Science degree from Harvard University. He is the
brother of Mr Ronnie Chan, Chairman of the Group.

Dr Hon Kwan Cheng GBS, OBE, JP
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 84, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng obtained
an engineering degree from Tianjin University and a post-
graduate diploma from Imperial College, London, UK, of which
he is a Fellow. He is a past President, Honorary Fellow and Gold
Medallist of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, Fellow of
the Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences, and past

Vice President, Fellow and Gold Medallist of The Institution of
Structural Engineers, Fellow of The Institution of Civil Engineers,
UK, Honorary Fellow of The Institution of Engineers, Australia,
and an Authorized Person and Registered Structural Engineer in
Hong Kong, with a State Class 1 Registered Structural Engineer
qualification. Dr Cheng was a Member of both the Executive and
Legislative Councils and Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority. Dr Cheng is an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Wing Hang Bank, Limited, Agile Property Holdings Limited and
Tianjin Development Holdings Limited. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.
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Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 63, Ms Chen joined the Group in 1997 She has been
involved in the banking, real estate, and financial service
industries for over twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in

the USA. Since 1993, she has been a director of the Sterling
Group — a private investment entity managing investment
portfolios in global capital markets, with a special interest in
emerging markets and high-yield products. In recent years, her
professional career has made the transition into the development
and management of philanthropic programs and activities, and
she is currently the Executive Chair of the Hong Kong based
ZeShan Foundation. On a personal level, she serves on the
advisory councils of the Hopkins-Nanjing Center — a joint
program between the Johns Hopkins and Nanjing Universities,
the Asia Society Hong Kong Center, and numerous non-

profit organizations. Ms Chen holds an MBA from the George
Washington University in Washington, DC, USA, and a post-
graduate certificate in International Banking from the University
of Virginia, USA. Ms Chen is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Hang Lung Properties Limited.

Mr Simon Sik On Ip CBE, JP

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 62, Mr Ip joined the Board in 1998. He is a solicitor

and Notary Public. Mr Ip has a distinguished record of public
service. A former Legislative Councillor, past President of the
Law Society of Hong Kong and a past member of the Exchange
Fund Advisory Committee, he is a Founding Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Education, a Steward of the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, a member of the Advisory Committee on Post-
service Employment of Civil Servants and he also holds honorary
positions in two local universities and Tsinghua University.
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Mr William Pak Yau Ko

Executive Director

Aged 52, Mr Ko was appointed as an Executive Director in
February 2010. Mr Ko joined the Group in 1994 as Senior Project
Manager and was promoted to Assistant Director in 2002. He
was appointed as an Executive Director of Hang Lung Properties
Limited, the Company's publicly listed subsidiary, in 2005 and is
responsible for property development and project management
both in Hong Kong and mainland China. Mr Ko holds a Bachelor
of Arts degree and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from the
University of Liverpool, UK. He also has an Executive MBA
degree jointly awarded by The Kellogg School of Management
of Northwestern University, USA and The School of Business
and Management of the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. A Member of the Royal Institute of British Architects
and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects, he is a Registered
Architect both in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr Ko practiced architecture in the United
Kingdom, United States and Hong Kong.

Mr Hau Cheong Ho

Executive Director

Aged 51, Mr Ho joined the Group in 2008 as Assistant Director
— Finance & Administration. He was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company and of its publicly listed subsidiary,
Hang Lung Properties Limited, in September 2010. He
possesses over 20 years of financial management experience,
having previously held a range of senior positions with major
corporations in the United Kingdom, Australia and Hong Kong. He
holds an MBA from The University of Melbourne, Australia and a
Bachelor of Commerce degree in Accounting from The University
of Birmingham, United Kingdom. Mr Ho qualified as a chartered
accountant in England in 1986 and Australia in 1987
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Ms Bella Peck Lim Chhoa

Company Secretary, General Counsel and
Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs

Aged 41, Ms Chhoa joined the Group as Company Secretary,
General Counsel and Assistant Director — Corporate Affairs on
August 24, 2011. She is a solicitor qualified to practice in Hong
Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Ms Chhoa was head of the legal
department and company secretary of two other companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for a number
of years. She graduated from The University of Hong Kong with
a degree in law in 1993. She also has a Master of Business
Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with
the audited Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding, and
through its subsidiaries, property development for sales and leasing,
property investment for rental income, and other investments. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
also operate in car park management and property management,
and through its jointly controlled entities, are involved in the
operation of dry-cleaning.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Group by
operating segments during the financial year is set out in Note 3 on
the Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities
A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, together
with their places of operations and incorporation and particulars of
their issued share capital/registered capital, is set out in Notes 35
and 36 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the year ended June 30, 2011, and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are set
out in the Financial Statements on pages 131 to 206.

Ten-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last ten financial years is set out on page 207 of the
annual report.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK57 cents per
share which, together with the interim dividend of HK19 cents per
share paid on February 24, 2011, makes a total of HK76 cents per
share in respect of the year ended June 30, 2011. The proposed final
dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on October 18, 2011, will be paid on November 3, 2011 to
shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members on
October 24, 2011.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, both the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's 5 largest suppliers combined and the percentage of turnover
or sales attributable to the Group's 5 largest customers combined
were less than 30% of the total purchases and turnover or sales of
the Group respectively.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 23 on the Financial Statements.

Donations
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$18
million (2010: HK$42 million).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set out in
Note 11 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at June 30, 2011 are set
out in Note 18 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization
Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$152 million (2010: HK$187 million).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at June 30, 2011 are set
out on pages 56 to 61 of the annual report.

Share Capital

During the vyear, the issued and fully paid share capital was increased
by an issue of 9,112,000 (2010: 4,895,000) shares of HK$1.00 each
for total consideration of HK$132,692,250 (2010: HK$31,093,450) as
a result of the exercise of share options under the Company’s share
option scheme.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 22 on the Financial Statements.
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Share Capital of the Company’s Listed Subsidiary
During the year, the Company’s listed subsidiary, Hang Lung
Properties Limited (“HLPL"), issued 18,782,500 (2010: 13,519,000)
fully paid shares of HK$1.00 each for total consideration of
HK$335,112,060 (2010: HK$137,355,880) as a result of the exercise
of share options under HLPL's share option scheme. As at the

date of this report, the total number of shares of HLPL available

for issue under HLPL's share option scheme is 99,003,390 shares,
representing 2.21% of the issued share capital of HLPL. The total
number of shares of HLPL issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options (including both exercised and outstanding) granted to each
participant shall not exceed in any 12-month period 1% of shares of
HLPL in issue.

HLPL also issued 293,864,000 fully paid shares at HK$37.48 per
share to the Company pursuant to a placing and top-up arrangement
in November 2010.

Directors

The directors of the Company as at the date of this report are listed
on page 208 and their brief biographical details are set out on pages
114 to 117 of the annual report. Details of their remuneration are set
out in Note 6 on the Financial Statements.

Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as executive director of the Company
and HLPL on July 14, 2010 whereas MrTerry S. Ng resigned as
executive director of the Company and HLPL with effect from July
21, 2010.

Mr Philip N.L. Chen and Mr H.C. Ho were appointed executive
directors of the Company and HLPL on July 15, 2010 and September
29, 2010 respectively, and retired and were re-elected at the 2010
Annual General Meetings of the Company and HLPL.
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Dr York Liao resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from January 1, 2011.

In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company'’s Articles of
Association, Mr Gerald L. Chan, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Ronnie
C. Chan retire from the Board by rotation at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors are for specific terms (not exceeding 3 years)
which coincide with their expected dates of retirement by rotation
in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a director of the Company was materially interested, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the
end of the year.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at June 30, 2011, the interests or short positions of each of
the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO are as follows:

A7 (H#R) ERMESRAR (F2)
The Company (Long Position) Hang Lung Properties Limited (Long Position)
BET IR AR BET TR iR
Az FRERE [ A A A
BAL (Krzt1) BAL (Frzt2)
i G % of No.of Shares  RH&E % of No. of Shares
Name of No. of Issued  under Option No. of Issued  under Option
EEMA =0 Directors Capacity Shares Capital (Note 1) Shares Capital (Note 2)
IR A Ronnie C. Chan  Personal - - 11,790,000 - - 36,570,000
B - S.S.Yin - - - - - - -
B N Philip N.L. Chen  Personal = = = = - 14,500,000
RéeR - Gerald L. Chan - - - - - - -
eSS - H.K. Cheng = - - - - _ _
G = LauraLY. Chen - - - - - - -
O - SimonS.0.lp - = - - - - _
=iaE A William PY. Ko~ Personal 30,000 - 994,000 - - 25,730,000
GERS] A H.C. Ho Personal - - - - - 5,600,000
M
Notes
1. REXRQATZROBEGEWHESS
Movement of Options under the Share Option Scheme of the Company
AR IR A AT 08 2 IR
No. of Sh der Opti
0. O ares under Option Hﬁfﬂffg
B A 720104 FRITHE 20114 (&%) HBEAN Eal) =)
(B/B/%) 7A18 Exercised 64308 Exercise Price (A /B /%) (BA/B/%)
Date Granted As at during As at per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date
(mmy/dd/yyyy) ez Name July 1, 2010 the Year  June 30, 2011 (HK$)  (mmy/dd/yyyy)) (mmy/dd/yyyy)
05/20/2004 BRRUR Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 = 5,090,000 $9.45  05/20/2005 : 25%  05/19/2014
Sy S5 William PY. Ko 494,000 - 494,000 05/20/2006 : 25%
05/20/2007 : 25%
05/20/2008 : 25%
11/20/2006 BRAUR Ronnie C. Chan 6,700,000 = 6,700,000 $20.52  11/20/2007 : 10%  11/19/2016
Siaa William RY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 11/20/2008 : 20%

11/20/2009 : 30%
11/20/2010 : 40%
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Movements of Options under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Properties Limited

$E?§§ﬁ%ﬂi€ﬁ%2ﬁ§§i

No. of Shares under Option _

- SRIIEE

= R20106  FREE FNITE R20114 (B%) HBEEH g}

(B/B /%) 7A18 Granted  Exercised 64308 Exercise Pice (B /B /%) (R/B/%)

Date Granted As at during during As at per Share  Vested Dates Expiry Date

(mm/dd/yyyy) 4 Name July 1, 2010 the Year the Year  June 30, 2011 (HKS)  (mmy/ddfyyyy) (mmy/dd/yyyy)

05/20/2004 PRAN R Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - - 5,090,000 $9.20  05/20/2005:25%  05/19/2014
=R William PY. Ko 1,330,000 - - 1,330,000 05/20/2006 : 25%

05/20/2007 : 26%
05/20/2008 : 25%

09/01/2005 =R William RY. Ko 500,000 = = 500,000 $12.35  09/01/2006 : 25%  08/31/2015
09/01/2007 : 26%
09/01/2008 : 26%
09/01/2009 : 25%

11/20/2006 BRRS R Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 $1714  11/20/2007 : 10%  11/19/2016
=i William PY. Ko 3,700,000 - - 3,700,000 11/20/2008 : 20%

11/20/2009 : 30%
11/20/2010 : 40%

08/21/2007 PRESR Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 = = 3,640,000 $26.00  08/21/2008:10%  08/20/2017
= William PRY. Ko 2,600,000 = = 2,600,000 08/21/2009 : 20%

08/21/2010 : 30%
08/21/2011 : 40%

08/21/2007 BRER Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 = = 5,600,000 $25.00  08/21/2009 : 10%  08/20/2017
={aE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 08/21/2010 : 20%
08/21/2011 : 30%
08/21/2012 : 40%

09/01/2008 DEA= H.C. Ho 300,000% - - 300,000 $2420  09/01/2010:10%  08/31/2018
09/01/2011 : 20%
09/01/2012 : 30%
09/01/2013 : 40%

12/31/2008 BRESR Ronnie C. Chan 9,240,000 = = 9,240,000 $1736  12/31/2010:10%  12/30/2018
=i William PY. Ko 6,600,000 = = 6,600,000 12/31/2011 : 20%
CIE=1 H.C. Ho 300,000* = = 300,000 12/31/2012 : 30%
12/31/2013 : 40%

02/08/2010 PBRIECR Ronnie C. Chan 6,500,000 = = 6,500,000 $26.46  02/08/2012:10%  02/07/2020
=R William PY. Ko 4,000,000 = = 4,000,000 02/08/2013 : 20%
02/08/2014 : 30%
02/08/2015 : 40%

07/29/2010 PREIHE Philip N.L. Chen - 10,000,000 = 10,000,000 $33.06  07/29/2012:10%  07/28/2020

07/29/2013 : 20%
07/29/2014 : 30%
07/29/2015 : 40%

09/29/2010 OES= H.C. Ho - 2,000,000 = 2,000,000 $36.90  09/29/2012:10%  09/28/2020
09/29/2013 : 20%
09/29/2014 : 30%
09/29/2015 : 40%

06/13/2011 R R Ronnie C. Chan - 4,500,000 = 4,500,000 $30.79  06/13/2013:10%  06/12/2021
PREITE Philip N.L. Chen - 4,500,000 - 4,500,000 06/13/2014 : 20%
=i William PY. Ko - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2015 : 30%
OES=] H.C. Ho - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 06/13/2016 : 40%
B3
Remarks

* WHAEELERZZT-TFARAZTNE (BEREEEZAAAARES) TEE 2 HE -
representing the outstanding share options held by Mr H.C. Ho on September 29, 2010 as he was appointed as executive director of the Company on that
date.

RERFER_Z—TFLATHBREIAARAIREEMEZNITES R ZF+A—HREERZRIEH  BSEARMEE TRERLER
TBEBRARRR=FE-—+_8kREERMEZRKRY -

Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen retired as executive director of the Company and HLPL on July 14, 2010. As at July 1, 2010 and up to his date of retirement, he had share
options to subscribe for 5,500,000 shares in the Company and 30,120,000 shares in HLPL.

REITEER - ZE—ZFL AT —HEEARRIREEMELHTES - R_ZE—ZFL A - HREZRIEHIES  BREAEROBE  AIRE=EZ
NEBNTRARBDE=ZFT=ZaN\+EREREMEZ Y -

MrTerry S. Ng resigned as executive director of the Company and HLPL on July 21, 2010. As at July 1, 2010 and up to his date of resignation, he had share
options to subscribe for 3,088,000 shares in the Company and 23,800,000 shares in HLPL.

ZERDR R BREMEZ KRG HEERD R ATBERERIE =+ /\(D)ERA -

Such interests in share options of the Company and HLPL have been included in Note 28(b) on the Financial Statements.

124 EREMARAR —T—T  ——F455



BRIAEPTIRERSN - W WMARAEFRR
E7EMBMEAR_Z——F A=+
BB AR B SRR RE 2 B -
MR S B E 2 IR R

BRIA EPtsh - RERERESRE - RAA
Bl E B A R A R AR 2o BE
FEARRAER (BREREFZRMEMKH
TNARZFR) AJFEEARRR M
H A ehs 2 B D s (EHERE T an

FERREEMALIRRSKRE
ARG zERRAR

REBFGOIE=A=TGEREAT
Wi 2 BT - 2R RIKIE
EFGRPIEXVE AR BEE D 2 B A
ITRZZE——FRA=THFHBEALARF
ZBtn B 2 e AR B 25
BawE -

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the Company or
any of their associates had, as at June 30, 2011, any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations.

Other than as stated above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors of the Company (including their spouses and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares

As at June 30, 2011, details of substantial shareholders' and other
persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests pursuant to
Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

BARORERRNHE

No. of Shares or

ERTBAZEDLL

Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
Hzt (#2) (%#) (#2) (%#)
EA Name Note  (Long Position)  (Short Position)  (Long Position) ~ (Short Position)
REES Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 498,428,580 - 36.97 -
Cole Enterprises Cole Enterprises Holdings 1 498,428,580 - 36.97 -
Holdings Limited Limited
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 498,428,580 - 36.97 -
Kingswick Investment Limited ~ Kingswick Investment Limited 2 97965,000 - 127 -
Aberdeen Asset Management  Aberdeen Asset Management 3 175,516,454 - 13.02 -
PlcR HEFZ AL Plc and its Associates
Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.  Davis Selected Advisers, L.P 3 66,870,000 - 5.01 -
Bt 5
Notes

1. WERME—EXESHFBE 2RO AR —HRY - BMEES L+ AZEFLES ZKIA ° Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited {55t &S 2 Z5EA ©
These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited was

the trustee of the trust.

Merssion LimitedsBMEAT N \EN+_ENFRENTRED

B -

EHRATEAENTAER TR B EKE A FKingswick Investment Limited

Merssion Limited held 498,428,580 shares, of which 97965,000 shares were held by its subsidiary, Kingswick Investment Limited.

2. Kingswick Investment LimitedFT#A 2 N FHtE N T8 R TRARGD B BIEE Ll ARZEE 25 20 1+/Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited/Merssion
LimitedfiAZMEATFNEE+—BNTEENTRRGO ZEBR -
The 97,965,000 shares held by Kingswick Investment Limited were included in the above-mentioned number of 498,428,580 shares held by Ms Chan Tan
Ching Fen/Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited/Merssion Limited.

3. WEBRMTAREKESNARE

These shares were held in the capacity of investment managers.
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Save as disclosed above, as at June 30, 2011, no other interest
required to be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the
SFO has been notified to the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the usual course of business are set out in Note 29 on the Financial
Statements. None of these related party transactions constitutes

a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at
the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company'’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 93 to 111 of the annual
report.
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B R Auditors

KRBIERENEERITZIREREEARE L A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
RIEAZRE  ERBHEZEEFHE5T  Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting is
BB ARNARIZEA - EZ THEMR  to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
RBFRGERAIL -

AEERw By Order of the Board
NAIME Velencia Lee

ZHEW Company Secretary

B —E——FtA=-+NH Hong Kong, July 29, 2011

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11 127



M o7 W B

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BYZBE®RE
BEREEARABARRE
(EBBEMKZNBERAR)

AAZBED (AT R [3F)) 2 F|&T
FNE-—B=ZT—"AEZEEF_BTAEH
EBEREEEBERAR ([EAA) NEE
MBHE WEAVBRREBERZ
E-——FRA=ZTENGEAWBIRREK
K BERENMBHARAKREREZE L
FENGARER HezERER
RERDEPRNGEARTRER - A
REZEHBRMEREMHEREE
£t e

EERMBRRAAENER

BERAMEFRAAEREREGHMA
SRMO BB BREENRBEL(R
AR MBELGAMBRE  USHEE
MBEBRRELEEMAFORBREEE
HRRREGAMBRERALERN AL
2l AEERE M BRI FERRK
FFEk SR AR M B A B A AR ERL

RBETR S AE
BPNETERERMANERHZEY
BHREFELER - ZFIREREE(A
ARG F1AVEMRTE - EREBER
RWE - R zoh - BPIHmES A
REREMAE - RO IR AHREED
AE - WEAEMA TR BESAREER
BiE-

HACREBEFTESHHASRMNER
AT ERIEITEZ o BRI R
BTERARE  WREI MATER - A
BEEELFEMBHRREDSTFAEM
BARARRERAL -

128

e

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Lung Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) set out on pages 131 to 206, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 30
June 2011, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation

of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

\We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group

as at 30 June 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 July 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Z2-F——F XA =1+HIFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

201 2010
b (E5)
A EE T E in HK$ million Note (Restated)
Ry Turnover 3(a) 5,714 12,580
E WA Other income 4 252 43
BERANEEER Direct costs and operating expenses (1,138) (3,228)
1THE R Administrative expenses (490) (526)
FREFAITEYEE Y AF(EEE)  Operating profit before change in fair value
K& 5 m A of investment properties 4,338 8,869
B YE 7 N FEE Increase in fair value of investment properties 11 3,504 21,626
EEt AR EE S A FE%E)  Operating profit after change in fair value
B 555 A of investment properties 7,842 30,495
758 A Finance costs 5 (139) (120)
[EEE & A alEA Share of profits of jointly controlled entities 13 290 296
B A& A Profit before taxation 3(a) & 5 7,993 30,671
I8 Taxation 7(a) (1,117) (5,119)
REE N Profit for the year 6,876 25,552
FEAE AR - Attributable to:
A%ER Shareholders 23 3,529 13,139
IR A Non-controlling interests 24 3,347 12,413
6,876 25,552
FRE A Earnings per share 10(a)
HIK Basic $2.62 $9.83
s Diluted $2.60 $9.71

MBBERMZD AR BREZ —&D -
FABRREIEIRE IR

profit for the year are set out in note 9.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. Details of
dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE-ZT——F,XH=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 2010
b (&%)
B EEITATE in HK$ million Note (Restated)
REEEF Profit for the year 6,876 25,552
Hih 2 E Kz Other comprehensive income 7(d)
KELEREEZE) T Net movement in investment revaluation reserve (1) 7
BEFINTE A RIBRIBEL Exchange difference arising from translation
ZIEHESR of overseas subsidiaries 2,946 268
2,945 275
AEE2HEHNREE Total comprehensive income for the year 9,821 25,827
EEEmESAAEE Total comprehensive income attributable to:
e Shareholders 4,905 13,247
EISUPE Non-controlling interests 4,916 12,580

9,821 25,827

B IS TR R BT DA SRR 2 — 25D © The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZT——4F XA =1H At 30 June 2011

£ Group /A7) Company
N 20M 2010 2009 20M 2010
i L . - FiizE (E31)) (E31))
AR BELAE in HK$ million Note (Restated)  (Restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
BTEBE Fixed assets
REME Investment properties 94,003 88,633 69,958 - -
BRPRENE Investment properties under
development 21,524 15,326 7570 - -
EETEE Other fixed assets 213 170 125 - =
" 115,740 104,129 77653 - -
KB A RliERS Interest in subsidiaries 12 - = = 14,133 13,624
AEDNAER Interest in jointly controlled entities 13 1,982 1,804 1,643 - =
HiBE Other assets 14 2,130 1,269 1,274 - =
ELRIEEE Deferred tax assets 20(b) 45 40 61 - =
119,897 107242 80,631 14,133 13,624
REEE Current assets
Be RBTER Cash and deposits with banks 15 28,274 11,862 9,632 77 2
P W B v K L e R MR Trade and other receivables 16 1,202 1,632 699 - -
FEME Properties for sale 17 5,994 5,886 7714 - -
35,470 19,270 18,045 77 2
RBEE Current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 7500 3,180 800 - =
FERTBR T R H A e T30 Trade and other payables 19 3,709 3,483 2,387 7 6
FEMFE Taxation payable 20(a) 1,231 1,191 889 - =
“ETNFIH Floating rate notes
EEER due 2009 - - 1,500 - -
12,440 7854 5,576 7 6
REEE /(AF) 2@ Net current assets/(liabilities) 23,030 11,416 12,469 70 (4)
BEABERRBEE Total assets less current liabilities 142,927 118,658 93,100 14,203 13,620
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 13,401 7610 9,166 - =
BEMRARIE Finance lease obligations 21 35 168 287 - =
FERFBARIFE Amounts due to subsidiaries - - - 323 307
EIERIEARE Deferred tax liabilities 20(b) 9,294 8,636 4878 - =
22,730 16,313 14,331 323 307
BERE NET ASSETS 120,197 102,345 78,769 13,880 13,313
ERR G Capital and reserves
XA Share capital 22 1,348 1,339 1,334 1,348 1,339
EiE Reserves 23 57,624 51,634 39,306 12,532 1,974
R e Shareholders’ equity 58,972 52,973 40,640 13,880 13,313
JeEiERs Non-controlling interests 24 61,225 49,372 38,129 - =
R TOTAL EQUITY 120,197 102,345 78,769 13,880 13,313
PR 4% Philip N.L. Chen
BRBKE Managing Director
CEA= H.C. Ho
HITESR Executive Director
IR R M s A SR 2 — 8 o The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE—-ZT——F,XA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011
TRERELS Shareholders’ equity
\ FiERER .
REA  Hifs Gyl Non- BiER
Share Other  Retained @8 controlling Total
. capital  reserves p(ofits Total interests equity
o . N M (WE22)  (WRR3)  (Misks) (Fitzr2s)
EMBETLAE in HKS million Note  (Note22)  [Note23)  (Note23) Note 24)
RIEENFLA-B EFERE  At1July 2009, as previously reported 1334 3811 33487 38,632 36,310 74,942
SHHREH TE Impact of change in accounting policy 2 - - 2,008 2,008 1819 3827
RZZENFLA-A - & At 1 July 2009, restated 1,334 3811 4% 40640 38129 78769
NEERF| (F5)) Profit for the year (restated) - - 13139 13,139 12413 26,552
REREREZDTH Net movement in investment revaluation reserve = 7 - 7 = 7
BERINIBLAAREELE, Exchange difference arising from translation
ERER of overseas subsidiaries - 101 - 101 167 268
TEE2ANGER (87) Total comprehensive income for the year (restated| - 108 13,139 13,247 12,580 25,827
FEERERE Final dividends in respect of previous year = - (722) (722) = (722)
AEEPHRS Interim dividends in respect of current year - - (254) (254) - (254)
Bk Issue of shares 5 2 = 31 = 31
EEREER Employee share-based payments - 53 3 56 78 134
RAERE—RINBARZRE Change in non-controlling interests arising
RO MEEEERERED from decrease of the Group's shareholding
in a subsidiary - (25) - (25) 162 137
BAFHERERRE Divicends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - (1364 (1,364)
[ERTHERERE Repayment to non-controlling interests - - - - (213) (213
R=Z-5%,A=1H At 30 June 2010 1,339 3973 47661 52973 49372 102,345
RIE-SFELA-8 EFERE  At1July 2010, as previously reported 1,339 3973 44918 50,230 46,935 97165
SHHRE FE Impact of change in accounting policy 2 - - 2,743 2743 2437 5,180
RZE-ZF+A-A &3l t 1 July 2010, restated 1339 3973 47661 52,973 49372 102,345
AERRHN Profit for the year - - 3529 3529 3347 6,876
RELEREEDSE Net movement in investment revaluation reserve - (1) - (1) - (1)
BEBINIBARRAES . Exchange difference arising from translation
ERZE of overseas subsidiaries - 1377 - 1371 1,569 2,946
TEELANGER Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,376 3529 4,905 4916 9,821
EEERHBRE Final dividends in respect of previous year - - (767) (767) - (767)
AERRHRE Interim dividends in respect of current year - - (256) (256) - (256)
R Issue of shares 9 124 - 133 - 133
EEREEZH Employee share-based payments - (4) 2 2) 115 13
—ANBARRERNAT Change in non-controlling interests arising
EERRERED from placement of a subsidiary's shares 24 - 2,067 - 2,067 8,829 10,896

RASEE-RHELAT 2 BE
RO MELHERELRS)

Change in non-controlling interests arising
from decrease of the Group's shareholding

in a subsidiary - (81) - (81) 70 (1)

BRFHERERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - (1489)  (1489)
(B TIEERER R Repayment to non-controlling interests - - - - (588) (588)
R-E——-£XA=1H At 30 June 2011 1,348 7455 50,169 58,972 61,225 120,197

IERRM T A BIREK 2 — 87

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HZE—-ZT——F,XA=1HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2011

BisE
AR BB THE in HK$ million Note 20M1 2010
KEEE Operating activities
RELEEB RS Cash generated from operations 25 5,620 10,405
AL Tax paid
BREBEBFER Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (236) (765)
B BIER China Income Tax paid (479) (411)
RELETHzHS Net cash generated from

RE operating activities 4,905 9,229
RETE Investing activities

BEEEEE Payment for fixed assets (6,324) (3,686)

HERFAEMGSIIE  Sale proceeds from disposals of

fixed assets 1 -
BERFZRIHA Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (827) =
?xéf
E WIS Interest received 21 62
BUWAEATIRE Dividend received from jointly
controlled entities 37 36
FEEMEE (Payment to)/Repayment from advances
() BEEX to unlisted investments (1) 1
BB NEER Repayment from jointly controlled entities 75 77
R=EAA &R HR Increase in bank deposits with maturity
PATERZIEM greater than three months (7478) _

WM AR Acquisition of a subsidiary - (15)
ARREZE 2IREFE Net cash used in investing activities (14,306) (3,525)
REEE Financing activities

FILIRITERPTSUE  Proceeds from new bank loans 13,284 9,365

BEBITER Repayment of bank loans (3,180) (8,530)

TR HIREFT/SEE  Proceeds from exercise of share options 133 31

ENFEREMEESA Interest and other borrowing costs paid (306) (304)

ENRERNER Finance lease charges paid (17) (24)

EERE Dividends paid (1,023) (976)

BANEZZSC Fatds Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (1,489) (1,364)

BEIE s zE Repayment to non-controlling interests (588) (213)

Pﬁ%’& GEza ¢ 5 (Decrease)/Increase in non-controlling

) /1 interests in subsidiaries (11) 137

W% BIEERD Proceeds from placement of shares

FTS 3R of a subsidiary 24 10,896 -
BB 2 BRI Capital element of finance lease (119) (106)
BENR-_ZZTNEF Repayment of floating rate notes
BB ER due 2009 - (1,500)
RE /(BR) @& %8 Net cash generated from/(used in)

ZHEFHE financing activities 17580 (3.484)
BERBELEB/Y M Increase in cash and cash equivalents 8,179 2,220
EREE g Effect of foreign exchange rate change 765 =
RtA—RAZERE Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July

RAEZEY 11,852 9,632
RARA=+HzHE Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June

RREEEY 15 20,796 11,852

MR T I AT B RE 2 —H D The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A
summiary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group
is set out below.

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial adoption
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

The Group has decided to early adopt the amendments to HKAS 12,
Income taxes (“HKAS 12 (amended)”), in respect of the recognition
of deferred tax on investment properties carried at fair value under
HKAS 40, Investment property.

Other than the adoption of HKAS 12 (amended), the Group has not
applied any new standard, amendment or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 32).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in jointly controlled
entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise stated in
the accounting policies set out below.

EEEEERAE -2/ ——FF%



1 FESHEX @

(b) MBEHmMREHEEE (8)
BRESGAHKFRSsZ ISk - BIE
EBRATERR ER BEABERK
TR HE - EHETREE - B
SRR BEIDIBEBEBTLR UK
ZIEAERBEATHEBEEZHEMA
EMEL  BEARBREREXREBR
@Lwﬁﬁﬁwﬂﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BEATEL MR R - B 4AR s
HEEETEAE TR -

EIEE S T ER & RGN AERE R
c IR GFHEFTRER A%%m%—
%W HYEFeaxIBAER 2
RETHEMMARAETGEZE - J
FEAEHERT RO BRI AR 2R BRI e 37 o

& 18 [E 1x fE AHKFRSsH: BT /B 1 ¥ 81 7%
WMERBERTENHE MG TRE S
T ERARK 3R o

(c) MIBATRFZRES

MEARRAEEZEH ZAF - EAK
EAEEXE - HEARMMBEEEER
B HERELBARNERRITRERE
BAE - WREMRE RS T ESE M o Bl
AEBEEZRB ZAEHHE o SIS

Rl MR A TREABEEREENE
R -

ERRRA —EABO N DB R ER
A RIITEE E L HI 4 - M E AR E
BARDEM B AKRINREREHEA

R BN - BISHEEEEHE -
KRB AmziREBRKREN 2 AEE

REEGEE ASBRERKA M B R
KA RERIERZEHERS - N
NEBRNIR HMAES 2 ERAREEE
M SERESAMBHRRE 2K
o RERRZHMIIBREREBEL

Tﬁﬁﬁﬁxiéﬁiﬂimiﬁuﬁzmm CIRNIERi s
RRREEBRBE R HBREZ B
1/‘\ °

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 31.

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity, or has the ability in practice to exert de facto
control over the entity, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account.

De facto control exists when the Company is able to exert effective
control by holding a substantial minority interest in an entity of
which the other shareholdings are widely dispersed and thus unable
to coalesce to successfully vote against the wishes of the largest
shareholder.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealized losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net assets

of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by

the Company, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in

the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controller and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the changes
in relative interest, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognized.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company and
other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that
the Group or the Company and one or more of the other parties
share joint control over the economic activity of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method
and are initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the jointly controlled
entities’ net assets. The consolidated income statement includes the
Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly
controlled entities for the year, whereas the Group's share of the
post-acquisition, post-tax items of the jointly controlled entities’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in the

jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity. For this purpose,
the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method together with
the Group's long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity, except
where unrealized losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognized immediately in
profit or loss.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment losses.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group’s share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses and
is tested regularly for impairment.

Any excess of the Group's interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of
a business combination is recognized immediately in profit or loss as
a gain on a bargain purchase.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) Properties

1. Investment properties and investment properties under
development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or

held under a leasehold interest to earn rental income and/or

for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently

undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or

developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are stated in the statement of financial
position at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the reporting date and their fair value
cannot be reliably determined at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognized in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as described in note
1(q).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the interest

is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease, and the same accounting policies
are applied to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 1(g).

2. Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs
include the acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost of development,
borrowing costs capitalized and other direct expenses. Net realizable
value represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

3. Completed propetrties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current assets
and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is
determined by apportionment of the total development costs,
including borrowing costs capitalized, attributable to unsold
properties. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling
price as determined by reference to management estimates based
on prevailing market conditions, less costs to be incurred in selling
the property.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets
1. Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

2. Leased assets

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets under
which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and benefits

of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases of assets
under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits
of ownership are classified as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of an investment property is classified as
an investment property on a property-by-property basis; and

- land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value
of which cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the
building is also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases,
the amounts representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if
lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of such
assets are included in fixed assets and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the cost or
valuation of the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where
it is likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(h). Finance charges
implicit in the lease payments are charged to the income statement
over the period of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period. Contingent rentals are
written off as an expense of the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to the
income statement in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognized in the
income statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the income
statement in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

(h) Depreciation

1. Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.

2. Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to provide so as to
write off the cost, less their estimated residual value, if any, on a
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

(i) Financial assets

1. Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets

with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity which the
Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognized in the
statement of financial position at fair value plus transaction costs and
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment loss. Any impairment loss is
recognized in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

2. Other investments in equity securities

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured are recognized in the statement of financial position at
cost less impairment losses. Other investments in securities are
classified as available-for-sale securities and are initially recognized at
fair value plus transaction costs. At each reporting date the fair value
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognized

in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity, except for impairment losses. When these investments are
derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized
directly in equity is recognized in the income statement.

Investments are recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(j) Impairment of assets

An assessment is carried out at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence that a current or non-current
asset, other than properties carried at revalued amounts, is impaired.
In the case of equity investments classified as available-forsale, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment
below its cost is considered in determining whether the investments
are impaired.

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined and
recognized as follows:

—  For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the
impairment loss is recognized when there is objective evidence
of impairment and measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective rate where the effect of discounting is material.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that
comes to the attention of the Group about events that have
an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such as
significant financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent
period the amount of impairment loss decreases, the
impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.
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1 FESHEEX® 1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(j) EERE@® () Impairment of assets (Continued)

— WAHEEERE  EREREEMEFE - For available-forsale investments, the cumulative loss that
P ERZ R B REEERE R has been recognized in investment revaluation reserve is
xRN a R RPERZRAE reclassified to the consolidated income statement. The amount
BEABEBERAR (REMRSE of the cumulative loss that is recognized in the consolidated
BN RERATECERE income statement is the difference between the acquisition
WHENERZEERGEWER cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization) and
FIERMERREEERETE - 5t current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset
AHEERERGERERPER previously recognized in the consolidated income statement.
ZREBBRTEHE RS W&k Impairment loss recognized in consolidated income statement
B - ZEEEATFELE 2 (EME in respect of available-forsale investments is not reversed
mEgRrEMmEEmKEPER - through consolidated income statement. Any subsequent

increase in the fair value of such assets is recognized in other
comprehensive income.

— WEMIEREBEE  AIKEIEFER - For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount is the
HFHERRFRAEEMEYTRS greater of its net selling price and value in use. An impairment
ZeEe NEREESRTKRES loss is recognized as an expense in the consolidated
B BEBERGERGERPER income statement whenever the carrying amount exceeds
BAX - WAEETREESEZ the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed if
TEFT R B A S B - RE there has been a favorable change in the estimates used to
BB RN T HEE o PO A REE 1B determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of impairment
NEBRAFELEERERBERE losses is limited to the asset's carrying amount that would have
EMETHNEERESBEARR & been determined had no impairment loss been recognized
BEEBZBERERELBSE in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to
FEFAMEE - BERNEZRE the income statement in the year in which the reversals are
BB TR o recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

(k) P& Uk BR =R % L th B LUK (k) Trade and other receivables
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Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses for bad
and doubtful debts, except where the receivables are interest-

free loans or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(n) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between costs and redemption value being recognized
in the consolidated income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1. Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the

guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary

of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because

a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance

with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognized as deferred
income within trade and other payables. \Where consideration

is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognized in accordance with the Company’s
policies applicable to that category of asset. WWhen no such
consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognized as deferred income
is amortized in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as
income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions

are recognized in accordance with note 1(p)(2) if and when (i) it
becomes probable that the holder of guarantee will call upon the
company under the guarantee, and (i) the amount of that claim on
the Company is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in
trade and other payables in respect of that guarantee i.e. the amount
initially recognized, less accumulated amortization.

2. Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. When the time value of the
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognized in the income statement as
follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon the
later of the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue
of occupation permit by the relevant government authorities, which
is taken to be the point in time when the risks and rewards of
ownership of the property have passed to the buyer.

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a straight
line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Lease incentives
granted are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payment receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognized as income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

3. Interest income
Interest income is recognized as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

(r) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated
income statement except to the extent that they relate to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

in which case the relevant amount of tax are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,

and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can
be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions to recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profits, and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse
in the future.

When investment properties and investment properties under
development are carried at their fair value in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 1(f)(1), the amount of deferred tax
recognized is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through
sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognized

is measured based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
reporting date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed to
the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends

are recognized when the liability to pay the related dividends is
recognized.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group
are measured using the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to
the entity (“functional currency”). The financial statements of the
Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange
gains and losses are recognized in the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair values are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the reporting date. The resulting exchange differences
are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to consolidated income statement when the profit or
loss on disposal is recognized.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered
to be related to the Group if:

() the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating policy decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent, or a close family member of such
an individual, or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in
(i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for the
benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that is a
related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the Group's internal financial reporting to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of the Group's various lines
of business and geographical locations. For disclosure purpose,

a reportable segment comprises either one or more operating
segments which can be aggregated together because they share
similar economic characteristics and nature of the regulatory
environment, or single operating segments which are disclosable
separately because they cannot be aggregated or they exceed
quantitative thresholds.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Employee benefits

1. Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-

monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined

contribution retirement schemes, including those payables in

mainland China and Hong Kong under relevant legislation, are

accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by

employees of the Group.

2. Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is measured at
grant date, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted, and is expensed on a straight line basis
over the vesting period taking into account the probability that the
options will vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
share-based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/credited to
the consolidated income statement for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognized as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to share
capital and share premium, together with the exercise price. If the
options expire or lapse after the vesting period, the related employee
share-based compensation reserve is transferred directly to retained
profits.
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2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs,
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations that are effective in

the current year. Of these, the issuance of HK(Int) 5, Presentation

of financial statements — Classification by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a repayment on demand clause, is relevant to the
Group's financial statements. However, the issuance of HK(Int) 5 has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
Interpretation’s conclusions were consistent with policies already
adopted by the Group.

The Group has not applied any new standard, amendment or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period, with the exception of HKAS 12 (amended), in respect of the
recognition of deferred tax on investment properties carried at fair
value under HKAS 40, Investment property. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012, but
as permitted by the amendments, the Group has decided to adopt
the amendments early.

Early adoption of HKAS 12 (amended)

The change in policy arising from HKAS 12 (amended) is the

only change which has had a material impact on the current or
comparative periods. As a result of this change in policy, the Group
now measures any deferred tax liability in respect of its investment
properties with reference to the tax liability that would arise if

the properties were disposed of at their carrying amounts at the
reporting date, unless the property is depreciable and is held within
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather
than through sale. Previously, where these properties were held
under leasehold interests, deferred tax was generally measured
using the tax rate that would apply as a result of recovery of the
asset's value through use.
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&]) (&) Early adoption of HKAS 12 (amended) (Continued)

2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

This change in policy has been applied retrospectively by restating
the opening balances at 1 July 2010 and 1 July 2009, with
consequential adjustments to comparatives for the year ended 30
June 2010. This has resulted in a reduction in the amount of deferred
tax provided on valuation gains as follows:

20T
A
HKAS 12
€ <CHIp)
wE
Effect of
EEERE adoption of
As previously HKAS 12 =7l
LAB¥ A S et & in HK$ million reported (amended) As restated
HE-ZT—ZTFNA Consolidated income statement
_—I- HIEFEZ for the year ended 30 June 2010:
LeEWER
FIESZ Income tax expense (6,438) 1,319 (5,119)
FEIEE &R RRT] Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities 262 34 296
FE(RAEF Profit for the year attributable to:
iR Shareholders 12,404 735 13,139
PR R Non-controlling interests 11,795 618 12,413
FIEEF Earnings per share
E-9/N Basic $9.28 $0.55 $9.83
e Diluted $9.17 $0.54 $9.71
NZZE—ZTF,XA=+H Consolidated statement of financial
ZIRB ISR R position as at 30 June 2010:
BENAIERS Interest in jointly controlled entities 1,627 177 1,804
EIEFRIB B & Deferred tax liabilities 13,5638 (5,003) 8,635
REB R F Retained profits 44,918 2,743 47661
IR A Non-controlling interests 46,935 2,437 49,372
—ZEFHFELA—H  Consolidated statement of financial
Z?v?f:\lﬁﬁ“ﬂji/ﬂ% : position as at 1 July 2009:
B NRIER Interest in jointly controlled entities 1,500 143 1,643
EERIRBE Deferred tax liabilities 8,562 (3,684) 4,878
IREB A Retained profits 33,487 2,008 35,495
FEERR A RS Non-controlling interests 36,310 1,819 38,129
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3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses according to the nature of
services and products provided. Management has determined three
reportable operating segments for the measurement of performance
and the allocation of resources. The segments are property leasing
in Hong Kong and mainland China and property sales in Hong Kong.

Property leasing segment includes property leasing operation. The
Group's investment properties portfolio, which mainly consists

of retail, office, residential, serviced apartments and carparks are
primarily located in Hong Kong and mainland China. Property sales
segment includes development and sale of the Group's trading
properties in Hong Kong.

Management evaluates performance primarily based on profit before
taxation.

Segment assets principally comprise all non-current assets and
current assets directly attributable to each segment with the
exception of interest in jointly controlled entities, other assets,
deferred tax assets and cash and deposits with banks. The
investment properties of the Group are included in segment assets
at their fair values whilst the change in fair value of investment
properties is not included in segment profits.
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3 EBXENHER @ 3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(a) DEPEXEBEREE (a) Turnover and results by segments
EERE BRA% A& A
Turnover Profit before taxation
2011 2010 2011 2010
(&E7))
LABB A ST E in HK$ million (Restated)
2 EB Segment
YEEE Property leasing
— BB — Hong Kong 2,973 2,746 2,438 2,191
— BB — Mainland China 2,738 2,323 2,136 1,905
5711 5,069 4,574 4,096
Y HE Property sales
— &% — Hong Kong 3 7511 2 5,256
nEEER Segment total 5,714 12,580 4,576 9,352
EAbYA Other income 252 43
TEER (KF) Administrative expenses (Note) (490) (526)
RETAREMHEZ A Operating profit before change in fair
T EEHHHZERT value of investment properties 4,338 8,869
1GEY% 7 AEI Increase in fair value of investment
properties 3,504 21,626
—NEBZERE — property leasing in Hong Kong 2,613 7971
—RABEAM Z YEFE - property leasing in mainland China 891 13,655
BrisE A Finance costs (139) (120)
FE(EE & AR &) Share of profits of jointly controlled
entities 290 296
MR A BT A Profit before taxation 7993 30,671

M THRERRREEEER—FE-T=881T (=

Z-FF: —E=THOEERL) - BREERAR

BT RENBRDBERE

BERz R FEHE

i ARERERGESRSRL
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Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payments of $113 million (2010: $134

million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options granted to employees
over the vesting period and which do not involve any cash outflow for the Group.
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(Continued)

(b) Total assets by segments

#8E FE Total assets

3 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

2011 2010 2009
(F%)) (&%)
LB EETTaTE in HK$ million (Restated)  (Restated)
288 Segment
YRS Property leasing
— &% — Hong Kong 56,165 53,331 45,204
— REIR — Mainland China 60,774 51,090 32,703
116,939 104,421 77907
YIZIHE Property sales
— &% ~ Hong Kong 5,997 7126 8,162
DEPARER Segment total 122,936 111,547 86,069
R WG T Interest in jointly controlled entities 1,982 1,804 1,643
Hth&E Other assets 2,130 1,269 1,271
IEIEFAIEE B Deferred tax assets 45 40 61
IR & RIRTTIFX Cash and deposits with banks 28,274 11,852 9,632
1B E Total assets 155,367 126,512 98,676
4 HaWA 4 OTHER INCOME
£ & Group
LAYBETE in HK$ million 20M 2010
IRITH B U A Bank interest income 213 38
JEFmFERHHIEEREUWA  Interest income from unlisted held-to-maturity
investments 1" -
EAbFIBUA Other interest income 2 2
ETREEE ZREMA Dividend income from listed investments 3 3
E el Net exchange gain 21 =
HAty Others 2 _
252 43
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

=& Group
WEMBETTE in HK$ million 2011 2010
BrA A A 2 HIBR T 5B - Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
ARAFANER ZIRITER Interest on bank loans and other borrowings repayable
MEMEEZFE within 5 years 153 145
BRTFEREEZRITEZRFE  Interest on bank loans repayable over 5 years 69 2
BEMRNER Finance lease charges 17 24
HifEE Other borrowing costs 52 136
BES e Total borrowing costs 291 307
o BEESXHEARNE (M) Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (152) (187)
BB R Finance costs 139 120
B HEMEKA Cost of properties sold - 1,865
BIKA  piEEEREER Staff costs, including employee share-based payments
—fE—FT=g&8r (=% of $113 million (2010: $134 million) 773 609
—ZF : —BE=FNEST)
e Depreciation 27 24
EEHANER - BEXAES Operating lease charges, including contingent rentals
—THEBL (ZE %5 of $25 million (2010: $28 million) 13 115
—FTNBEET)
ZEEIE S Auditors’ remuneration
— ZERTS - audit services 10 9
— BiRs R B AR — tax and other services 3 1
WEFTA : and after crediting:
WEME RS W ALE - B3 Gross rental income from investment properties
REESH+—E=TtEE less direct outgoings of $1,137 million
T (ZE—ZF: AELT (2010: $973 million), including contingent rentals
—BEER)  BREINEE of $310 million (2010: $191 million) 4,574 4,096

= THL(CF-FF:
—ENT BB

M BRAVDEZEEHERSFESZ—HN

(ZE—ZTFE JHHZH=) 2 FHRER annum for properties under development.

e

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 1.8% (2010: 2.3%) per
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6 ESKSAEEEZHE 6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of four
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the Directors’ remuneration
packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of Directors
are determined by the scope of responsibility and accountability, and
individual performance of directors, taking into consideration of the
Group’s performance and profitability, market practice and prevailing
business conditions.

RALFNEZ B S BRENABEIIFNTT
Ex-ZZEeRNEFeRTEHES
FofEN MR IR EE - EF A
HRBRBELAERE  EFHNE
®E - BEBARABNKRRLEF ™
SEPIFIRITHEBARRMETE -

(a) E=M<= (a)
EEMaFHmT

Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments are summarized below:

AR EELE in HK$ million ¢ 28 AEEHRIK
REWMz= SB35
Salaries, Group's
allowances BIFETEAL  contributions
#%  and benefits Discretionary  to retirement
" Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 2011 2010
HITES Executive Directors
BRRCR Ronnie C. Chan 06 211 7.9 2.1 317 329
BRIt (Ffik(c) Philip N.L. Chen (Note (c)) 04 19.1 6.3 09 26.7 =
=iEE William PY. Ko 04 9.0 38 09 14.1 6.1
g (Fizd) H.C. Ho (Note (d)) 04 30 14 02 5.0 =
=ER (Frske) Nelson W.L. Yuen (Note (€)) = 0.7 = 0.1 08 305
Rt (i) Terry S. Ng (Note (f)) = 0.6 = = 0.6 16.6
FBTES Non-Executive Director
PREER Gerald L. Chan 0.2 = = = 0.2 0.2
BYFHTES Independent
Non-Executive Directors
BmE S.S.Yin 04 = = = 04 04
PR Laura L.Y. Chen 0.7 = - — 0.7 0.6
g% H.K. Cheng 0.8 - = = 0.8 0.7
EH% Simon S.0. Ip 0.4 = = = 04 03
B (KizEg) York Liao (Note (g)) 0.2 - - - 0.2 0.3
—E——-F 2011 45 53.5 19.4 42 81.6 88.6
i 2010 4.4 52.0 273 4.9 88.6
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6 EERSAEEECHME @

(b) BEBHAL
EREBEHFALT =% (22—
L) ARATEER & (=%
—BE ) AARTYNAES - K
B—BALZESHOT :

6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2010:

four) are directors of the Company and one (2010: Nil) is an ex-

director of the Company. The emoluments in respect of the other

individual are as follows:

% & Group

BB ABETE in HK$ million 201 2010
we Fees 0.2 0.2
e R REYH =S Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5.8 2.8
BT fEAL Discretionary bonuses 2.6 2.1
REBEERIRE T E 2 R Group's contributions to retirement scheme 0.6 0.3

9.2 54

(c) BREHZEAEER_ZT—TFLATH
REZRESNTES -

(d) AZELRER_ZE—ZTFEALA-F
NWBEZTAHTES -

(e) REREAR-_Z—ZTHELA+N
HEK -HE-_ZT——F A=
BIEFE  INFRERKLEZM
CHBANTEE=TEL &
BENRHERWE6EQ)z2ME - —F
NFETZHFEZBEAMEAE
B BRI R E RS B R R HAE
ZHeEmERt+ER -

(f) RETAER_ZT-—ZFLA=-+
—HBFERITESR

(g) BHREAR_T—F—F—H
B EBY IERITE BAS -

(h) BALBISSN EFTEERES
BEARFIREEMEFRAF
(Bt ]) & R 5 5 A £ B
BT D B - A AT R E
5 14 2 B 1 B4 2 15 7 M 528 (b)
HE -

(c) Mr. Philip N.L. Chen was appointed as executive director on 15
July 2010.

(d) Mr. H.C. Ho was appointed as executive director on 29
September 2010.

(e) Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen retired on 14 July 2010. Total emoluments
paid to Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen of $85.3 million for the year
ended 30 June 2011 included the emoluments set out in note
6(a), an ex-gratia payment of $80 million in recognition of his
contribution to the Group, and $4.5 million for the period he
acted as an advisor to the Group.

(f)  Mr. Terry S. Ng resigned as executive director with effect from
21 July 2010.

(g) Mr. York Liao resigned as independent non-executive director
with effect from 1 January 2011.

(h) In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors and
employees of the Company and Hang Lung Properties Limited
("HLP") were granted share options under the share option
schemes of the Company and HLPR Details of the share
options granted by the Company and HLP to the individuals are
disclosed in note 28(b).
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6 EENGAEEEBCHME @

(i) 22— 4FR_ZT—ZFXA
“tTHIFE  @EZERLREER
SRITHRA BN FIEESEBE
B REREMBEARAESR -

7 HZEKRBERAZHE

(a) HFAEWBERAIMIARD

6 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(i) During the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010, there were

no amounts paid to directors and senior executives above for
compensation of loss of office and inducement for joining the
Group.

7 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME

STATEMENT

(a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement represents:

%& Group

2011 2010
(E51)
A BEEITEE in HK$ million (Restated)
REFIIR Current tax

BTG Hong Kong Profits Tax 269 1,034
BEEEREG 2 (Z38) 42 (Over)/Underprovision in prior years (1) 28
268 1,062
P EF China Income Tax 487 416
755 1,478

IRIERRIE Deferred tax
EYEZ N EED) Change in fair value of investment properties 222 3,414
H )R B & BBt =5 Other origination and reversal of temporary differences 140 227
a&t (M1EE20(0)) Total (Note 20(b)) 362 3,641
IR B8Rt Total income tax expense 1,117 5,119

FRNS R RBE RN 2 G5 E
RUENABDZTARER (ZE—F
FrEDZTAHMA) FE - HEME
MEBRPBECEMENEZA I Z =T
F(ZE-ZTF : BoZ2_thH) &
KMHPBBEMASRIZERREE - 5l
EBRNREPEAMZINERECRE
BE-_FTEN\F-A—BEELZEF
ATk S 2 B B 7812 B 5 2 N Ta R
PSR -

(b) BE-T——FA=THILFE
ZEHRERARA-THEEST
—E-ZF (8 RAET)
EEFAREEERRENA
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Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2010:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. China
Income Tax mainly represents China Corporate Income Tax calculated
at 25% (2010: 25%) and China withholding income tax at the
applicable rates. A withholding tax of 5% is levied on the Hong Kong
companies in respect of dividend distributions arising from profits

of foreign investment enterprises in mainland China earned after 1
January 2008.

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the year ended
30 June 2011 of $15 million (2010 (restated): $6 million) is
included in the share of profits of jointly controlled entities.

EREEERAR —T—T / —— 54§



7 HZEWRBERAZBIE @ 7 TAXATION INTHE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT continued)
(c) MEZTLEBRBAEFIABEHATE () Reconciliation between actual tax expense and profit before
ETE 2 RE taxation at applicable tax rates:
%& Group
2011 2010
(E7)

NEEBETHE in HK$ million (Restated)
MRFR BT A Profit before taxation 7993 30,671
B ADREA AE B R Rt E Tax on profit before taxation at applicable rates

Z A 1,634 6,462
i RNl b | Wl - Tax effect of share of profits of jointly controlled entities (15) (6)
IEFEFHWA 2 FiTET & Tax effect of non-taxable income (515) (1,368)
RS 2 FIRR 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 30 35
EEFRA2MBEIBREMA]  Tax effect of tax losses utilized and other

MBS =R 2 FiTa s 2 deductible temporary differences (80) (85)
RERZHIBER 2 THIBR2Z  Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 62 45
Hity Others 2 8
BEEERE Y (%12),/ V32 (Over)/Underprovision in prior years (1) 28
ERFIEY H Actual tax expense 1,117 5,119

(d)
AHERBTE -
8 MREMLAR

BRREEANBEARNRFMBHRERA
ZHMNTHEETFRAEET (ZE—F

FR - EHEMEERE NARRE  (d)

There is no tax effect relating to the components of the other
comprehensive income for the year.

8 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of $1,455
million (2010: $1,403 million) which has been dealt with in the

F:+OEZT=BETL) - financial statements of the Company.
9 KRE 9 DIVIDENDS
(a) TFEERE (a) Dividends attributable to the year
NEMBETTAE in HK$ million 201 2010
B =Nk AL S Interim dividend declared
=Skl and paid of 19 cents
(ZZ=—ZF : +AMl) (2010: 19 cents) per share 256 254
REEE BBBIRAIIRE Final dividend of 57 cents
SRR AL (2010: 57 cents) per share proposed
(—E—ZF : 5+ after the reporting date 769 763
1,025 1,017

BRERIKZ REBE

=+
fiurs]
7,%,%%% RzafE-

(b)

B-FT-—EERT) -

© I EFERR

—EERRFEZ2EESTE  (b)
E{%Eiﬁ,ﬁﬁﬂﬁ,@ﬁ(‘_f——iﬂﬂk
FEHERRSE (ZF—

=

EE 4

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The final dividend proposed after the reporting date has not been
recognized as a liability at the reporting date.

The final dividend of $767 million for financial year 2010 was
approved and paid in financial year 2011 (2010: $722 million).
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10 BRER 10 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BREAREZSANTIZATEIE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based
E on the following data:
2011 2010
(&%)
A BB E in HK$ million (Restated)
FUAGTE GRREAR L #8EA%  Earnings for calculation of basic and diluted earnings
2 B (BNAS R pE(E 4T F)) per share (net profit attributable to shareholders) 3,529 13,139
2011 2010
qraE 4=
NESKRTE in million Number of shares
AU ESREREN 7R  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating
INFEEI9 2 basic earnings per share 1,346 1,337
BEEBER 2 BERGO 2 E Effect of dilutive potential shares — share options 1" 16
— IR {0 BARE
AUGTEGREEERF 2% Weighted average number of shares used in calculating
INRESE 5 81 diluted earnings per share 1,357 1,353

(b) BHEEEAMF (FaiEmgy (b) The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders which

BNTESH) > WG ABELTR excluded changes in fair value of investment properties net of
1B R IEIm IR RERs) ZETEMT related deferred tax and non-controlling interests, is calculated
as follows:

2011 2010

(E5)

A EBITEE in HK$ million (Restated)
A% BR FE R AL T Net profit attributable to shareholders 3,529 13,139
REME L N EES 2 E Effect of changes in fair value of investment properties (3,504) (21,626)
FERRER I » 22 Effect of corresponding deferred tax 222 3,414

BENRMIEEMHEZ AFE Effect of changes in fair value of investment properties of

) 2B jointly controlled entities (191) (207)
(3,473) (18,419)

IR A Non-controlling interests 1,677 8,975
(1,796) (9,444)

SR B i E AR A | Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders 1,733 3,695

BIBER R EMERGFFE 2 ZRAF  The earnings per share based on underlying net profit attributable to

V=18 shareholders are:
2011 2010
HAR Basic $1.29 $2.76
e Diluted $1.28 $2.73
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11 BEEE - &8 11 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP

EEH
HEYE
Investment
B properties
Investment under Hib =)
A HBTE in HK$ million properties  development Others Total
RAMESHE ¢ Cost or valuation:
RZZZNF+HA—H At 1 July 2009 69,958 7570 414 77942
& H A (BEE) Exchange adjustment (Note) 212 62 - 274
W — R B R RIFTSE Acquired on acquisition of
a subsidiary 36 - - 36
AE Additions 147 4,348 69 4,564
HE Disposals - - ) )
NSZ )| Increase in fair value 14,261 7365 - 21,626
A S (E) Transfer 4,019 (4,019) = =
RZE—ZFA=1+H At 30 June 2010 and 1 July 2010 88,633 15,326 479 104,438
M—ZE-ZTFLHA—H
5 A% () Exchange adjustment (Note) 1,741 750 3 2,494
NE Additions 166 5,407 68 5,641
e Disposals - - (2) (2)
NTEREN Increase in fair value 3,463 41 - 3,504
R=ZZF——FXHA=1+H At30June 2011 94,003 21,524 548 116,075
ZETINE - Accumulated depreciation:
RZETNFEA—A At 1 July 2009 = = 289 289
NEEHE Charge for the year - - 24 24
& & # e Written back on disposals = - (4) (4)
R-ZE—FF,xA=+H At30 June 2010 and 1 July 2010 = = 309 309
rM—ZE-2F+HA—H
FEH A (BfaE) Exchange adjustment (Note) - - 1 1
AEEGHE Charge for the year = = 27 27
& H & & Written back on disposals - - (2) ()
RZBE——FXA=+H At 30 June 2011 - - 335 335
IREFHE ¢ Net book value:
RZZE——FXHA=1+H At30June 2011 94,003 21,524 213 115,740
RZZE—ZFF,A=F+H At30June 2010 88,633 15,326 170 104,129
EEBEERNSNA=TAH Cost or valuation of the fixed assets
ZXAESGEET ¢ at 30 June is made up as follows:
—E——F: 2011:
HE Valuation 94,003 21,524 - 115,527
AR Cost - - 548 548
94,003 21,524 548 116,075
—EFTF: 2010:
HE Valuation 88,633 15,326 - 103,959
[p#NE] Cost - - 479 479
88,633 15,326 479 104,438
MIEE - RIBM 1S E 2 AEEBSFTBR - ANEE Note: In accordance with the Group's accounting policy in note 1(s), statement of financial
ZHBAES 2 BBEKAKIER (BEEE position items in operations of the Group in mainland China, including fixed assets, are
BE) VRESFAZEXSRERETL - B translated into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting

EEECZERZBOTAELME -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

reserve.

date. The exchange difference relating to fixed assets has been dealt with in the exchange
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11 EEEE - % (%) 11 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)
Y BREFEITET - An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
BERPIREYHE
B Investment properties
Investment properties under development
NEMBETAE in HK$ million 2011 2010 201 2010
B R Long leases in Hong Kong 33,897 31,943 - =
EREINREI 2 Long leases outside Hong Kong 1,201 1,136 3,348 5,948
A HAh 22 Medium term leases in Hong Kong 21,938 21,088 - =
BB EINR ER A 22 Medium term leases outside
Hong Kong 36,946 34,406 18,176 9,378
B B 22 Short lease in Hong Kong 21 60 - _
94,003 88,633 21,524 15,326
(a) AEBEZREMERERTIREY (a) The investment properties and investment properties under

164

FOR_—_T——FXA=THHZF
—AFRAENFEELREXERSE
RABlzadMERBER (EXA
B) RBEELERMSEEEEE
1TfhME -

FA - AEESFBREVERER
RIREYE 2 AFERM=THIE
THABT(ZT—ZTF: 8 —
THREZTREER)  EHhEH
R BRI B RB Y EIEED
T-BEEBRT(ZE—ZTF: £1+=
BARTHEST) °

REBKREYEZREFENRE
BERERNFECEE £ERE
FEARETN\EBATAEBE T (=
E-ZTF:ATHE=ZFT=88
TT) °

AEBHEMETFTEE 2 REFEER
BN BEBARBHIZIFF 2 i
EgEy—FTET (ZT—ZTF -
—FT8T) URBEBFEINAF M
LEFEEZ I EEEYNEET
—E-ZTF: a8 MUK
Bith 32358 2 L MY = F 1Y
BEL(ZZE—ZF: Z_THBES
TT) °

development of the Group were revalued as at 30 June 2011
by Mr. Charles C.K. Chan, Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice), of Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited, on a market value basis.

During the year, an increase in fair value of investment
properties and those under development of $3,504 million
(2010: $21,626 million), including $41 million (2010: $7365
million) contributed by properties under development in
mainland China, is recorded.

The net book value of investment properties of the Group
includes an amount of $5,899 million (2010: $5,433 million) in
respect of an asset held under a finance lease.

The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group included
long leases of $10 million (2010: $10 million) in respect of land
and building held in Hong Kong, medium term leases of $3
million (2010: $9 million) and long leases of $34 million (2010:
$24 million) in respect of land and buildings held outside Hong
Kong respectively.
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11 BEEE -8 » 11 FIXED ASSETS — GROUP (continued)
(a) &) (a) (Continued)
MERERZDEREMEZHS Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income from
WABRERAT+EE—T—BETT investment properties of $5,711 million (2010: $5,069 million).
(ZE—ZF: A +EZERTILE
8T) °
(b) AEERBEZEMRAOEERLIEZFEE (b) The Group leases out its properties under operating leases
MO HEME - ZEHO KA and subleases under finance lease. Leases typically run for an
TRE-ZERTF  HPHpHBERER initial period of two to five years, with some having the option
BED  ENENMEMBER - to renew, at which time all terms are renegotiated. Long term
REAABEAEN R XA leases contain rent review or adjustment clauses and the
BHe 2GR MAKESFHE Group has a regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each
—ELLAIMALEmELN - HATHE year. Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
HBEIAES - H2RERP 2K reference to the revenue of tenants.
AMETE °
RANA=+H AEEREEME At 30 June, the Group's total future minimum lease income
RERPIREYSE - RIETAIHEE under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of investment
ZEERY DY 2 RRERLR properties and investment properties under development were
BT : as follows:
oK) HpFAL Mt
BB EHETE in HK$ million Subleases Other leases Total
2011
—FR Within 1 year 244 4,114 4,358
—FRERATFA After 1 year but within 5 years 46 6,826 6,872
HF® After 5 years - 2,512 2,512
290 13,452 13,742
2010
—FR Within 1 year 365 3,923 4,288
—FRBRFN After 1 year but within 5 years 283 5,191 5,474
HF% After 5 years - 554 554
648 9,668 10,316

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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12 MBARIRER

12 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

A A] Company

BB RBETHE in HK$ million 201 2010
JE TR - BKANE Unlisted shares, at cost 181 181
FEUSH B A R Z RS Amounts due from subsidiaries less provision 13,952 13,443

14,133 13,624

TEMBRRZFMERF IS

EUH B AR FIARERA 2R NE
PR RSN - M R TR B R A R 2R
ToEARTERE - BIEERBE
7= o

~\

Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free with
no fixed terms of repayment and classified as non-current assets
as they are not expected to be recoverable within the next twelve
months.

13 E&NAER 13 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
&& Group A7 Company
2011 2010 2009 2011 2010
(&%) (E%1))
A E ST E in HK$ million (Restated)  (Restated)
JEEMRR - FKAME  Unlisted shares, at cost - - - 5 5
EEEEFE Share of net assets 1,285 1,032 784 - =
1,285 1,032 784 5 5
JEWASARFIA  Amounts due from jointly
controlled entities 704 779 872 2 2
JENESLATFIE  Amounts due to jointly
controlled entities (7) (7) (13) (7) (7)
1,982 1,804 1,643 - -

ERELEAFRFRERBESTLtEE T
—E-F ?/\¥t§%ﬁ)%§ﬁ 53

ATLEET (ZT—FF: ta&nT)
BB A & AR FIRE T IH M KGR

o pEdR () é%’& IR R EE

A 2R REREERY - MEARHZ

””*”IET\ RARF+ —EARKE E
 BEEERBEE,AfE -
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Amounts due from jointly controlled entities included a provision

of $67 million (2010: $67 million). Except for the amount due from

a jointly controlled entity of $67 million (2010: $7 million) which

is interest-bearing at market rate, amounts due from/(to) jointly
controlled entities are unsecured, non-interest bearing with no fixed
terms of repayment and classified as non-current assets/liabilities as
they are not expected to be recoverable/repayable within the next
twelve months.
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A BB SN FE36 - IS
A ATZ%@E’HHF‘EJ B H5 B R

13

(Continued)

INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Details of principal jointly controlled entities are set out in note 36.
The summary financial information related to the Group's interest in

jointly controlled entities are as follows:
201 2010 2009
(&%) (E31))
AR BITATE in HK$ million (Restated)  (Restated)
EREBEE Non-current assets 2,004 1,868 1,632
MENEE Current assets 144 129 123
FERBEME Non-current liabilities (804) (910) (921)
MEZN=NE Current liabilities (59) (55) (50)
BEFE Net assets 1,285 1,032 784
201 2010
(E51)
A EE T E in HK$ million (Restated)
e Turnover 200 183
KEZm A Profit for the year 290 296
14 HthEE 14 OTHER ASSETS
£ [# Group

BB ESTTHE in HK$ million 2011 2010
REBZ ETHIRE - &mAE Listed investments in Hong Kong at market value 74 77

BRI LMFEERRE Unlisted held-to-maturity investments in Hong Kong
(BizE(@)) (Note (a)) 863 —
BAEELETRE (FiFEDb)) Unlisted investments in Hong Kong (Note (b)) - -
B TIE LIS EARIREM  Advances to unlisted investee companies less provision 1 10
EmREE (HECe) Intangible assets (Note (c)) 1,182 1,182
2,130 1,269

B 5 Notes:

(a) R_ZT——FXA=+H AEEFHFFELT (@ At 30 June 2011, the Group held investments in unlisted bonds which will mature from
BEFRE  WREBR_Z——FNAZE=F September 2012 to December 2013. The effective yield of the bonds ranged from 1.6% to
—=FF+ZAHH - WEFEEF—HAER 2.9% (2010: Nil) per annum, payable quarterly or semi-annually.

“BAE (ZT-TF &) PARRE RS
B BFEIEFRSE -

(b) BRI EETRE W EIIERTIS UGS (b) Unlisted investments are carried at cost less impairment, if any, as they do not have a

?gfgﬁ%{ %% HERAFE FEREANRRE quoted market price in an active market to determine their fair value.
ul o

(c) BIVEEARAEBRN_TTNFLA—BZA Intangible assets represent goodwill arising from the Group’s additions in equity interests
REMBARIERMEZRAERMELEZHE in its subsidiary, HLP for transactions before 1 July 2009. As at year end, an impairment
B NFHER AEECHEFEHE KOS test was performed by comparing the goodwill with its recoverable amount and no
BEAREAS - WESEESRE impairment was recorded.

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11
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15 BERBITEXR

15 CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

& Group

NEERETHE in HK$ million 2011 2010
FHETER Time deposits 25,848 9,773
RITER Cash at banks 2,426 2,079
RETBARRRAIRE Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated
MARITIE K statement of financial position 28,274 11,852
W =18 B2 2IER9ERITIEER  Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than
three months (7.478) -
LERESNERNEES R Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
NEZEEY cash flow statement 20,796 11,852

MR BARERENR _—_T—FF+
—ANBRNEEFIFEA—BTNE
AFTREBET  BE MRITHERKRNKIE
MEZ_AN N+ ZRBETHEAST - RNZ
E——FRA=1TH AEBZRE K
RITFRBFONEZGFEHNE (=
-5 TH-FE) R EEESD
ok

Following the placement of shares of a subsidiary, HLP in November
2010 which generated net proceeds of $10,896 million, cash and
deposits with banks increased substantially to $28,274 million. At 30
June 2011, the Group's cash and deposits with banks were interest-
bearing at an average rate of 0.9% (2010: 0.3%) per annum with
currency denominated in:

BB AETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
AR Renminbi 23,731 1,848
BT Hong Kong Dollars 3,075 6,831
ETT United States Dollars 1,468 3,173

28,274 11,852

REBFHARBIBITFERUAEMNER  The Group holds Renminbi bank deposits to meet its ongoing

Bl i 3 R IR B R RO REAE
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payment obligations in relation to its development projects in
mainland China.
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16 EWERAR K H AW 16  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(a) Bt ABRWESRNHEMEWF ZE (a) Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables

WERRE BRI DTN T

with the following terms:

&8 Group
LSS R BT E in HK$ million 201 2010
REAN—EAA Current and within 1 month 29 1,258
—Z==1@A 1 -3 months 1 5
=EAKE Over 3 months 3 1
43 1,264

MRZTE——FRZZ—-FFA=1T The balance of bad and doubtful debts as at 30 June 2011 and 2010

B REREHHRBLIERX -

is insignificant.

(b) AEBEZEMEYKEBELENT  (b) Included in other receivables of the Group is deposit of land
NEEBTL(ZT—ZTF : &) R acquisition in mainland China of $798 million (2010: $Nil).

BEAEE T2 g -

17 FEYE

17 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

%8 Group
BB BESTTAHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
HEERRPYE — REME Properties under development for sale — long leases
— BB — Hong Kong 905 800
HECEKYE — P EIER Completed properties for sale — medium term leases
— &5 — Hong Kong 5,085 5,082
— BABEIN — Outside Hong Kong 4 4
5,089 5,086
5,994 5,886
TEERTYEEAPE—FREHS - The properties under development for sale are expected to be

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

recovered after more than one year.
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18 RITEX
RAA=+BEEERITERZIERY
JUNNE

18 BANK LOANS

At 30 June, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as follows:

&8 Group
LSS R BT E in HK$ million 201 2010
—F N HER Within 1 year or on demand 7500 3,180
—FRE-FRX After 1 year but within 2 years - 6,500
MERBRERN After 2 years but within 5 years 11,838 962
FFLAE Over 5 years 1,671 214
13,509 7676
B - AREESE 2 BATS B Less: unamortized front end fees (108) (66)
13,401 7610
20,901 10,790

FA- ABERTEFORTH =-_EERN
AR (ZE-—ZF  TH_EEZDH
NE) FRRETE °

AEBzETEERINHBZORE -
SZEVBROBRANEEREREHEZ
HEAREEFRETSER REEEER
BEREEFEZLEIEERREK
FoFER AEEREE2ETZERY
HYESK ©

R-ZB——FRXA=1+RH AEE%SF
—BE-tAEONTHEST (2%
F:—BET—BAT—BET) XY
RRRITARREE -

o - FR - BEREMEZ —HEEEA
MM B A RRY —EEE=-TEEXTZ
RS ([5HE)) - R_T——%F
NAZTH  AEBYXRELE ST #
TTEMREE -
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All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.3% to
6.6% (2010: 0.3% to 5.9%) per annum during the year.

Certain of the Group's borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group’s consolidated
tangible net worth is not less than and the ratio of borrowings to
consolidated tangible net worth is not more than certain required
levels. During the year, all these covenants have been complied with
by the Group.

At 30 June 2011, the Group had $11,944 million (2010: $17.191
million) committed undrawn banking facilities.

In addition, during the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of HLP
established a US$2 billion Medium Term Note Programme (“the
Programme”). At 30 June 2011, the Group has not issued any note
under the Programme.
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19 BRI H AR 19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

£ B Group 72 7] Company
BB RBETHE in HK$ million 201 2010 201 2010
FERR KRBT E R Creditors and accrued
(FftE(a)) expenses (Note (a)) 2,339 2,247 7 6
Bz s (BisEDb)) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,370 1,236 - =
3,709 3,483 7 6
B5E - Notes:
(a) ENRLEFEREEBHNR—FATEEN (@ Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $237 million (2010:
ZRBREB_B=TLtEET (ZE—FTF: $183 million) which is not expected to be settled within one year.

CAS -V

(b) BUREEEtEATNEEBL(ZZ—ZF:+ (b Deposits received of $798 million (2010: $791 million) are not expected to be settled within
BAT—E8x) BHR—FATEERN - one year.

Bt ABRNERR R EMEMNKRZENMNEE  Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the

HERERSTAT : following ageing analysis:
%8 Group
B BBITAE in HK$ million 20M 2010
—1& A R EEE Due within 1 month 1,467 1461
=B AEFIE Due after 3 months 250 191
1,717 1,652
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20 REBAR Rz EZ2BIE 20 TAXATION INTHE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
(a) AFEHIE (a) Current taxation
&8 Group
BB ESTTHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
BFEN GBS Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 269 1,034
i B 15 5 B Provision for China Income Tax 124 116
AFFE 7 BNEBNER Hong Kong Profits Tax payable relating to prior years 838 41
1,231 1,191
(b) EIEFRIE (b) Deferred taxation

& Group

2011 2010 2009

(E51) (E7)

DA HETE in HK$ million (Restated) (Restated)
ELEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 9,294 8,635 4,878
IRIEFI T A Deferred tax assets (45) (40) 61)
EERIRBEFRE Net deferred tax liabilities 9,249 8,495 4,817
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20 REBRRTK E2BIE @

(b) EZERIE ()
RIEFATBHRRAR LR ZELEHIESR
& (BE) NEAKRNERNZEBHINT

20 TAXATION INTHE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred taxation (Continued)

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized in the

consolidated statement of financial position and the movements

during the year are as follows:

WEBRETHE in HKS million FESHE
ZNiEH
e
Depreciation RHEERE
alowances  WIEEM EZBRER
inexcess  Revaluation Future
of related of  benefit of Hith g
ERTIREER : Deferred tax arising from: depreciation  properties  tax losses Others Total
R=ZEENEFLA—H " At 1 July 2009, as previously reported 1,006 7556 (31) (30) 8,501
TERRSE
SHERED 2 (Ki2) Impact of change in accounting policy (Note 2) = (3,684) = = (3,684)
R-ZEZNFHA—A - &7 At 1 July 2009, restated 1,006 3,872 (31) (30) 4817
JNESR TS Charged to exchange reserve 2 35 = - 37
AR AR /(BA)  Charged/(Credited) to consolidated income
(Z5)) (FtE70) statement (restated) (Note 7(al) 137 3414 9) 9 3,641
RZZ—ZFA=1H At 30 June 2010 1,145 7321 (40) 69 8,495
i e S gl = At 1 July 2010, as previously reported 1,145 12,324 (40) 69 13,498
TFERE
SHEREY FE (H72) Impact of change in accounting policy (Note 2) = (5,009) = = (5,009)
R-ZE-ZFELA—H &Y At 1 July 2010, restated 1,145 7321 (40) 69 8,495

NESR A RS Charged to exchange reserve 39 353 = = 392
Mg alasRIig /(BA) Charged/(Credited) to consolidated income

(PzE7() statement (Note 7(al) 124 222 (5) 21 362
R-E——ExA=1H At 30 June 2011 1,308 7896 (45) 90 9,249

(c) RERZELEBREE

REEB®HARE THERAR L EHRD
B -_t+tNAE-FTREE L (ZE—F

F:TEEBE-F=8&8T) BKEE
PRELRBRENIAEEFLER B
RZZE——FRA=+8 A AEEH
EBEENBRERBGENIDTFE
HEBEBEBORBEERRERBEE
B EIW R - T B R R A B TR
ERANBEESAFEEDFREE

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect of

tax losses of $2,925 million (2010: $2,423 million) sustained in the
operations of certain subsidiaries as the availability of future taxable
profits against which the assets can be utilized is not probable at
30 June 2011. The tax losses arising from Hong Kong operations do
not expire under current tax legislation. The tax losses arising from
operations in mainland China expire five years after the relevant
accounting year end date.
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21 BhEHENEIE 21 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
BMEBNZLVEN HESBERHEEME  Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their
R present values are as follows:

£E Group

LB HRARK
ZHEE FEFA  mIEAN
ZHE ZHE Ptk

Present Interest ks
value of  expenses Total
minimum relating ~ minimum
lease to future lease
LA R BT E in HK$ million payments periods  payments
2011
eS8 Amounts payable
—F A Within 1 year 133 8 141
—FZEBRFER After 1 year but within 5 years 35 - 35
168 8 176
2010
et & Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 119 17 136
—FRERAFA After 1 year but within 5 years 168 8 176
287 25 312

BMERNREZEBRFFEALE (= The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is 7%

T—FF:LFE) - (2010: 7%) per annum.
22 B 22 SHARE CAPITAL
2011 2010
A S5 NG
BEPEE  Amount MR(AEXE  Amount
Number of share Number of share
of shares capital of shares capital
(B8R (E&mT) (EER @&’
(Million)  ($Million) (Million)  ($Mlillion)
JETE Authorized
BREE—TT Shares of $1 each 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000
BEEITREE Issued and fully paid
HNtEtA—H At 1 July 1,339 1,339 1,334 1,334
RIS (D BAfERT 2 Shares issued under share
BT 2% option scheme 9 9 5 5
WANA=+H At 30 June 1,348 1,348 1,339 1,339
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23 f#fE 23 RESERVES
(a) & (a) The Group
EHE0E Other reserves
flkaENE
BN
Share of EERH
captl BRER
esones  AREERE RAERRE Employee
REEE  ofjinty ot Ivestment~~ EXEEE  chachesed  EBEES EfERER REEH 5k
i Share  confroled  redermpfon revalustion ~ Exchange  compensation Gengral — Other capital it Retained Total
WAL AETE inHKS milion Note ~ premium entites Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve Total profts Teserves
RIERAELA-H AT dly 2009, a5 previousy
RS reported 228 1 2% 8 102 08 T - 38 3487 37298
SHHREHITE Ipactof changein
accounting policy 2 - - - - - - - - - 2008 2008
REEENELA-A A1 July 2009, restated 228 1 2% 8 102 08 7 - 38 354% 39306
&
KEEET () Profit for the year [restated) = = = = = = = = - 13139 13139
ETREDFEZEN  Incease i fairvalue of
listed investrents = = = 1 = = = = 1 - 1
HEIHEL Exchange diference arising
REEL, from transation of overseas
Eiz% subsidares - - - - 0 - - - n - ]
RERRINE Toal comprehensiv income
5 () for the year restated) - = - 1 101 - - - 108 13139 13247
KEEAMRE Finel dvidends inrespect
of previous year - - - - - - - - = 122 122
KEEhERE Interim divicends i respect
of curent year - - - - - - - - - (254) (250)
Kk Issue of shares % = = - . - - . % _ %
[EEREER Employee share-based payments 1 s - - - R i _ 5 3 5%
REEEE-FHE  Changeinnoncontiling
Delz iR inerests arising from decrease
fiEske of the Group's shareholdng
figags ina subsidary - - - - - - - (2 (2 - )
RZE-ZERA=TA At30June 2000 2075 1 % 1 1126 20 pii3 (2 3973 47661 51634
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23 &\ 23 RESERVES (continued)
(a) &8 ) (a) The Group (Continued)
EHE0E Other reserves
lae A
LG
Share of EERH
capa fEsR
esenes  ASEREE REAERER Employee
RAEE  ofjoty Coitl  Ivestment EXER  sheehesed  ERRES EMEIRG REEH e
it Share conroled  redemption  revaluation Bxchange  compensation General — Other capital & Retained Total
WAk AETHHE inHKS milion Note  premium entities Teserve feserve T6SeIVe T€SENVe TSeNVe Tesenve Total profits TESENVes
WZE-FELF-B A July 2000, a5 previously
HEEgE reported 2275 1 2% 15 1126 280 T (2) 3913 4918 48891
SHIREHITE  Impactof changen
accounting policy 2 - - - - - - - - - 213 213
REE-SFEA-H A1 July 2010, restated 2275 1 2% 15 1126 280 T (25) 3913 47661 51,634
&
RERRH Proftfr the year - - - - - - - - - 3509 3509
FHRENTE Decreass in far valug of
LR listed investments = = - ] - . } 3 0 3 B
IREENEY Impaiment osses on listed
ERZRESE investments reclassfied to

profit or loss - = - ) - - - _ ) _ )
BEFINEAT  Pochang diference aising
EAELZESEE  from tiansaton of versees

subsidiaries - - - - 131 - - - 1317 - 131
TEEAENEEE  Totd comprehensive income
for e ear - - - 013 - - S K T
KERRERE Finel dvidends i respect
of previous year - - - - - s - . - ) )
RERRERS Interim dividends i respect
of curtent year - - - - s s - . - (256) (2%
&t Issue of shares 124 - - - . - . - o - 0
EERERT Employee Share-hased payments % - - - - (39 - - 1] J )
—HRBAFRE  Change innoncontioling
iz inerests rising rom
hEzs® placement of a subsidiary's
shares U - - - - - - - 2067 2067 - 2067
REEEE-HE  Change i noncontroling
DA RERD Interests arising flom decrease
EEHE of the Group's shareholding
hiEaEy i subsidary - - = - . . - 8 8 _ 8
RZB--EAR=1H At30 June 201 2434 1 26 1) 2503 m 5 1961 7455 50,169 57624
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23 RESERVES (Continued)

(b) 27 (b) The Company
Efthf& Other reserves
(=B
BX  RERE
BEGEE  Employes 3]
RipifE Capital  share-based f#Ee R et
Share  redemption  compensation General Bt Retained Total
WAKEEHE in HKS million premium reserve reserve reserve Total profits reserves
RZZTAFLA-A  At1July 2009 2,48 2 7 862 3213 8,299 11,512
REEER Profit for the year = = - - - 1403 1,403
REERBRE Final dividends in respect

of previous year - - - - - (722) (722)

REFRERE Interim dividends in respect
of current year - - - - - (254) (254)
£l Issue of shares 2 - - - 2 - 2
EEREER Employee share-based payments 1 = 8 - 9 - 9
W=Z—ZF;A=1H At30 June 2010 and 1 July 2010 2,275 26 ) 862 3,248 8,726 11,974

RZE-FEtA-A
TR Profit for the year = = - - - 1,455 1455
RERRBRE Final dividends in respect

of previous year - - - - - (767) (767)

RERR RS Interim dividends in respect
of current year - - - - - (256) (256)
BTkt Issue of shares 124 - - - 124 - 124
EEREER Employee share-based payments 35 = 33) = 2 - 9
RZE——%;A=+H At 30 June 2011 2,434 26 52 862 3374 9,158 12,532

AEER -_ZT——F X XA=1tHNKHE
ENEEATEAST (ZT—FF:
ETNAST) FRERMmHEARZ

The retained profits for the Group at 30 June 2011 included $97
million (2010: $58 million) in respect of statutory reserves of the

subsidiaries in mainland China.
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23 @ m

(b) 2T ()
BraBREEABRFEZBED R
ZBEBCRAREAD) FOTNIERE
M+ NFREE - REEHREBERER
EEAMFAIHEERSF A TFEZ R
SE)NFEE - WIREBEMHE)(2)Z 5K
KRl EHRFERERESINNER
RIS MR EE ZIE X =25 o Skl
1T - EERNBEREREER
HEMRFETEZRDEBAEZ AFE -
TEREBEERERE SN BAlfty
Ik o HAb B RNEEIETEIEIERIERE
A—RBEEMB ARz #Emby - $IZE
EMRAREARBEEZREFEY
ERE o

RZB——FRXA=1+H  KAar#
DKTRRZFHEEBELA—AREZ
TELT(ZZ-—ZF: AtARNATN
BET) °

EXEHE
AEENEAEERR B2 B ERRE
[EAKBEENAESE  UARRIEHD
BRREMFOERENZD  FARAE
ERARGRE

AEEESR N E MRS REELEARE
B AEAREREEEKFAIEHERDN
WS BORE R & AR R E S
RREZERGTE YERAEEZ
EBAEMEERREZEHHENERE
TEH AR o

AEBEBRNABELRRERENT
SR A R E R SR E B % A R EE R
HENGE - AEREFEREREN
FER L) o FERIRRITE R A
BREAALE  BRE RBITHER - B
BIERCR R M IR A -
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23 RESERVES (Continued)

(b) The Company (Continued)

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section 49H of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The investment
revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net change on the

fair value of available-for-sale securities held at the reporting date
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies in note
1(i)(2). The exchange reserve represents the exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries. The employee share-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to
be exercised, as explained in note 1(v). The general reserve was
derived from retained profits and is distributable. The other capital
reserve represents any difference between the cost of the additional
investment and the carrying amount of the net assets acquired at
the date of exchange when acquiring an additional non-controlling
interest in a existing subsidiary.

The aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at 30 June 2011
was $10,020 million (2010: $9,588 million).

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders, and to secure access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders’
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in the light of changes in
the Group's business portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its gearing
ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account its future
financial obligations and commitments. The gearing ratio represents
the proportion of net debt to equity plus net debt. Net debt
represents bank loans and finance lease obligations, less cash and
deposits with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and non-
controlling interests.
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23 @%@

(b) AT @)

BEARAEE (1)
RZE——FR_ZTE—ZFTFE A=
B REBERMNFIRESKFE - RAFE
HEEMMMBE AR YESDINGEHEE R
TR AR o

24 FFERER
RS RN RNALER (RX
A=1RH) F2EHBANK B QBN
i R EWENNER - F2EHEB
MEBARETEZEEEMEARARKE
THRELBREMFEZHEB AR - FFE
sz EBHHFFEN GRS
%o

—ENBARAEERDMELFZR
EREE
HREEMEE T -—FTF+ - AELE
—EATHBEEBRRD  AEERIER
WEZBRRAEEHADZA+ 8
MEAPEAD 20+ - BERRER
L BEERRAEEEEZEBEME
2R B EIRE - B - R EE
BRASEZMEAR  MERMBEZ
MIEREMEET ARNEE 2 W15 KA
N BEMERERNDR AKRERIE
BHEZ AR 2 BB D BERFAR
SEZERDA -

23 RESERVES (continued)

(b) The Company (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group has a net cash position as at 30 June 2011 and 2010.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

24 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non-controlling interests represent the equity interests and the
share of profit or loss attributable to outside shareholders in respect
of its various subsidiaries that were not wholly-owned by the Group
as at 30 June which are mainly Hang Lung Properties Limited

and certain of its subsidiaries that hold investment properties in
Shanghai. Details of movement of non-controlling interests are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Change in non-controlling interests arising from placement of
a subsidiary’s shares

As a result of the placement of 294 million shares by HLP in
November 2010, the Group’s effective equity interests in HLP
decreased from 52.4% to 49.0%. Notwithstanding the reduction
in the shareholdings, the directors are of the view that the Group
continued to control the financial and operating decisions of HLP In
this regard, HLP continues to be a subsidiary of the Group and the
financial results of HLP continues to be consolidated into those of
the Group. The changes in the Group's equity interests in HLP after
the placement of shares of HLP is directly dealt with in equity of the
Group.
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25 RERKEEK2RE

25 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2011 2010
(&%)
A EE T E in HK$ million (Restated)
FREERT &= A Profit before taxation 7,993 30,671
PR Adjustments for:
IRITHBUA Bank interest income (213) (38)
I FERE RS EREU A Interest income from unlisted held-to-maturity investments (1) =
E b F B U A Other interest income (2) ()
B 15 & A Finance costs 139 120
e Depreciation 27 24
TR E 2 REEE Impairment losses on listed investments 2 =
B E 7 N EE 7 A Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,504) (21,626)
FE(EE &R R&EH) Share of profits of jointly controlled entities (290) (296)
EEREEMA Employee share-based payments 113 134
FeEmES 8N, F (Increase)/Decrease in properties for sale (147) 1,798
HRERZ D Decrease in mortgage loans 1 "
FEUBR SR R H M FEU R 2 Decrease/(Increase) in trade and
S (18h0) other receivables 1,142 (849)
FERR R FERT B R 218 N Increase in creditors and accrued expenses 253 365
BildeE 2 & Increase in deposits received 17 93
RELEHER RS Cash generated from operations 5,620 10,405

26 FIAREE

RANA=Z+THZHARENT :

26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 June, contingent liabilities were as follows:

2 A] Company

BB ABETE in HK$ million 2011 2010
B AR FTESZIRITEE Guarantees given to banks to secure credit facilities
izt 2 &R drawn by subsidiaries 4,201 4361

ARRRAERMB AR 2 EEREAMR
TEERFZERERETMET KA -
AZEEERRTEREZAFEEE
A ERERRE (ZT-FF:
&) o

A
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their transaction price was $Nil (2010: $Nil).

The Company has not recognized any deferred income for the
guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank facilities
for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably measured and

EEEEERAR — T/ ——F4R



27 EKiE
(a) RAA=+BMKRI SRS RS

27 COMMITMENTS
(a) At 30 June, capital commitments not provided for in the

ZEREEWNT financial statements were as follows:
& Group
B BBITAE in HK$ million 20M 2010
[ Contracted for 3,276 4,167
DI YRR Y Authorized but not contracted for 32,201 16,454
35,477 20,621

AR T EBERAEE R E A
ZEBTER REVEHBEEZ L
PR B2 SR AERAAA

The above commitments include mainly the land costs and
construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the Group’s
development of its investment properties in various cities in
mainland China.

(b) ANEBERBETFRNEMTAHEE (b)) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable
EEMAOBERETYE - HETHLY operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
BIELZWERAMEE 2 HAH include contingent rentals calculated with reference to revenue
® o RNANA=ZTAH - RRKDER from the properties. At 30 June, total future minimum lease
ZHSEBEIT payments were as follows:

%£E Group
BB BESTTAHE in HK$ million 20M 2010
—F R Within 1 year 46 92
—FERERFH After 1 year but within 5 years - 46
46 138
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28 EERA

(a) EBRHKRER
AEEDAERERVIREHRERARS
T8l ZETEITZEER —MBLZ
NAIZTAAEE  VHEEESKEE
B-HAEECEESHERE -

BENEEVZEEZEAF S ZET
BOLLER - EREBES LERREFEM
BRAE - 2ERERAIZ2HESTAKE
AT R B %At 8 - BB R Wz i3k TD
BAFEIES ZHER - AEERETF
REORKFMERIEARKEEER
ZiEREBRAEEKERP - AEBAH
B HFOR DB BEFERAREE
I8 DAL 75 SRR R » AEBRF R
ZEFBER-_TEL (ZT—FF:
—Tha&st) MBEARES 2R
HREeRABANTELT(ZE—F
F:m+ET) °

—IHEREFERHIEATEEF B ([87E
T8 B - WREIBI RS HEE
- BXILREDHIRREEZEAA
MUA(ERBR-BIT) 2BDZHE
R HI R - REBEZHRE KL
IS sRENER 2 BRP I e B 7R
Az RERE -  AEERAFEAE
hezgEefREEs=a8 T (=%
—ZF:ZH&T) -

HRANEEZRREET)—HEH R
PSR TE E R PI RO B R R IKET 8 ([HRRR
REHE1]) - BSORINGT S Eoaia & 51 &
ZRREERMER - mHES A — R MEE
B2 BRI B aEEtE -
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme
for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group by an independent corporate trustee and
managed by professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the employees at
a certain percentage of employees’ basic salaries, the percentage
varying with their length of service. When an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his or her interest in the Group’s contributions being
fully vested, forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the
fund. Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct

the trustee to credit dividends to members' accounts out of the
reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be reduced by
the forfeited contributions, but there was no such reduction of the
Group's contributions during the year. Total contributions made by
the Group for the year amounted to $20 million (2010: $19 million)
and forfeited sums credited to reserves amounted to $0.6 million
(2010: $0.4 million).

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income, up
to a limit of $20,000. The Group’s contributions will be fully and
immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as their accrued
benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions made by the Group
for the year amounted to $3 million (2010: $3 million).

As the Group's provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”), eligibility
for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is identical. New
employees are offered a one-off option to join either the ORSO or
the MPF scheme.
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28 EEE%U“

(a) BHEEFR ®)
RAARERBEAMKEEL 2K B R
A BEEE B E T BT T & 2
BRREAFTE ([FRERAKERE S
Z KB o % EHE R E A 7 AT A
BEoW—BF NEEEBZIHEBZ
REEBEDLE - APBERAKEFFSIED
HAUMMERBEREFNES - MAEEH
MBAFRFAEZEFEAHMAE A F 2
FrB R & i AR R 2 B B Z RIKE T
B ZSEPHABHBRRIRAAREE
NEL 2 HRBEA—TFTNEBETL (=
T—ZEF: —F=A&T) °

(b) BROBHEEF

b /N |
RAABIR_EETF+—HAZ+WAK
MR BARERT &l o WETBIREARRRE
ER([EFR)) MEREAL (BEX
EEAEAARZEERES) BTKR
MERRBEARBZRD  (EARSY
REBERZEEIREE - DT
FEHEERNETROBERRE
WHEARGEE REFEERNZ
WMEBLEER TR AMEXAZFY
WMEB=BEFPz&=E AIEMREL
HEREENZRE  BEH - 17EH
REHEEANRERND CHBEYIHES
BRE T 2 RERE o b S8R H R4 H
HBTFRBER  WERZZT—TF
+—AZ+=HEm-

28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Retirement benefits (Continued)

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in mainland China,
are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “Mainland RB
Scheme”) operated by the local municipal government in mainland
China. The only obligation of the subsidiaries in mainland China

is to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to Mainland

RB Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in mainland China undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees

of subsidiaries in mainland China. Total contributions made by
subsidiaries in mainland China for the year amounted to $18 million
(2010: $13 million).

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on 24
November 2000, whereby the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Company is authorized to grant options to selected participants,
including employees and directors of any company in the Group, to
subscribe for shares of the Company as incentives or rewards for
their contributions to the Group. The exercise price of the options

is determined by the Board at the time of grant, and shall be the
highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price of the
shares at the date of grant and the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date

of grant. The period open for acceptance of the option and amount
payable thereon, the vesting period, the exercisable period and the
number of shares subject to each option are determined by the
Board at the time of grant. The scheme has remained in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on its adoption date and has expired
on 23 November 2010.
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28 EEE%U“
(b) ROEHEER &
g1 EB R A a
KARIMB AR ERMEGR AR ([E
BEE]) RZTT=-_F+—H=+=H
IRt BAtEET &l - LAt B EAR R T
EER(ESER]) AEREAL (B
BASEENERARIZEERES) K
TROBERBARARR ZKRG - ERK
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

Hang Lung Properties Limited

The Company's subsidiary, Hang Lung Properties Limited (“HLP")
has a share option scheme which was adopted on 22 November
2002, whereby the Board of HLP is authorized to grant options

to selected participants, including employees and directors of

any company in the HLP group, to subscribe for shares of HLP

as incentives or rewards for their contributions to HLP group. The
exercise price of the options is determined by the Board of HLP
at the time of grant, and shall be the highest of the nominal value
of the shares, the closing price of the shares at the date of grant
and the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant. The period open for
acceptance of the option and amount payable thereon, the vesting
period, the exercisable period and the number of shares subject to
each option are determined by the Board of HLP at the time of grant.
The scheme remains in force for a period of 10 years commencing
on its adoption date and will expire on 21 November 2012.

The movements of share options of the Company during the year
are as follows:

M th EAtEEL B
Number of share options
RZZ—TF RZZ——%F ipHag  170RE
+H-H B8/ ~NA=TH 28 (Bn)
AT BAM AR T(E Period during ~ Exercise
Bt B8 Outstanding on BRH BiTf#  Forfeited/  Outstanding on which options price
Date granted 1 July 2010 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 30 June 2011 are exercisable (HKS)
—TZ-F+t°AtR 120,000 - (120,000 - - ZEZ-HF+-RtHE 6.83
7 December 2001 —E—5+ZAKA
7 December 2002 to
6 December 2011
“ZENFERA=TH 10,865,000 - (4,715,000 - 6,150,000 —ZETRFHAA_THE 9.45
20 May 2004 “Z-WERATIAB
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014
—TTRET-A-R 77,000 - (77,000) - -  ZEER¥t+-A-BZE 14.70
1 November 2005 “E-RFTA=+—H
1 November 2006 to
31 October 2015
ZEENET—AZTH 11,400,000 - (4,200,000 = 7200000 —TE+F+—HZTHZE 20.52
20 November 2006 2 RFt-ATNE
20 November 2007 to
19 November 2016
485t Total 22,462,000 - (9,112,000) - 13,350,000
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

All the above options may vest after one to five years of the grant
date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of the date of
grant, after which they will lapse. No options were cancelled during
the year.

(i)

Movements in the number of share options of the Company
outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices
are as follows:

2011 2010
InEF I
1I{EE 1T1EE
(BT) (L)
Weighted Weighted
average ) average B
exercise HikEE B exercise HRRESE
price Number of price  Number of
(HKS$) options (HKS) options
REA—BEAREITE Outstanding at 1 July 15.07 22,462,000 13.51 27,357,000
BiT{E Exercised 1456  (9,112,000) 6.35  (4,895,000)
RS A=+ B AREITE Outstanding at 30 June 15.42 13,350,000 15.07 22,462,000
RNA=+HBAF11fE Exercisable at 30 June 15.42 13,350,000 13.68 19,430,000

(ii)

REREEBITE 2B BREERER
HRRETTE H HA 2 B A0 A 5 U T
EBREMN+RITEAE (ZF—
ZF: =+ HEBNWN) - AR
AEFAEHEEEFHEARNLLE
TTERAD HAE -

RERTTEZ R BRTEE A2
P FH92 (B A 00 15 = APl
—2-FFE = HATA) 0

REEHRAREITEZRDEE
MEFH RSO AN —F
(ZE—ZFF : AB=F) -

(ii)

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The weighted average closing prices of the shares immediately
before the dates of exercise by the employees during the year
was $46.44 (2010: $37.59). No directors exercised their options
during the period of their employment as directors of the
Company.

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise for
share options during the year was $46.34 (2010: $38.10).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the reporting date was 4.2 years (2010: 5.2
years).
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28 EEE%U (&) 28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) BROBEEF 5 (b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
FREEMERMDBAE 2 ZEHN The movements of share options of HLP during the year are as
Nk follows:
R HESE
Number of share options
S RoT——f i e
+A—H iRk, ANA=TH 28 (Br)
AR TR BAMK AR TR Period during ~ Exercise
=k Outstanding on B Bi7ff  Forfeited/  Outstanding on which options price
Date granted 1 July 2010 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 30 June 2011 are exercisable (HKS)
“TEMERA-TH 9,395,000 - (1,793,500) = 7,601,500 —“TERFRA-+HE 9.20
20 May 2004 “Z-MERATNA
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014
“ZTRENA-RE 806,000 - (306,000) - 500,000 “EEENA-HE  1140-
“ETRET—A-H “Z-hETHA=1—-H 12.35
1 September 2005 to 1 September 2006 to
1 November 2005 31 October 2015
ZEENFT—AfTmEE 23,134,000 - (12,050,000) = 11,084,000 —ZEZLF+—AFTMHAZE 16.75-
Sy RN =| “E—t5=A1+N\H 22.60
14 November 2006 to 14 November 2007 to
19 March 2007 18 March 2017
“TE+ELA=HZ 79,680,000 - (4,633,000) (13,427000) 61,620,000 “TEN\ELA=HZE 17.36 -
—ET\F+_A=1+—H - \&+-A=1H 2790
3 July 2007 to 3 July 2008 to
31 December 2008 30 December 2018
“EENFT—A=tHZE 25,650,000 - - (4,200,000) 21450000 =—ZT——F+—R=tHE 2646-
—T-TF A-H “Z-TFRA=1+—H 28.88
30 November 2009 to 30 November 2011 to
1 June 2010 31 May 2020
“E-TFELATNHEE — 47330,000 - (140,000) 47190000 =—Z——F+A-+AHE 3079-
—T—% A+=H —E-—%,A+=H 36.90
29 July 2010 to 29 July 2012 to
13 June 2011 12 June 2021
485t Total 138,665,000  47330,000 (18,782,500) (17767000) 149,445,500

bt A R EARE ] X R B AR
AA-ERFRREE YAIREEA
B+ FEm AR TE - R
REAS SRR o F A 8 ARt ERRE A
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All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant, after which they will lapse. No options were
cancelled during the year.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options of HLP outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:

201 2010

hntEE TEFS

1TfE(E 1B

(BT) (B7mL)

Weighted Weighted
average B average f& 15
exercise HAEZ B exercise HiEE B
price  Number of price. Number of
(HKS$) options (HKS) options
W+ B—HB B AEITE Outstanding at 1 July 15.84 138,665,000 18.30 127744,000
[k dunt Granted 3159 47330,000 26.51 25,650,000
217(E Exercised 1784 (18,782,500) 10.16  (13,519,000)
280 B K% Forfeited/Lapsed 21.83 (17,767,000) 20.32  (1,210,000)
RN A =1 B BREITE Outstanding at 30 June 24.28 149,445,500 15.84 138,665,000
RINA=Z+HAFIIE Exercisable at 30 June 18.05 33,472,500 16.22 30,161,400

BREERNEEE IR L A H
ZHAMKEHENF=+Tt— AR
WE2E=+A"Ax<BHENL (ZZT—-F
F:t+AETAARIE-++T
NA) e

RERARRESNELAESH
8 B 1T B RE HE ~ 15 5
#eBIE—T-—TFAA=THIL
FE  EBTEIRMDBEEEE
HAREATIE B H3 AT A9 hnAE SE g Uk T
BE-t+trxRA=I - RERE
BT 2 B in B E R A1 T {0
HH 2 giafE 2 b 2 hikE F W mh
EBAk=FTHmIThA=(I(=ZZT—
TF A mlEAZ) -

R PITE 2 D BT B2
1B 40 75 MOAE PR A = P
NAE (ZF—FE: — 5
N -

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

The closing prices of the shares of HLP immediately before
the date of grant range from $30.15 to $35.65 (2010: $25.95 to
$2760).

No share options of HLP were exercised by the directors in the
period of their employment as directors of the Company during
the year. The weighted average closing price of the shares of
HLP immediately before the date of exercise by the director
during the year ended 30 June 2010 was $27.53. The weighted
average closing prices of the shares of HLP immediately before
the dates of exercise by the employees during the year was
$34.93 (2010: $28.42).

The weighted average share price of HLP at the dates of
exercise for share options during the year was $34.87 (2010:
$2791).
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28 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

(iv)  The weighted average remaining contractual life of options
outstanding at the reporting date was 7.7 years (2010: 76
years).

(v)  The weighted average value per share option granted during
the year estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted was $10.10. The
weighted average assumptions used are as follows:

TEfE A

HLP

i AE 2 BB Share price at grant date $31.10
176 (E Exercise price $31.59
4 [ B 1) 2 Risk-free interest rate 1.5%
TEEHFER (FF) Expected life (in years) 6
TR Volatility 0.4
TEEREARAR B Expected dividend per share $0.71

REHRERRZEEZEE 2 KIE -
DEERFRLBEH—FABAREZ
BET DT RE - MBI KRB TIRIE S
Eﬂxgﬁﬁfzi B ATER RERA#H
RNHEGBFEREARE -

(i) BEARARREEMERTAAFR
BEMENES 2RO - K&
BEZET(V)(2)FT 8 2 Ak E & 5 ER
et RBE-_Z——F X A=
THIEFEHRZBBASZL /(E
)W

(a) BREmELE: =F8x (=
E-TF: =FT-—B_+8

JT)

(b) BRE#E%E4E: —_FTHBEET
Br (Z2—%TF : &)

© BfamsEs: —FAEAT
B (“F-FF: -TE=
+E7 - BEEBARER
AREEZEALENTE
)
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The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share
price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily share prices
over the one year immediately preceding the grant date. Expected
dividend per share is based on historical dividend. Changes in the
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

(vi) In respect of share options of the Company and HLP granted
to the directors of the Company and HLP the related charge/
(credit) recognized for the year ended 30 June 2011, estimated
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy in note 1(v)(2)
was as follows:

(@) Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $30.0 million (2010: $31.2 million);

(b)  Mr. Philip N.L. Chen, $25.5 million (2010: $Nil);

() Mr. William RY. Ko, $19.9 million (2010: $20.3 million,
including the charge of $79 million in relation to his
employment as director of the Company);
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HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

(d) Mr. H.C. Ho, $5.6 million, including the charge of $5.5
million in relation to his employment as director of the
Company;

(e) Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $28.7 million (2010: $29.7 million),
including the charge of $1.6 million (2010: $29.7 million) in
relation to his employment as director of the Company;

()~ Mr. Henry T.Y. Yiu, $7.8 million (2010: $3.4 million) in
relation to his employment as employee of the Group;
and

(@ Mr.Terry S. Ng, ($28.6) million, including adjustment to
reverse amounts of $30.8 million in relation to unvested
share options which are forfeited and a charge of $2.2
million in 2011 (2010: charge of $24.2 million), in relation to
his employment as director of the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has a 20% interest in a jointly controlled entity
which participated in the development of Package One of the
MTRC Tung Chung Station Development Project. At 30 June
2011, the Group advanced to this jointly controlled entity a total
of $673 million (2010: $740 million). All advances are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in notes 6 and 28(b).
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks arises in

the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group has policies

and practices approved by management as described below in

managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits with
banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest rate trend
and movements are closely monitored and, if appropriate, existing
borrowings will be replaced with new bank facilities when favourable
pricing opportunities arise. In addition, the Group established a
Medium Term Note programme which provides fixed interest rate
facilities to the Group and assists the Group to manage its interest
rate risk.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in notes 15, 18 and 21.

Based on the simulations performed at year end in relation to the
Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated that the
impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest rates from
the rates applicable at the year end date, with all other variables held
constant, would increase the Group's profit after taxation and total
equity by approximately $16 million (2010: $10 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not be
considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The analysis
assumes the following:

—  changes in market interest rates affect the interest income and
interest expenses of floating rate financial instruments and

bank borrowings; and

- all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.

EEEEERAR — T/ ——F4R



30 BIKEREEEEZERERK ® 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) REBESRAMR (b) Liquidity risk

AEEEEEEBETmEFEREAQRANE  The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity risk of

MBARZASIRES RREELRER - the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level. The objective

SEEMRHEEF AN RS RBE 2 s to ensure that an adequate amount of cash and committed bank

TRE  LENHE2EIES 2Fk - &K facilities are available to meet all funding requirements. Significant

EBEFEBATRAIRZIBEEEEMAEE  flexibility is maintained through diverse sources of committed credit

SEERE  LNEEREER 2#E  lines to respond to unforeseeable opportunities and events.

P&

BORMBRRALRE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—EMERN —ERFR

RmE —FR Between Between AENRE

Carrying FeEs Within 1 and 2 and Over

IABH BTt E in HKS million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years

BITER Bank loans 20,901 22,686 7,834 299 12,481 2,072
BRI E BAAIE Non-current finance lease

obligations 35 35 = 35 - -

JEBE R EMERF  Trade and other payables 3,709 3717 2,682 585 400 50

R-ZB——FXA=1+H At30June 2011 24,645 26,438 10,516 919 12,881 2,122

BOXMBRRALRE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
—EWMER —Z2RFR

REE —FR Between Between AFEUE

Carrying FeHS Within 1 and 2 and Over

IAB BTt E in HKS million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years

RITER Bank loans 10,790 11,251 3,311 6,594 1,075 271
R AR AAE Non-current finance lease

obligations 168 176 - 141 35 -

FERTERT R EAbfERTZ  Trade and other payables 3,483 3,500 2,526 566 272 136

NZE-—ZFA=1+H At30June 2010 14,441 14,927 5,837 7301 1,382 407
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables,

deposits and bonds held with reputable banks and financial

institutions.

It maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the

terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to the
payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay monthly
rents in respect of leased properties in advance. Except for sale of
properties developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral
over the receivables. Receivables are regularly reviewed and closely
monitored to minimize any associated credit risk.

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions. Surplus
cash is placed with reputable banks and financial institutions in
accordance with pre-determined limits based on credit ratings and
other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company as set out
in note 26, the Group does not provide any other guarantee which
would expose the Group or the Company to material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
Group's entities to which they related. The Group maintains certain
bank deposits denominated in United States dollars amounting to
US$189 million (2010: US$406 million). Given that Hong Kong dollars
are pegged to United States dollars, the resulting currency risk on
such deposits is considered insignificant.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued)
The Group also engaged in property development and investments
in mainland China through its local subsidiaries which net assets
are exposed to foreign currency risk. In addition, the Group holds
Renminbi deposits and bonds to meet its ongoing payment
obligations in relation to its development projects in mainland China
which is denominated in Renminbi. WWhere appropriate, the Group
seeks to minimize its exposure to currency in mainland China
through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group's profit and the Group’s equity attributable to
shareholders would be increased/decreased by $310 million (2010:
$210 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the reporting date and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

(e) Fair value

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are measured
using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
financial instruments which are categorized as level 1 defined in
accordance with HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between levels.

The fair values of held-to-maturity investments, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, cash and deposits with banks,
bank loans and provisions are considered to approximate their
carrying amounts.

Unlisted investments for which their fair values cannot be reliably
measured are stated at cost less impairment losses.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28(b) contains information about the assumptions and their risk

relating to fair value of share options granted. Other key sources of

estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties and investment
properties under development
The investment properties and investment properties under
development of the Group were revalued at reporting date by
independent professionally qualified valuers on a market value
basis. For the completed investment properties, the valuers have
valued such properties with reference to market evidence taking
into account the rental income of the properties. The assumptions
adopted are based on the market conditions existing at the reporting
date, with reference to current market sale prices for similar
properties in the same location and condition and the appropriate
capitalization rate. For the investment properties under development,
the valuers have valued such properties as if they were completed
in accordance with the relevant development plan allowing for any
future construction and other relevant costs required for completion
of the development, and where appropriate, by reference to the
comparable market sale and purchase transactions.

(b) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold properties
based on estimation of future selling price less costs to be incurred
in relation to the sale, with reference to the prevailing market data
and market survey reports available from independent property
valuers.

(c) Impairment of assets

The Group tests regularly whether goodwill and other assets

that have indefinite useful lives have suffered any impairment.
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount

is determined using fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use
calculations as appropriate. These calculations require the use of
estimates.
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31 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Income taxes

There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business

and judgment is required in determining the provision for income

taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from

the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact

the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the year in which such

determination is made.

(e) Recognition of deferred tax assets

The amount of the deferred tax assets included in the statement
of financial position of the Group is recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences and unused tax losses can be
utilized. The recognition of deferred tax assets requires the Group
to make judgments or based on the assessment of future financial
performance, the amount of future taxable profits and the timing of
when these will be realized.
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32 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has not early applied the following amendments, new
standards or interpretations which have been issued by the HKICPA
but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following amendments,

standards or interpretations will not result in substantial changes to

the Group's accounting policies.

REAT B sk AR F A
ZEETHIR AR

Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

HKFRSs (f&5T4%)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (#&&7])
HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKFRS 8 ({£5T4%)
HKFRS 8 (Amendments)

HKFRSs22010f&5T
Improvement to HKFRSs 2010

BAE A L1 5R

Related Party Disclosures

o
wE R

Operating Segments

—F—%—H—H
1 January 2011

—T——F—f—H
1 January 2011

—FT——%—A—H
1 January 2011

HKFRS 7 (&3] 7) SRMIA : K& —E——F+H—-H
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 July 2011
HKAS 27 (2011) B B R —E—=%—H—H
HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2013
HKAS 28 (2011) BERNRIREENEIER —=%—A—H
HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2013
HKFRS 9 SRTA —T—=%—H—H
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2013
HKFRS 10 e wmE =%—H—H
HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013
HKFRS 11 i E ek —F-=%—A—H
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013
HKFRS 12 H At AR s e FR —=%—H—H
HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013

33 EILREF
ERERFAHKAS 12 (&I55T) » BF L
UFEEFHEY - BEEBEE N2

34 BEMKEREK

E=ZRN-_T——FtA-t+thBRE
I FF A T BB T IR
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33 RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVES

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 12 (amended), certain
comparative figures have been restated. Further details of these
changes in accounting policy are disclosed in note 2.

34 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 July 2011.
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35 FEMBAFE 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

RZZE—FA=TH At 30 June 2011
BETRA EEaiinAve
(#1) SERTH NEIFTH K&,
Issued  HEZESL #EmESL Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by %7 Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Akihiro Company Limited 2 100 100 MEERENAE B8
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Antonis Limited* 10,000 49.1 - MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 49.1 - MEHE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 49.1 - MEERREE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
AP Properties Limited MEERREE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
[Al % 34 49.1 =
A shares
[B] & 6 49.1 =
‘B’ shares
AP Star Limited* 2 49.1 - BRI A BB
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 49.1 - MERE B8
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 49.1 - WERE a8
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 49.1 - MEMRE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 49.1 - MEERE aBE
Property development Hong Kong
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35 FEMBAT @)

35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BRTRA oA

(&7T) SEMH NG igs REE B

Issued  EZADLL EBRADL Place of

AT Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations

Bayliner Investment Ltd.* E 100 100 BRIRE ABERARAHS

US$1 Investment holding British Virgin

Islands

Believecity Limited* 2 100 - PBRERERESER BB

Investment holding & Hong Kong

securities trading

Bonna Estates Company Limited 1,000,000 49.1 - MRS e

Property leasing Hong Kong

EEMERBARAR" 4,000,000 491 - WEEE &t

Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

REEARAR* 2 491 - WEEE B

Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

Cititop Limited 2 49.1 - MEFREREE B

Property development Hong Kong

& leasing

Cokage Limited* 2 100 100 PRI E EB

Investment holding Hong Kong

BHERERAT PR & B

Country Bond Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] R 990 493 -

A shares
[BI AR 1 49.1 -
‘B’ share

BELERRAR 2 100 - PR E BB

Country First Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

BEPRERAR 5,000,000 54.9 - PRI E BB

Country Link Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

Crest Incorporated* 2ETT 100 = EREE EBEARRES

US$2 Investment holding British Virgin

Islands

Curicao Company Limited* 2 100 - BRI E B

Investment holding Hong Kong
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35 FEMERAE @ 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BERTRA oA

(&) SEMH NG igs REE B

Issued  BEZADLL BEADL Place of

AT Share Capital % Held by % Held by E ) Incorporation

Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity  and Operations

Dokay Limited* 2 491 - MERE BB

Property leasing Hong Kong

Dynamia Company Limited 2 100 100 WMEZENAE B8

Property development Hong Kong

& leasing

REEREBRAR ERIRE BB

Ease Smart Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A]R% 1 100 -

A share
[BI A% 1 49.1 -
‘B’ share

BBEEFRAR 2 491 - PR E BB

Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

BERERRAR 2 100 100 PR E BB

Ever Brilliant Investment Limited Investment holding Hong Kong

Folabs Limited* 2 100 - MEMRE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 49.1 - WEBE &

Property leasing Hong Kong

BEEBRAR* 2 49.1 = PERIRE e

Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong

BREZFARAR" 2 100 100 MERE BH

Glory View Properties Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

Gowily Limited 2 491 - MERE BB

Property leasing Hong Kong

Grand Centre Limited 4 49.1 - MERE e

Property leasing Hong Kong

Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 49.1 - BREAEELERER B

Apartment operating & Hong Kong

management
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35 FEHBAR &) 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BETRA i ToAs
(B7L) SEFAF NGl iEss St ik
Issued  BHANL  EZANL Place of
NG Share Capital % Heldby % Held by =75 Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity  and Operations
BREESEERAR PRI A 5
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] B 62,163,123 49.1 -
A shares
[BI A% 6,000,000 49.1 -
‘B shares
BEERAR AR 2 100 100 MERR Bt
Great Cheer Development Limited Property development Hong Kong
Hang Chui Company Limited 2 49.1 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Far Company Limited* 2 491 - ERIEE BB
Investment holding Hong Kong
BERARAA 200 49.1 - WERE 00
Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 49.1 - MEMRE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 49.1 - MEME B8
Property leasing Hong Kong
B (780 BRAA) 10,000 491 - ERRY 00
Hang Lung (Administration) Limited Management services Hong Kong
B (hE) BRAA 2 100 100 ERIRE 00
Hang Lung (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Bf& (Ki&E) ARAF] 1 49.1 - R E &t
Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BRMEARAT 2 100 100 PERIRE B
Hang Lung Enterprises Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
BEMBEEERAR 2 100 100 B &
Hang Lung Financial Services Limited Financial services Hong Kong
BEREFRAT* 2 100 100 PRI & &
Hang Lung Investments Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
B2 (OI#%) BRAA) 1 49.1 - R & B0
Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BETRA oA
(#7T) SEMH NG igs REE B
Issued  #EmANL E=mASL Place of
AT Share Capital % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity  and Operations
B (Fm) BRAA 1 49.1 - ERIRE EE
Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (%) BRAA 1 49.1 - PR E &t
Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 49.1 - MERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong
BREIRREBRAR" 10,000 491 - TiRRAER 0
Hang Lung Project Management Project management Hong Kong
Limited*
BEMEGRAR 4,471,814170 49.1 - BERIEE BB
Hang Lung Properties Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BEMEEERRAA* 100,000 491 - WEER 0
Hang Lung Property Management Property management Hong Kong
Limited*
BEMERERRAR* 2 49.1 - WERE 00
Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Property agencies Hong Kong
Limited*
Bfg (&) BRAF 2 49.1 - BRI E BB
Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (X2) BRAA 2 491 - PR & &
Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BESEREERAA 2 100 100 gy &
Hang Lung Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
1B (&) ARAR) 1 49.1 - PR E BB
Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Wise Company Limited* 200 100 100 MEHE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hantak Limited 2 100 100 PR & 0
Investment holding Hong Kong
Hebo Limited 2 100 100 MEER EH
Property development Hong Kong
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35 FEMERRE @ 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BETRA oA

(#7T) SEMH NG igs REE B

Issued  #EmANL E=mASL Place of

NG Share Capital % Heldby % Held by Ei Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity ~ and Operations
HL Enterprises Limited* 2 100 100 ERISE BE
Investment holding Hong Kong

BE%E (ELE) BRAR* 2 100 100 At Bt
HL Mortgage (HTG) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BE%ZIE (RRE) BRAR* 2 100 100 Bt ER
HL Mortgage (NH) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BERE (REXE) BRAR* 2 100 100 B EE
HL Mortgage (NP) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
BEE (&) BRAF 2 491 - R & 90
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Finance Limited E 49.1 - B ERERRES
US$1 Financial services British Virgin

Islands

BEMENKERERAR ARBIT 49.1 - B Bt
HLP Financial Services Limited RMB1 Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 49.1 - I E s
Property development Hong Kong

BEMEREBRAR 2 49.1 - B BB
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services Limited* 2 49.1 - RIS E B
Investment holding Hong Kong

Hoi Sang Limited* 2 49.1 - PR & &
Investment holding Hong Kong

Kindstock Limited* 2 100 - PR & 0
Investment holding Hong Kong

LHBRAR* 1,000,002 49.1 = MEERE BB
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
BHERERRAR 10,000 100 - PR A 0
Luckyson Investments Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
ETiRiE (FBR5e) ARAR* 20 89.7 - B &t
Lungsun Mortgage (PV) Limited* Financial services Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BHTRA SR
(&) SERTHE NGIiEss REE B
lssued  BHZESL EmESL Place of
NG| Share Capital % Heldby % Held by E Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Magic Modern International Limited* 1 49.1 - E% e
Advertising Hong Kong
Mansita Limited* 2 49.1 - WEHEE Eit
Property leasing Hong Kong
Modalton Limited 2 49.1 - MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Monafat Limited* 2 49.1 - MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
HEERAT 2 100 - WERE &
Nikco Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
BERERR AR 10,000 100 - WERE Bt
Ocean Time Investments Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
Ottringham Limited* 20 49.1 - MEHE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Palex Limited* 2 49.1 - MEHE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Paradot Limited* 2 100 100 WEERE BB
Property development Hong Kong
Pocaliton Limited 2 49.1 - MEHE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Promax Limited 2 89.7 - MEERE BB
Property development Hong Kong
BEFERAR 1,660,000 100 100 PERIRE 5
Prosperland Housing Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Purotat Limited* 2 100 100 R & 0
Investment holding Hong Kong
Rago Star Limited 2 49.1 = MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Rioloy Limited 2 49.1 - MERE i
Property leasing Hong Kong
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35 FENBAT @ 35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BRTRA o
(&) SEAF DRI S 3k
Issued  EmAAL  EBmEST Place of
AT Share Capital % Held by % Held by *i Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group  The Company Activity  and Operations
Ronhero Limited* 2 49.1 - WERE e
Property leasing Hong Kong
Scotat Limited 2 89.7 - IR E BB
Investment holding Hong Kong
HHXEXERAT 20 100 100 NEERIEE 00
Stanman Properties Limited Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
Stooket Limited 2 49.1 - MEHE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Style Giant Limited 2 89.7 - I ES BB
Property development Hong Kong
BRERBB AR 2 100 100 MEBE 0
Success Cosmos Development Property development Hong Kong
Limited*
Tegraton Limited 2 49.1 - MEHE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Topnic Limited 2 100 100 MERE &S
Property leasing Hong Kong
Velan Limited* 2 100 100 MEER B
Property development Hong Kong
BEMEZFARAR" 100,000 49.1 - WERE BB
Wiai Luen Investment Company, Property leasing Hong Kong
Limited*
Wililoy Limited* 2 49.1 - WEEE &t
Property leasing Hong Kong
Yangli Limited* 2 491 - WEBRE &t
Property leasing Hong Kong
RREXBBR AR 1,000 100 100 HERERERESEE &t
Yee Fly Investment Limited* Investment holding & Hong Kong

securities trading

Zarat Limited* 2 49.1 - WEBRE &
Property leasing Hong Kong
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35 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

F2a 11174V
SERTHE NGl is: REZ B
HE RN B 2 BEAN BRAN Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprises in HBEAR % Held by % Held by £ Incorporation
mainland China Registered Capital The Group  The Company Activity and Operations
RN EfEiERRAR AEK#2,031,877,3557T 491 - MEERE HEI A
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. RMB2,031,877.355 Property development Mainland China
FEBEMERRAR 401,500,000%7T 49.1 - IE REAH
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$401,500,000 Property development Mainland China
WREEMERR AT 340,000,000% 7T 49.1 - MEBR REIAH
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$340,000,000 Property development Mainland China
B ERMEGRAR 349,990,000 7T 49.1 = MEFREREE HEIA
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$349,990,000 Property development Mainland China
& leasing
REERMEGRAR 1,650,000,0007% 7T 49.1 = MEERE FEIAH
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,650,000,000 Property development Mainland China
mERNEGRAR 2,282,350,00077T 49.1 = MEEE FEIAH
\Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$2,282,350,000 Property development Mainland China
EHBEHERRAF 509,000,000/ 7T 49.1 - MEBRE RN
\Wuxi Hang Ying Properties Ltd. HK$509,000,000 Property development Mainland China
s F2a 11174V
AR EEFE DR JrEESt
(X)  BE@sh  EREHL Place of
FERFIIEEDE Registered Capital % Heldby % Held by E) Incorporation
Equity Joint Venture in mainland China (US$) The Group  The Company Activity ~ and Operations
EBEHEMEREBRAR 167,004,736 489 = MEBRIHES I
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Property development ~ Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing
EBEREHERRAR 17,766,000 70 = MEER A
Shanghai Heng Cheng Real Estate Property development ~ Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd.
HEBERMERERRAT 165,000,000 516 - WEREBRNEE R
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Property development ~ Mainland China
Development Co., Ltd. & leasing

* FEESREMEBAER

* Not audited by KPMG

ERIHEZRRBA/UAKE iGN EE
EREATVEZTEWMBRF -

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group which in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the profit and assets of
the Group.
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36 FEGE QT 36 PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
RZE——FA="1H At 30 June 2011
~ e
EETRA SEAF NAIFFE S 3k
(BTL)  mxEst  BEESH Place of
NG| Issued Share Capital % Held by % Held by ES S Incorporation
Company (HKS) The Group  The Company Activity  and Operations
ARERBRAF 400 25 - WEEE 00
Daily Win Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
BEZE (KE) BRAR 2 50 - gy 00
Hang Hing Mortgage (TH) Limited Financial services Hong Kong
BEAFEARRAR 519,000 50 - RO IR &
Hang Lung-Hakuyosha Dry Cleaning Dry and laundry Hong Kong
Limited cleaning
Newfoundworld Finance Limited 100,000 20 - B B8
Financial services Hong Kong
Newfoundworld Holdings Limited 2,000,000 20 - PR E B8
Investment holding Hong Kong
Newfoundworld Investment Holdings 8 20 - BiRIEE RAEERRES
Limited Investment holding British Virgin
Islands
Newfoundworld Limited 2,000,000 20 - MEER EE
Property development Hong Kong
Pure Jade Limited 1,000 20 - MEERE N
Property development Hong Kong
ERERBRATA] 3 16 - nEHRE B
Star Play Development Limited Property leasing Hong Kong

FHAEWIREEReTMERAE  The above companies are not audited by KPMG.
*Z o

FERANHEERZAYAEE Y %F KR The above list gives the principal jointly controlled entities of the

BEAREAZE TEBLENT] o Group which in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
profit and assets of the Group.
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TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

WESEETE i HKS milion 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
5 5
(restated) (restated)
AEE (M) Total assets (Note 1) 155,367 126,512 98,676 93,489 76222 66508 58,704 52,004 46416 48,921
BEME Investment properties 94,003 88633 69958 66,136 52539 43753 39370 32227 28,658 28,461
FEYE Properties for sale

—BEK - Completed 5,089 5,086 6,954 6,805 9,706 10,215 10,757 7,078 542 284

—¥REH - Under development 905 800 760 43 41 - - 5018 10914 9,688
RBeRBITER Cash and deposits with banks 28274 11,852 9632 10,738 7,092 6,189 3,734 1,959 1,684 3,673
BERE (1) Total liabilities (Note 1) 35170 247167 19907 21,432 17,733 20,182 14,738 17,538 17,185 16,540
FITER Bank loans 20,901 10,790 9,966 9,040 8482 11,787 6,397 11,319 9,759 9,473
BEER Floating rate notes - - 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540 540
ABRES Convertible bonds - = = = = - - - 3414 3390
IRERER (M) Shareholders' equity (Note 1) 58,972 52973 40640 36,782 29,095 25013 22,839 18829 16,888 18,160
EEHE (B8R Net assets (including

FEEEp R ) non-controlling interests)

(FzE1) (Note 1) 120,197 102,345 78769 72,056 58490 46,326 43966 34,467 29,231 32,381
e Turnover 5714 12,580 469 10,553 4,778 4,200 7472 5,449 3,421 3,254
R E AR Net profit attributable to

(FtaE1) shareholders (Note 1) 3529 13139 2559 7516 4786 2833 4644 2544 387 692

’ EREH (MzF2) Underlying net profit (Note 2) 1,733 3,695 1,454 2,555 1,996 950 1,869 987 387 692
RE Dividends 1,025 1,017 941 941 813 739 725 637 584 582
SkER Per share data
&7 (1) Earnings (Note 1)

—EA - Basic $2.62 $9.83 $1.92 $5.64 $3.59 $2.13 $3.50 $1.92 $0.29 $0.52

- #E - Diluted $2.60 $9.71 $1.90 $5.56 $3.56 $2.11 $3.48 $1.91 $0.29 $0.62
HEAZF (M32)  Underlying earnings (Note 2)

—EA - Basic $1.29 $2.76 $1.09 $1.92 $1.50 $0.71 $1.41 $0.74 $0.29 $0.52

- BE - Diluted $1.28 $2.73 $1.08 $1.89 $1.48 $0.71 $1.40 $0.74 $0.29 $0.62
fRE Dividends

— A - Interim 19¢ 19¢ 16.5¢ 16.5¢ 14.5¢ 14.5¢ 14.5¢ 12¢ 12¢ 12¢

— R ~ Final 57¢ 57¢ 54¢ 54¢  46.5¢ 41¢ 40¢ 36¢ 32¢ 32¢

—ZtE ~Total for the year 76¢ 76¢ 70.5¢ 70.5¢ 61¢ 55.5¢ 54.5¢ 48¢ 44¢ 44¢
iR Shareholders' equity

GBSO (Notes 1 & 4) $437  $396  $305  $276  $218  $188  $172  $142  $127  $137
BEFMHE (R%E Net assets (including

JEiER) non-controlling interests)

(PEE1 R4) (Notes 1 & 4) $89.2  $764  $59.0  $540  $439  $348  $331  $260  $221  $245
BE=E (fE3) Gearing ratio (Note 3) 0% 0% 3% 0.4% 6% 14% 10% 24% 31% 25%
RELEE (MfzF1)  Pay-out ratio (Note 1) 29% 8% 37% 13% 17% 26% 16% 25%  151% 84%
EXNRELE Underlying pay-out ratio

(MzF2) (Note 2) 59% 28% 65% 37% 41% 78% 39% 65% 151% 84%
BRTRY Number of shares issued

(BBR) (in million) 1,348 1,339 1,334 1,334 1,334 1,332 1,328 1,328 1,325 1,324

B3 Notes:

1.

m‘$$”ﬁ%kihﬁHms1ﬂfﬁ$Nm
BIZHBE —T—TFER-_TTNAF2ABY
%E%ﬁ%ﬁ]?&o ZEE)N\FRUMZFELRE
3 -

RIBE AL EZEREREAR - bl 2 BEARL
- SREN LIRS EIGE MR IR E Y E KT
RPREMEZ A FEEHREFHEREHRER
SERERIER T E o

BER ﬁfy@fﬂlﬁiﬁiﬂxﬁéﬂﬂ/ﬂalﬁzttf FEIR
RIRITER - ATRRES FEERRKBERLD
AR - BRI S RIRITIFR o BRIE R & IE AR R A2
R FEPE IR i A o

;EK}EE’:\“EEP BzRREREs EEFEBRERTR

1

HANG LUNG GROUP LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010/11

Figures for 2010 and 2009 have been restated due to the early adoption of the amendments
to HKAS 12, Income taxes starting from the current year. For year 2008 and before, no
restatements are made.

To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the underlying net profit,
earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the effect of changes in

fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development and their
related deferred tax and non-controlling interests.

Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank loans,
convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits
with banks. Equity comprises shareholders' equity and non-controlling interests.

Based on shareholders' equity/net assets divided by number of shares issued on the
reporting date.
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LISTING INFORMATION

RZZ——F ;X A=+H At June 30, 2011

1,348,318,242 i F A& EIEE ¥ 1.007T
2N ERBHAR AR AR LT

1,348,318,242 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

% 134 5% Stock Code

EBHMER ST Hong Kong Stock Exchange 00010
fESsigan Reuters 0010.HK
EA] Bloomberg 10HK
BFEEEN (RMD) Board Lot Size (Share) 1,000

XEERRES
F—ARE (BEXS)

American Depositary Receipt
Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)

BEHBANG R 2R CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol 41043E102/HNLGY
TERERE HFH R < L& ADR: Underlying Share Ratio 1:5
FREiRT  MABERTT Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

AL Website: http://www.adrbnymellon.com
BREBFRERE Share Registrars

BERTREFECHERAR]
EREERABR-ANT=H
RV

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

E5k Tel: 2862 8628
BE: Fax: 2529 6087
B’EEBREE Investor Relations Contact

7 Al e C.F Kwan

BEEHAL Email address: ir@hanglung.com

& 47 & Bt SHARE INFORMATION

AR (E Price - (& Price -
HR R PR
&= =R Total Trading 55 =K Total Trading
High Low Volume High Low Volume
B BE R&ipErE (FAR) B B RinErE (FAR)
HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000) HK$ HK$ No. of Shares ('000)
2010 2009
% =7 Third quarter 51.75  40.90 59,120 | =% Third quarter 4150 31.85 62,497
$00Z Fourth quarter 54.50 46.75 52,068 | M= Fourth quarter  42.20  36.50 78,061
2011 2010
% —2= First quarter 5495  44.00 47,270 | Z5—7 First quarter 4295 32.85 74,368
=7 Second quarter  54.70  46.40 54,691 | =2 Second quarter ~ 43.60  35.20 54,568
R-B——ERA=+THZKRME : ##549.30 T R-B-BERA=THZRE : ##£42.30T
Share Price as at June 30, 2011: HK$49.30 Share Price as at June 30, 2010: HK$42.30
RZTB——&EXA=+HZHE: % 664.7187T RZZB-TE/A=+HZHE: 7% 566.5{5TC
Market Capitalization as at June 30,2011: HK$66.47 billion Market Capitalization as at June 30, 2010: HK$56.65 billion
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